This is an open access article published under a Creative Commons Attribution (CC-BY) License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the author and source are cited.

CHEMICAL REVIEWS • Cite This: Chem. Rev. 2018, 118, 7702–7743



Achieving Controlled Biomolecule–Biomaterial Conjugation

Christopher D. Spicer,*,[†][©] E. Thomas Pashuck,[‡][©] and Molly M. Stevens*,^{†,§}[©]

[†]Department of Medical Biochemistry and Biophysics, Karolinska Institutet, Scheeles Väg 2, Stockholm, Sweden

[‡]NJ Centre for Biomaterials, Rutgers University, 145 Bevier Road, Piscataway, New Jersey United States

[§]Department of Materials, Department of Bioengineering, and Institute of Biomedical Engineering, Imperial College London, Exhibition Road, London, United Kingdom

ABSTRACT: The conjugation of biomolecules can impart materials with the bioactivity necessary to modulate specific cell behaviors. While the biological roles of particular polypeptide, oligonucleotide, and glycan structures have been extensively reviewed, along with the influence of attachment on material structure and function, the key role played by the conjugation strategy in determining activity is often overlooked. In this review, we focus on the chemistry of biomolecule conjugation and provide a comprehensive overview of the key strategies for achieving controlled biomaterial functionalization. No universal method exists to provide optimal attachment, and here we will discuss both the relative advantages and disadvantages of each technique. In doing so, we highlight the importance of carefully considering the impact and suitability of a particular technique during biomaterial design.



CONTENTS

1. Introduction	7702
2. Layout of the Review	7704
3. Challenges in Selectivity	7704
4. Chemical Conjugation	7706
4.1. Amine Reactive	7706
4.1.1. Amide Formation	7707
4.1.2. Reductive Amination	7707
4.1.3. N-Terminal Modification	7708
4.2. Thiol Reactive	7708
4.2.1. Michael Addition	7709
4.2.2. Disulfide Formation	7711
4.2.3. Other Thiol Modifications	7711
4.3. Cycloaddition Reactions	7712
4.3.1. Copper-Catalyzed Azide–Alkyne Cyclo-	
additions (CuAAC)	7712
4.3.2. Strain-Promoted Azide–Alkyne Cyclo-	
additions (SPAAC)	7713
4.3.3. Inverse-Electron Demand Diels-Alder	
Reactions (IEDDA)	7713
4.3.4. Furan-Maleimide Diels-Alder Reactions	7714
4.4. Oxime and Hydrazone Formation	7714
5. Enzyme-Mediated Conjugation	7716
5.1. Transglutaminase and Factor XIII	7716
5.2. Peroxidase-Mediated Conjugation	7717
5.3. Other Enzymatic Methods	7718
6. Polymerizations of Low Molecular Weight Mono-	
mers	7718
7. Photoconjugation and Activation	7720
7.1. Photoacrylate Cross-Linking	7720
7.2. Photo Thiol-ene Reactions	7721

7.3. Photo Thiol–yne Reactions 8. Photocaging and Activation of Reactive Func-	7723
tionalities	7723
9. Noncovalent Systems	7725
9.1. Binding Sequences	7725
9.2. Self-Assembling Peptides	7725
9.3. Host–Guest Chemistry	7726
9.4. Biotin–(Strept)avidin	7726
9.5. Nucleic Acids	7727
10. Incorporating Reactive Handles	7727
11. Outlook	7728
Author Information	7729
Corresponding Authors	7729
ORCID	7729
Notes	7729
Biographies	7729
Acknowledgments	7729
References	7729

1. INTRODUCTION

The use of biomaterials to stimulate the repair, regrowth, or replacement of damaged biological tissue has emerged as a vital tool in the treatment and prevention of disease.¹⁻⁶ Biomaterial-based technologies typically take the form of cellular or acellular scaffolds for implantation in vivo, or alternatively platforms to support the in vitro growth of tissue for subsequent grafting.⁶ A key challenge in biomaterial design is the creation of structures able to mimic or supplement the

Received: April 19, 2018 Published: July 24, 2018





Figure 1. Key covalent methods by which biomolecule-material conjugation can be achieved. Each shall be discussed in detail during this review.

cues provided by the native extracellular matrix (ECM).^{7–9} By doing so, cellular growth, infiltration, differentiation, and signaling can be controlled in order to aid tissue development and generate a successful clinical outcome. The processing of scaffolds to recreate the physical or topological features of native tissue,^{8,10} the synthesis of polymers which mimic the chemical characteristics of ECM,^{11,12} and the incorporation of functional components which bind and manipulate minerals and biomolecules in vivo^{13,14} can all be used to direct cell behavior. However, the installation of motifs able to provide biochemical stimuli remains the most powerful means to influence growing tissue. The functionalization of scaffolds with active biomolecules is therefore of particular interest to generate effective materials for regenerative medicine.

Proteins and signaling peptides present within the extracellular environment play a vital role in determining and regulating a wide range of cellular behaviors. The tethering of peptides and proteins to a core structural component has therefore found widespread use as a method for endowing both synthetic and naturally derived materials with the bioactive properties required for successful clinical translation.^{15–17} Similarly, glycans within the extracellular environment are influential in controlling cellular processes, acting to mediate signaling, adhesion, and trafficking.^{18,19} To date, the formation of glyco-conjugates has been an underutilized tool in the field of biomaterial design. However, with rapidly improving appreciation of the importance of glycobiology and increasing progress in the synthesis of complex oligosaccharides, carbohydrate-functionalized materials are becoming more

prominent.^{20,21} Finally, the use of oligonucleotide-conjugates as a means to impart bioinstructive properties on a material has emerged as a significant area of research in recent years.^{22,23} While the natural roles of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) and ribonucleic acid (RNA) sequences are difficult to exploit when tethered in the extracellular environment, the structural and functional capabilities of non-natural and evolved sequences are increasingly being employed in biomaterial design. In particular, aptamer sequences able to bind strongly to a target of interest have been used as a means to control the deposition of regenerative proteins, recruit endogenous growth factors, and control cell-selective adhesion.^{24–26}

Biomolecule-material conjugates are able to play a diverse role in recreating the native extracellular niche, promoting cellular adhesion, providing degradable linkers for scaffold remodeling, controlling cell signaling for tissue growth or differentiation, or acting to sequester and provide structure to deposited matrix.^{27,28} The biological roles of polypeptide, glycan, and oligonucleotide conjugates and the influence of particular sequences and structures on biological behavior have been reviewed extensively.^{18,19,23,27–30} Similarly the choice of core scaffold material, topological and physical effects on cell behavior, and the influence of biomaterial degradability and plasticity are equally well documented.^{7,8,31–35} Although briefly covered here as an introduction to the field, the reader is therefore directed to these excellent and comprehensive reviews for further information.

In this review we will focus on the chemistry used to produce biomolecule-biomaterial conjugates (Figure 1). This



Figure 2. Major developments in biomaterial functionalization over the past 20 years. Many conjugation techniques have first been reported for the functionalization of proteins with small molecules, before later being translated to biomaterial derivatization.

important aspect of biomaterial design is often overlooked, despite playing a key role in influencing bioactivity and construct performance. There is no single optimal method for conjugation, and it is important to consider carefully the impact and suitability of a particular technique before embarking on the production of a functionalized device.¹⁷ Key factors including the site-selectivity of conjugation, efficiency and rate of reaction, orthogonality to other modifications, ability to provide biomolecule patterning, and accessibility of reaction partners must all be considered.³⁶ The concept of selective-conjugation will be a common theme throughout the discussion, particularly in the context of peptide and protein conjugation. It has been widely shown that favorable surface orientation is essential to maximize bioactivity.^{37–39} Modification strategies that are able to target a uniquely reactive amino acid are thus particularly powerful. $^{39-43}$

It is important that a particular conjugation method is carefully matched to the core material and end application, and what is best in one scenario may prove to be entirely inadequate for another. Here, we therefore aim to provide a comprehensive overview of the different reactions and conjugation techniques that may be utilized to tether polypeptides, glycans, and oligonucleotides to biomaterial scaffolds. We will focus on the advantages and disadvantages of each technique, including the selectivity and sequence specificity provided by each method and their ease of use. We envisage that this work will provide both a useful guide for those looking to enter the field, as well as a detailed resource for experienced researchers. By doing so, we hope to stimulate the design and production of new biomaterial systems with enhanced bioactivity and efficacy, as well as encouraging the use of new or overlooked conjugation techniques in the tissue engineering field which may overcome the shortcomings of existing methods.

2. LAYOUT OF THE REVIEW

This review will be split broadly into four sections: chemical-, enzymatic-, photo-, and noncovalent conjugations (Figure 1). Although all of the techniques discussed in this review could be considered "chemical" in nature, here we utilize the term more specifically to describe reactions that rely on the chemical reaction between the conjugation components to generate a covalent linkage, without the need for exogenous biological or physical stimuli (e.g., enzymes or light). Many of the techniques described take inspiration from more general reports in the absence of biomaterials or biomolecules. A timeline outlining these key developments, as well as their application for biomaterial functionalization over the last 20 years is provided in Figure 2. We will briefly discuss this key preceding literature, setting the scene for a detailed discussion of the uses and limitations of biomolecule conjugation strategies for biomaterial functionalization. Finally, we will summarize the key findings enabled by each technology where relevant. For more detailed discussions on the applications of the developed materials in the tissue engineering field, as well as the wider impact of particular modification strategies outside of this area, the reader will be directed to key reviews throughout. At the end of each section we provide a table summarizing the major pros and cons of each conjugation strategy, as well as details of selectivity and orthogonality to other methods (Tables 1-4).

3. CHALLENGES IN SELECTIVITY

Biomolecule functionalization strategies can be broadly split into two categories: those which target a specific site for modification and those which modify multiple groups indiscriminately. This idea of "site-selectivity" is a key concept in biomolecule conjugation which will be considered throughout this review. It plays a crucial role in determining biological activity, conjugation efficiency, ease of use, and device reproducibility.^{36,44,45} To demonstrate this, we can consider a hypothetical protein containing 10 surface-exposed

Chemical Reviews

Table 1. Advantages, Disadvantages, and Selectivity of the Chemical Conjugation Strategies Outlined in Sections 4 and 6

			-
conjugation strategy	advantages	disadvantages	selectivity
amide formation	ease of use	site-selectivity very low	selective for amines and carboxylic acids
	high reagent availability	side-reactions affect yield	
	requires no prior engineering	poor tolerance of water	
	robust and reliable	leads to heterogeneous products	
reductive amination	good chemo-selectivity	slow kinetics	selective for amines and aldehydes/ketones
	ease of use	site-selectivity very low	tolerant of other groups
	aldehydes often easily introduced into materials	aldehydes potentially toxic	
thiol Michael addition	rapid conjugation	potentially reversible	side-reactions with amines necessitates careful control
	tunable reaction kinetics	maleimides undergo hydrolysis	
	low occurrence of cysteine enhances selectivity	thiols often key for bioactivity	
	ease of introduction	disulfides form over time	
	robust protocols for use		
disulfide formation	ease of use	very slow	high selectivity for thiols
	easy to trigger cleavage	form mixed or homodisulfides	prone to formation of mixed or homodisulfides
CuAAC	high chemo-selectivity	copper potentially toxic	very high selectivity for azides and alkynes
	reactive groups absent from native biomolecules	azide/alkynes must be introduced into biomolecule	copper chelated by many functional groups
	functional groups readily accessible	high catalyst loadings often needed	activated alkynes prone to thiol—yne reaction
SPAAC	requires no added catalyst	alkynes hard to synthesize/expensive	generally high selectivity for azides and strained alkynes
	ease of use	alkynes are highly hydrophobic	cyclooctynes undergo side reaction with thiols
	kinetics can be tuned by alkyne structure	kinetics slow compared to IEDDA	
	reactive groups absent from native biomolecules	azide/alkynes must be introduced into biomolecule	
	very low toxicity		
IEDDA	very fast kinetics	some tetrazines unstable	high selectivity for strained alkenes and tetrazines
	reactive groups absent from native biomolecules	fastest alkenes difficult to access and hydrophobic	cyclooctenes can be isomerized by presence of thiols
	high selectivity	alkene/tetrazine must be introduced into biomolecule	
oxime/hydrazone formation	dynamic conjugation	low stability if reversibility not desired	equilibrium with imine formation is dominated by hydrazones/oximes.
	hydrazines and hydroxylamines absent from biomolecules	catalysts needed to boost kinetics	tolerant of other groups
	aldehydes often easily introduced	aldehydes potentially toxic	
		reactive groups must be introduced	
Free-radical	high tolerance of functional groups	deoxygenation necessary	tolerant of most functional groups
polymerization	widely used in biomaterial field	polymerizations and excess monomer often toxic	cross reactivity with Michael addition and IEDDA reactive handles
	allows conjugation during material formation	radicals damaging to biomolecules	
	excess reactive handles can be used for further conjugation		

lysines and a single cysteine. Methods to functionalize a material via these lysine residues are typically straightforward; however, they will also result in a heterogeneous mixture of at least 10 different protein orientations, before we begin to consider more complex scenarios in which multiple lysines are modified within a single protein. While some of these conformations might maintain activity, others may possess hindered or blocked active sites or deformed protein structures. The importance of favorable orientation and geometry following material tethering has been widely reported, particularly for protein and glycans, and is a crucial factor affecting biological efficacy.^{37–39,46,47}

In contrast, if we instead target the single cysteine via a siteselective reaction homogeneous constructs will be produced. If the site of modification tolerates alteration and is located in a way to expose the key active regions of the protein, then we can expect to maintain activity in a way that is unlikely to be achieved via nonselective strategies. However, it is important to note that the opposite can also prove true; if the cysteine is crucial to activity, our attempts to achieve selectivity may instead lead to drastic loss of activity. Selective modification strategies are therefore an important means through which to maximize device performance but require careful planning and design to implement.³⁶ Whether the increased complexity provides sufficient strategic benefit is something that must be considered on a case by case basis.

Difficulties in achieving selectivity originate from the limited diversity of chemical functionality that exists in native biomolecules. Methods exist to functionalize the amines, alcohols, and carboxylic acids that make up the bulk of functional groups in amino acids, monosaccharides, and nucleotides, but typically a large number of each reactive handle are present in any given biomolecule.⁴⁸ The rarity of the thiol side group of cysteine in polypeptides partially



Figure 3. EDC/NHS couplings are most commonly used to undertake amide couplings via a two-step process, first activating the carboxylic acid at pH 5, and subsequently undertaking conjugation at pH 8. However, the reaction is associated with side reactions which limit conjugation efficiency.

mitigates this problem but comes with its own limitations that will be discussed in section 4.2.⁴⁹ Three approaches are therefore primarily used by researchers to undertake site-selective bioconjugation:

- (i) Modification strategies that can select a single motif among many, rather than targeting a generic reactive handle. This is often determined by surrounding sequence, local environment, or subtle differences in reactivity. The ability of enzymes to modify a specific amino acid within a protein sequence or a glycan at a single position are particularly prominent examples and will be the focus of section 5. Reactions that display exquisite chemo-selectivity also fall within this category, such as those that target the unique reactivity of the protein N-terminus or the anomeric position of glycans.
- (ii) The site-specific incorporation of unnatural functionalities, by hijacking native biosynthetic pathways.⁵⁰ Developments over the past 20 years have led to technologies through which uniquely reactive residues can be selectively installed. Such systems will be described in more detail in section 10.
- (iii) The installation of unique reactivity via chemical synthesis. The complete or partial synthesis of peptides and oligonucleotides is widespread, particularly using solid-phase approaches. These techniques allow access to sequences of up to 100 amino acids or 200 nucleotides, with the ability to install a wide variety of functionalized monomers with precise positional control.^{22,51,52} Indeed, examples of oligonucleotide-material conjugation rely almost exclusively on chemically synthesized sequences. While the routine synthesis of glycan sequences in an analogous manner remains a pipedream, recent developments in glyco-chemistry are beginning to make solid-phase oligosaccharide synthesis a realistic prospect.^{53–55}

4. CHEMICAL CONJUGATION

Chemical conjugation techniques are the most widely studied and applied method for creating biomaterial-biomolecule conjugates. This is partly due to the ease and generality with which they can be undertaken, without the requirement for specialist techniques or equipment. Here, we will split the discussion by the key reactive handles or reaction mechanism involved. Many of the bioconjugation strategies were first developed within the context of protein-small molecule modification. The reader is directed to a number of excellent reviews on this topic, which forms the basis for much of the work to be described in this section.^{36,48,56–58}

4.1. Amine Reactive

Amine groups are widespread in native biomolecules, both on the side chain of lysine residues and at the N-terminus of polypeptides, and in amino-sugar glycan building blocks. Similarly, both 3'- and 5'-amino modification of oligonucleotides is common. As such, amines provide perhaps the simplest reactive handle for undertaking conjugation. This is reflected by the extensive literature on their use, a wealth of detailed protocols for their modification, and the widespread commercial availability of reagents and kits that allow conjugation with minimal difficulty.⁵⁹⁻⁶¹ However, the common occurrence of amines which makes them so attractive for achieving conjugation is also their most severe drawback: modification of amine residues is typically associated with low site selectivity and the generation of heterogeneous product isoforms, as discussed in section 3. For example, a typical protein will possess numerous surface exposed lysine residues, each of which will display similar reactivity. Efforts to modify amines therefore typically lead to biomaterial attachment at a variety of sites, with a mixture of valencies. This poor siteselectivity often leads to dramatic drops in bioactivity or function. This is true even for short peptide substrates, where competition between pendant lysines and the N-terminus can occur. As a result, both the stoichiometry and position of conjugation varies greatly during amine modification and is difficult to control.³⁶ Despite this major disadvantage, if only a single amine motif is present in a peptide or glycan sequence, or if the researcher is unconcerned about selectivity, amine modification may still be a viable method for conjugation. In a particularly exciting recent development, Matos et al. have



Figure 4. Imine formation is the rate-limiting step during reductive amination. Sodium borohydride is able to reduce the aldehydes which dominate and therefore fails to generate the desired conjugate. In contrast, sodium cyanoborohydride selectively reduces imines, leading to the formation of stable amine-conjugates.

demonstrated that careful tuning of reactivity and control of stoichiometry can lead to single lysine modification, even on challenging protein substrates.⁶²

4.1.1. Amide Formation. Amide formation is among the most widely studied and used transformations in synthetic chemistry. A vast range of coupling agents and carboxyl-activating species therefore exist for undertaking such reactions.⁶³ When focusing on the aqueous conditions often required for biomolecule conjugation the options are greatly reduced. A small number of key methods have therefore commonly been applied and will be discussed here.

The use of reactive N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) esters is particularly widespread. While NHS-esters can be preformed, often they are instead generated in situ through the use of N-(3-(dimethylamino)propyl)-N'-ethylcarbodiimide (EDC) coupling chemistry and coupled directly to the species of interest.^{60,64} Although formation of the activated NHS-ester is favored under mildly acidic conditions (pH \sim 5), subsequent amide coupling is accelerated at higher pHs at which the amine coupling partner is not protonated. One-step modification at an intermediate pH of ~6.5 is possible, but this method is characterized by low coupling efficiency.⁶⁵ Conjugation is therefore typically undertaken by first forming the active NHSester at pH 5, before raising the pH to ~ 8 and adding the amine coupling partner in a two-step procedure (Figure 3).⁶⁰ Selectivity for amines is generally high. Although side reactions with alcohols and thiols are known at basic pH, they occur at a greatly reduced rate and are outcompeted in the presence of amines. However, ester hydrolysis can be problematic in aqueous conditions due to the high effective concentration of water.66

Despite the widespread use of EDC/NHS coupling for biomolecule conjugation, a number of key limitations hinder utility. In addition to the pH dependency described above, side reactions are known to significantly reduce reaction conjugation efficiency, including rearrangement of intermediate EDC-esters to a stable and unreactive *N*-acylurea (Figure 3).^{67,68} Furthermore, the hydrophobicity of NHS-esters may limit water solubility. To overcome this problem, the more water-soluble derivative sulfo-NHS is often utilized as an alternative, offering a similar activation and coupling profile.^{67,69,70}

EDC/NHS amide coupling chemistry has been widely used in the biomaterial community despite these disadvantages, with a vast body of literature highlighting the ease with which such reactions can be applied to biomolecule conjugations. However, the limitations of amine targeted ligations noted above often make such reactions ill-suited to maximizing biological efficacy and construct performance.

It is important to note that peptide/protein conjugations are poorly compatible with the functionalization of common amine-containing scaffolds, such as collagen and chitosan, due to competing cross-linking and intramolecular reactions.^{71,72} In contrast, the oxidation of reducing oligo-saccharides to generate terminal carboxylates enables glycan functionalization of amino-scaffolds, albeit with concurrent loss of functionality from the terminal monosaccharide.^{73,74} Similarly, the ease with which terminal-amines can be introduced during oligonucleotide synthesis has led to a number of reports on EDC/NHSmediated biomaterial-aptamer functionalization.^{75,76}

A number of alternative coupling systems have been used for biomaterial functionalization, though they continue to suffer from the same limitations. These include the use of Onitrophenyl esters (which possess reduced stability in aqueous conditions)^{77,78} or 1,1'-carbonyldiimidazole (CDI) to form amine-bridging carbamate linkages rather than amides.^{79,80} Hydrazines can also be used in place of amines during EDC/ NHS mediated couplings.^{68,81} Although not as widely available or synthetically facile as the corresponding amine, the lower pK_a of hydrazines makes them less liable to protonation under the mildly acidic conditions used for ester activation. As a result, hydrazine-functionalized peptides can be coupled to biomaterials in a single step at pH 5-6. In doing so, a degree of site-selectivity can be achieved over lysine residues present. This approach has been successfully implemented by Madl and co-workers to conjugate reactive groups to alginate hydrogels, enabling indirect functionalization with growth factors and adhesion peptides.⁸¹

4.1.2. Reductive Amination. Amines can react reversibly with aldehydes to form a transient imine moiety, with accompanying elimination of water. This reaction takes place in rapid equilibrium, with the unconjugated starting materials being strongly favored in aqueous conditions due to the high concentration of water. However, in a second step the unstable imine can be irreversibly reduced to the corresponding amine via treatment with sodium cyanoborohydride. This mild reducing reagent enables the selective reduction of imines even in the presence of unreacted aldehydes (Figure 4, reaction ii).⁸² As a result, irreversible conjugation of a biomolecule can gradually occur to a biomaterial of interest. However, rates of reaction are often very sluggish due to the unfavorable formation of the intermediate imine in aqueous conditions.^{69,83–85} In contrast, stronger reducing agents such as sodium borohydride are also able to reduce aldehydes.



Figure 5. N-terminal specific conjugation can be used to functionalize 2-pyridinecarboxaldheyde (2PCA) hydrogels with native ECM proteins. Increased cell spreading is observed with increased scaffold functionalization with (a) collagen, (b) fibronectin, and (c) laminin. Adapted from ref 95. Copyright 2016 with permission from Elsevier.

Conjugation is therefore ineffective with alcohol formation dominating (Figure 4, reaction i).

This two-step reductive amination process can also be utilized for the modification of ketones. However, such reactions are rarely used for biomaterial conjugation due to even slower reaction kinetics and the ease with which aldehydes can be introduced into polysaccharide based scaffolds through the oxidation of primary alcohols.⁸⁶ Reductive amination has therefore been primarily used for the modification of sodium periodate-treated alginate and chitosan scaffolds, though care must be taken not to disrupt the physical and chemical properties of the core material through overoxidation.⁸⁶ The order of reactivity can also be reversed for the attachment of reducing sugars, by exploiting the terminal aldehyde/ketone generated in the open-chain form. This strategy has been commonly exploited to mimic the glucosylation and galactosylation patterns of native collagen in ECM, via reductive amination of maltose⁸⁷ and lactose⁸⁸ respectively, as well as more recently by Sgamboto et al. to install sialoside epitopes able to drive stem cell fate.⁹

4.1.3. N-Terminal Modification. Although amine modifications typically proceed with low site-selectivity, the N-terminus of polypeptides has subtly altered reactivity when compared to the side-chains of lysine residues and offers opportunities for selective conjugation. This unique reactivity results from the slightly lowered pK_a of the N-terminal amine, and the structural environment imparted by the adjacent amide group of the peptide backbone.⁴⁴ A number of methods for achieving site-selective N-terminal modification have been reported in the context of protein–small molecule conjugation.^{92–94} However, to the best of our knowledge, such methods have only been utilized on a single occasion to directly conjugate a polypeptide to a biomaterial scaffold. Lee et al. recently demonstrated that 2-pyridinecarboxaldehyde

modified acrylamide hydrogels could react specifically with the N-terminus of ECM proteins, forming a cyclic imidazolidinone product with the adjacent amide bond and enabling the orientated display of these key bioinstructive motifs (Figure 5).⁹⁵ Although imine formation with lysine residues is also possible, this reversible reaction is in thermodynamic equilibrium and the added stability afforded by formation of the imidazolidinone drives N-terminal specificity.

This method is highly attractive as a means to form biomaterial-conjugates, due to its ability to site-specifically conjugate any peptide or protein that possesses a solvent exposed free N-terminus. It is important to note that effective conjugation relies on an equilibrium-driven process, albeit one that favors product formation. The stability of the resultant construct is thus a vital consideration and merits further investigation.⁹³ If this potential shortcoming can be overcome, such reactions will be applicable to a wide range of commercially available, recombinant, or synthetic substrates and can be expected to find increasing utility in the near future. However, substrate scope may be partially limited by the extensive occurrence of natural N-terminal post-translational modifications in eukaryotic proteins.⁹⁶

Although the C-termini of proteins also have the potential for unique reactivity, the targeting of such groups remains challenging. A recent report of selective C-terminal decarboxylation by the MacMillan group highlights the possibility of targeting such residues in the future.⁹⁷ However, the poor functional group tolerance of this reaction is currently limiting. Further developments, able to offer exquisite chemo-selectivity over other carboxylic acids with only subtly shifted reactivity, would represent a major advance.

4.2. Thiol Reactive

The thiol group of cysteine is the most nucleophilic functional group found among the 20 proteinogenic amino acids.

Through careful control of pH, selective modification over other nucleophilic residues such as lysine can be readily achieved.⁴⁹ The redox sensitivity of thiols further diversifies the chemical modifications they may undergo. When coupled with the low natural occurrence of cysteine residues (<2%, typically lower among surface exposed residues) and the ease with which they can be engineered into recombinant proteins, thiol groups emerge as particularly attractive targets for undertaking site-selective polypeptide conjugation (see section 10 for a discussion on cysteine introduction).⁹⁸ A wide-range of powerful modification strategies have been developed for tethering thiol-containing peptides and proteins to biomaterial substrates, and such methods are among the most widely used in the field of tissue engineering.⁹⁹ Thiol modification of oligonucleotides has also been commonly used to enable derivatization, though the ease with which alternative reactive handles with enhanced chemical orthogonality can be installed has limited use for biomaterial-conjugation.

Despite the advantages noted above, the modification of thiols is not without its drawbacks. While it may at first seem counterintuitive, the rarity of cysteine in native proteins highlights their vital importance in controlling activity. Many cysteine residues are therefore found within enzymatic active sites or else form key structural disulfide bridges.¹⁰⁰ As a result, often wild-type cysteine residues are either not accessible for modification or at best can be altered only at the drawback of greatly decreased protein activity. Although additional thiols can be introduced onto the surface of proteins through the modification of lysine residues with Traut's reagent, the resultant conjugates suffer from the same lack of amineselectivity described above and thus possess low strategic value.⁶⁰ Even within short synthetic peptides, cysteine residues are often key to activity, while disulfide bridges are commonly used to induce cyclization and boost biological efficacy.¹⁰¹ This propensity of cysteine residues to oxidation can also prove problematic when precise modification stoichiometry is required, necessitating prior disulfide reduction before conjugation is undertaken.^{49,102}

4.2.1. Michael Addition. The conjugate addition of thiols to α,β -unsaturated carbonyls, also known as Michael addition, is perhaps the most widely used method to form polypeptide conjugates in the fields of tissue engineering, functional materials, and protein modification. A number of detailed reviews focusing solely on this reaction class have been published, and the reader is directed to these for a comprehensive overview of reaction mechanism, kinetics, reagent choice, and applications across a broad range of topics.^{103,104} Herein, we will focus on the key factors that determine conjugation efficiency in the context of biomaterial–biomolecule ligation.

The Michael addition of thiol groups proceeds in a highly specific manner under mild conditions, with almost quantitative conversion even in dilute solutions. Furthermore, the reactions are largely insensitive to the presence of water, oxygen, and salts, greatly facilitating their implementation in tissue engineering and biomaterial applications.¹⁰⁵

In general, reaction rates and conjugation efficiencies are primarily controlled by three factors:

(i) The pK_a of the thiol. The thiolate anion is the active nucleophile during Michael addition, and the propensity of the thiol to undergo deprotonation therefore determines thiolate concentration and thus reaction rates. For example, the lower pK_a of aromatic thiols, when compared to their aliphatic

counterparts, leads to a higher rate of reaction rate a weak base is used to catalyze the reaction (see below).^{103,106} As a result, local structure can significantly alter conjugation efficiency, particularly for polypeptide substrates. The pK_a and reactivity of cysteine containing peptides can be altered significantly through rational choice of surrounding amino acids. Specifically, the presence of positively charged amino acids, such as lysine and arginine, acts to lower the thiol pK_a and thus enhance reactivity. In contrast, aspartic or glutamic acid residues retard reaction.¹⁰⁷ Careful peptide design is therefore a key consideration when designing a biomaterial conjugation strategy.

(ii) The electrophilicity of the Michael-acceptor. In general, as the Michael-acceptor becomes more electron deficient it becomes more activated toward nucleophilic attack, and thus reaction rates increase. Within the most widely utilized acceptors in the biomaterial field, a trend of reactivity can be generalized as maleimides > vinyl sulfones > acrylates > acrylamides > methacrylates (Figure 6).¹⁰³ Each of these acceptor classes will be discussed in turn below.



Figure 6. The rate of thiol Michael addition is dependent on the electrophilicity of the acceptor. The more electron-deficient an alkene, the more susceptible it is to nucleophilic attack.

(iii) The choice of catalyst. Michael additions can be accelerated by either basic or nucleophilic catalysis (although both act by increasing the concentration of the active thiolate^{108,109}). During basic catalysis, the pK_a of the thiol becomes less significant for reaction rate with increasing base strength. As biomolecule conjugations are typically undertaken in buffered aqueous solution, it can be summarized that with increasing buffer pH reaction rates will also increase. However, it is important to note that above pH 8 competing amine Michael addition and thiol oxidation reactions may become significant, leading to a drop in conjugation efficiency and

Chemical Reviews

specificity which can be highly detrimental to the end application.^{110,111}

These complementary factors must all be carefully considered when preparing a biomolecule-material conjugate, with applicability often determined by the end function of the scaffold.^{112,113} For example, a rapid rate of reaction may be required when utilizing a peptide to induce hydrogelation, to minimize gel defects and ensure rapid gelation at the site of administration, or for the efficient attachment of proteins or oligonucleotides present at dilute concentrations.¹¹⁴⁻¹¹⁶ However, if reactivity is too high, off-target conjugation (particularly with amines) or inadequate mixing of reaction components may occur, which in turn leads to heterogeneous devices with poor performance.^{117,118}

4.2.1.1. Maleimides. Maleimides are the most widely used Michael-acceptors within the biomaterial community. The high reactivity of the maleimide group originates from a combination of the 2 electrophilic carbonyl groups, arranged in a reactive cis conformation, and the high bond strain induced by the unsaturated 5-membered ring.¹⁰⁵ As a result, thiol conjugation occurs rapidly even at neutral pH. The kinetics of the thiol-maleimide reaction are particularly useful for undertaking conjugation at low concentrations or when requiring extremely high efficiencies due to the value of the biomolecule substrate. Maleimides are therefore often seen as superior to alternative Michael-acceptors in many applications.¹¹⁵ The widespread use of maleimides is further enhanced by the ease with which they can be introduced into a wide range of scaffold materials, through the modification of amines with the difunctional reagent succinimidyl 4-(Nmaleimidomethyl)cyclohexane-1-carboxylate, more commonly referred to by its abbreviation SMCC. This reagent has been widely used to first introduce a maleimide reactive handle on a biomaterial of choice and then to enable the attachment of both peptides $^{119-123}$ and growth factors $^{124-128}$ to produce bioactive scaffolds. Importantly, although selectivity is high at neutral pH (the thiol-maleimide reaction rate is >1000 times faster than reaction with amines), because maleimides are so reactive the rates of side reactions are not inconsequential. At high amine or low thiol concentrations the contribution of undesired conjugations can become an important consideration. Furthermore, selectivity is lost under weakly basic conditions, and careful control of pH is therefore essential to prevent side-reaction at lysine residues.¹²

Although maleimides are generally perceived to form stable conjugates, following a simple Michael addition mechanism, many recent reports have highlighted the reversibility of thiol conjugation via a retro-Michael reaction (Figure 7).¹³¹⁻¹³³ In the absence of exogenous thiols, the effect of reversibility is negligible, with the biomaterial-conjugate being rapidly reformed. However, in many biological environments an excess of thiols exist, for example on cell surface proteins, or in the form of small molecule metabolites such as glutathione.^{134,135} Thiol-exchange can then result, through the equilibration of forward- and retro-Michael additions, leading to a gradual loss of conjugation and a drop in device performance. This situation is complicated further by the competitive formation of stable conjugates by ring-opening hydrolysis of maleimide-thiol adducts under basic conditions. Recent literature has exploited this side reaction and highlighted the ability of adjacent amines,^{136,137} ortho-amino aromatics,¹³⁸ and electron withdrawing phenyl groups¹³⁹ to accelerate the rate of hydrolysis, minimizing the effects of



Figure 7. Maleimide adducts can undergo retro-Michael addition and thiol-exchange in the presence of exogenous thiols. (a) Decrease in storage modulus of maleimide—thiol cross-linked hydrogels following incubation with different concentrations of glutathione (GSH); (b) increased hydrogel swelling as a result of decreased cross-linking density. Adapted from ref 130 with permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry.

retro-Michael addition and allowing the production of stable bioconjugates. Kalia et al. have further demonstrated that exocyclic maleimides are less prone to retro-addition.¹⁴⁰ Exploiting these recent developments for biomaterial function-alization may thus overcome some of the limitations of current maleimide modification strategies.

4.2.1.2. Vinyl Sulfones. The Michael addition of thiols to activated vinyl sulfones to form biomolecule-material conjugates was first reported by Lutolf and Hubbell (Figure 2).¹¹¹ In a series of papers, they demonstrated that cysteine capped peptides could cross-link vinyl-sulfone functionalized multiarm PEGs to form protease responsive hydrogels, enabling cell invasion during tissue growth.^{111,141-143} The vinyl sulfone double bond is less electrophilic than analogous maleimide substrates. Michael additions therefore occur at a slower rate, yet still proceed rapidly to high conjugation efficiencies sufficient for most applications. In contrast to maleimide adducts, the resultant thioether bond is resistant to hydrolysis and is therefore particularly attractive when

construct stability is key to device performance. Although cross-reactivity with amines and alcohols has been reported in the absence of suitable thiol nucleophiles, these side reactions are significantly slower than those observed with maleimides. Selectivity is therefore generally very high, particularly with careful control over reaction pH.^{144–146} Vinyl-sulfone additions have therefore been widely utilized for the conjugation of peptide^{147–150} and protein substrates^{144,151} to a variety of biomaterial scaffolds.

4.2.1.3. Acrylates, Acrylamides, and Methacrylates. Acrylates and methacrylates are versatile reactive handles which can be used to ligate biomolecules via a number of different reaction modes. As well as their propensity to undergo Michael addition, as described here, they may also undergo radical mediated polymerization, cross-linking, and cross-conjugation as discussed in sections 6 and 7.1. This diverse reactivity can in itself be problematic. Acrylate substrates in particular must be carefully stored cold and away from light to prevent unwanted polymerization.¹⁵²

Acrylates have been widely used as Michael acceptors for conjugation due to the ease with which they can be introduced into both material and biomolecule coupling partners.^{151,153–158} Although reaction rates are inferior to maleimides and vinyl sulfones they are fast enough for many applications, making acrylates an efficient, facile, and reasonably fast handle for undertaking conjugation. Indeed, the reactivity of acrylates remains high enough for side-reactions with amines to occur when reaction conditions are not carefully controlled.^{159,160} The lower electrophilicity of methacrylates provides higher thiol selectivity, though at the cost of drastically reduced reaction rates and efficiency.^{107,160,161}

For both acrylate and methacrylate handles, the presence of a hydrolytically labile ester linkage is an important and often overlooked factor. Although susceptibility to gradual cleavage may be advantageous in certain circumstances, often the loss of conjugated biomolecule is highly detrimental to device performance. While methacrylate hydrolysis is slower, cleavage can still occur quickly under physiological conditions.¹⁵¹ As an alternative, amide-linked acrylamides provide improved stability for biomaterial conjugation. However, this comes at the cost of a dramatic reduction in reactivity, with the reduced electrophilicity imparted by the amide bond leading to a further drop in reaction kinetics.¹⁵³

4.2.1.4. Thiol-yne. The most common examples of thiol-Michael additions occur at electron-deficient alkenes, so-called "thiol-ene" reactions. Although less commonly exploited, "thiol-yne" additions to activated alkynes, such as propiolic acid esters, have also been reported for biomaterial functionalization. Under weakly basic conditions a mixture of alkene isomers are generated following addition. Unlike the radical thiol-yne reactions to be discussed in section 7.3, these adducts do not typically undergo further conjugation and therefore form a monoaddition product.^{162–164} The nucleophilic thiol-yne reaction has been shown to be a cell-compatible method for hydrogel formation and peptide functionalization, although a degree of cross-reactivity with amines may still hinder complete selectivity.¹⁶³

4.2.2. Disulfide Formation. Thiols undergo spontaneous oxidation to form disulfide bonds under ambient conditions. This redox sensitivity is widely exploited in nature to induce and maintain protein and peptide stability. Although disulfide formation can be promoted by added oxidant and utilized as a

method for polypeptide conjugation, 128,165,166 spontaneous oxidation is typically slow and proceeds with low selectivity due to the formation of either mixed disulfides or homodimers.^{36,49} The use of disulfide exchange reactions is therefore favored for introducing peptides or proteins of interest. The most commonly used reagents in tissue engineering are based upon reactive pyridylthio-disulfides, which undergo rapid thiol-exchange to release the poorly nucleophilic and spectroscopically active 2-mercaptopyri-⁻¹⁷⁰ The resultant conjugation products are largely dine.¹⁶ stable under ambient conditions. However, due to the reversible nature of disulfide bond formation, cleavage can be controlled with temporal precision by the addition of reducing agents such as dithiothreitol (DTT) or glutathione.^{130,170,1} While this sensitivity to thiol exchange may be advantageous for certain applications, it can also prove problematic when irreversible modification is desired, particularly in vivo where native thiols can lower stability within the extracellular environment.109

4.2.3. Other Thiol Modifications. The unique nucleophilicity of thiols can be exploited for selective reaction with a number of alternative electrophiles, which, while less commonly used for biomaterial conjugation than Michael acceptors, still allow efficient and selective biomolecule attachment to be achieved. One such group are α halocarbonyls, with iodoacetamide based reagents finding particular utility.^{167,172} Higher thiol selectivity can be achieved using less electrophilic bromo and even chloro derivatives, though reactivity is also drastically reduced.⁴⁹ More recently, methylsulfonyl heteroaromatic derivatives have emerged as promising reagents for thiol-specific conjugation. These reagents rely on nucleophilic aromatic substitution to efficiently and selectively introduce stable thiol modifications under ambient conditions.¹⁷³ The group of del Campo have shown that these reagents can effectively functionalize hydrogels with both peptide and protein substrates.^{174,175}

There is much interest in the identification of alternative thiol-reactive handles, such as disulfide-bridging pyridazinediones,^{176,177} carbonylacrylic reagents,¹⁷⁸ and cyclopropenyl ketones¹⁷⁹. These reactive handles possess fast reaction kinetics, yet overcome the instability of maleimide derivatives. Though currently limited to the formation of small molecule conjugates, such developments are at the cutting edge of bioconjugation strategies. It is critical that further investigations are undertaken to comprehensively determine the thiol-selectivity of these motifs under diverse and challenging conditions, to enable future advances in biomaterial function-alization.

In a final example of thiol-reactive conjugation, native chemical ligation (NCL) can be utilized to attach peptides and proteins to biomaterial scaffolds via peptide bond formation. NCL relies on the reversibility of thioester formation, enabling the exchange of a reactive thioester present on one reacting species, with an N-terminal cysteine on the other.^{180–182} Due to the favorable steric arrangement of the resultant complex, a chemo- and regioselective *S*,*N*-acyl shift can occur, leading to peptide bond formation between the two reaction components. The application of NCL in the field of biomaterial conjugation is limited by difficulties in producing the thioester reaction partner, and the slow reaction kinetics which necessitate extended conjugation periods.¹⁸³ However, NCL has been successfully applied to the formation of peptide cross-

Chemical Reviews

linked hydrogels, via the reaction of cysteine end-caps with thioester functionalized hydrogel building blocks.^{183–185}

4.3. Cycloaddition Reactions

The past 20 years has seen an explosion in the popularity of cycloaddition reactions for undertaking selective, fast, and often mild biomolecule-material conjugation. Although many cycloadditions were first identified in the middle part of the 20th century, it is only more recently that a number of key developments have enabled their routine use in tissue engineering. During cycloaddition, two or more unsaturated molecules are brought together to form a cyclic product with a reduction in the degree of unsaturation (Figure 8). The reaction partners required are typically absent from natural systems, and so the use of cycloadditions for conjugation



- · Reversibility can lead to loss of function
- · High temperatures often required

Figure 8. Key advantages and limitations of cycloaddition reactions used for biomolecule-material conjugation. (a) Copper-catalyzed azide–alkyne cycloaddition (CuAAC); (b) strain-promoted azide– alkyne cycloaddition (SPAAC); (c) inverse-electron demand Diels–Alder reaction (IEDDA); and (d) furan-maleimide Diels–Alder reaction.

requires the introduction of unnatural functionality within the biomolecule coupling partner. This requirement may limit application and ease of implementation, though, as described in section 10, a wide range of methods for installing the required functional groups are now available and are routinely utilized in molecular biology and tissue engineering.

4.3.1. Copper-Catalyzed Azide-Alkyne Cycloadditions (CuAAC). The (3 + 2) cycloaddition between an azide and alkyne proceeds spontaneously at high temperatures (>90 °C), producing a mixture of two triazole isomers.¹⁸⁶ However, these high temperatures are prohibitive for most applications, and the thermally induced reaction has found little use. A major breakthrough was achieved in 2002, independently by the groups of Sharpless¹⁸⁷ and Meldal¹⁸⁸ with the demonstration that copper(I) catalysis could dramatically promote and accelerate triazole formation (in exclusively the 1,4-conformation). This reaction was found to proceed at room temperature, even in ambient, oxygenated, and aqueous environments. These mild reaction conditions, together with the relative inertness of azides and alkynes and their absence from biological systems, has led to the coppercatalyzed azide-alkyne cycloaddition (CuAAC, often referred to as the "copper-click" reaction, Figure 8a) finding widespread use across the biological, chemical, and material sciences.^{189–195}

Following on from the early work of the Hilborn¹⁹⁶ and Hawker¹⁹⁷ groups, Polizzotti et al. reported the formation of peptide–material conjugates by CuAAC, using alkyne-capped peptides to form hydrogels with azide-functionalized PEG (Figure 2).¹⁹⁸ Since this early work, the CuAAC has been widely used to functionalize scaffolds with alkyne and azide functionalized peptides and carbohydrates, in part due to the ease with which the amino acids azidolysine and homopropargylglycine can be introduced by solid-phase peptide synthesis.^{193,199–203}

To achieve biomaterial conjugation via CuAAC, the required copper(I) catalyst can either be added directly, or generated in situ by reduction of an initial copper(II) complex, most commonly using ascorbic acid. The addition of a reducing agent further reduces the sensitivity of the CuAAC ligation to oxygen, which may otherwise detrimentally oxidize copper(I) to an inactive copper(II) species. Although no additional ligand is necessary for triazole formation, the addition of tertiary amine based ligands has been shown to stabilize the copper(I) catalytic complex and to significantly improve reaction kinetics and efficiency. A wide range of ligand and catalyst combinations have been reported for undertaking CuAAC reactions and reviewed elsewhere.²⁰⁴ Importantly, the choice of a specific system is often dependent on the particular application in mind, and the interaction of the copper catalyst with the core scaffold structure, the ease of copper removal following conjugation, the concentration of the biomolecule partner, and the cost of catalyst-ligand systems must all be considered.

Azide and alkynes are generally stable under standard conditions, though a couple of important considerations should be taken into account when designing a CuAAC conjugation strategy. The alkyne reactive partner in particular is susceptible to side reactions. Perhaps most significantly, activated alkynes such as propiolic esters can react with thiols via thiol—yne addition, as described in section 4.2.1.4, making this substrate class poorly compatible with selective mod-ification.^{205,206} Similarly, propargyl esters and carbamates

should be avoided, due to their susceptibility to copper-catalyzed cleavage. $^{205}\,$

Despite the prevalence of CuAAC reactions in the biomedical field, the need for copper catalysis comes with severe drawbacks. The most prominent lies in the toxicity of residual metal, which is known to bind nonspecifically to peptide and protein substrates and is often difficult to remove.²⁰⁷⁻²¹⁰ Furthermore, it has been shown that copper may disrupt peptide and protein structure, leading to a loss of function following conjugation.²¹¹ The effects of copper are even more deleterious for oligonucleotide sequences, with the copper-induced generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) resulting in base modifications and backbone scission.¹⁵⁸ These problems are exacerbated by the need for high catalyst loadings to maintain conjugation efficiency, as a result of the high affinity of copper for both the triazole reaction product and many biologically relevant functional groups, effectively sequestering the active catalyst from the conjugation mixture.²⁰⁰ These limitations can be partially mitigated by ligands able to strongly stabilize the active copper(I) catalyst or chelate azides to enhance reaction rates,^{212–214} though copper induced damage to biomolecules is still problematic.²⁰⁹

Interestingly, the generation of active copper(I) via photoinitiated reduction of a copper(II) precursor has recently been reported by Adzima et al.²¹⁵ This allows the induction of CuAAC reactions with spatial and temporal control, with patterning of features as small as 5 μ m being reported. This resolution is dictated by the speed at which the catalyst is deactivated by oxygen and is increased by the aforementioned affinity of the copper for the triazole reaction product which significantly slows catalyst diffusion.^{215,216} Although the photoinitiated CuAAC has not yet been exploited for biomolecule conjugation, these early reports of spatial hydrogel patterning offer intriguing possibilities to do so in the near future.

4.3.2. Strain-Promoted Azide–Alkyne Cycloadditions (SPAAC). In 2004 the Bertozzi group published a seminal report on the use of strain, rather than metal catalysis, to promote the azide–alkyne cycloaddition (SPAAC, or often the "copper-free click reaction", Figure 8b).²¹⁷ Building upon the work of Wittig and Krebs in the 1960s,²¹⁸ they showed that highly strained cyclooctynes react readily with azides to form triazoles under physiological conditions, without the need for any added catalyst. Without the need for a transition metal species, the azide–alkyne cycloaddition is essentially nontoxic, with the high bioorthogonality of the reaction allowing it be applied to live cells and even inside animals.^{219–223}

Since the original reports on SPAAC using simple cyclooctynes, a series of increasingly strained, and thus increasingly reactive alkynes have been reported, with corresponding increases in reaction rates and efficiencies (from an original reaction rate $k \approx 0.002 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$, up to $k \approx 1 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ in the most recent incarnations).²²⁴ These moderate rates may prove high enough for efficient conjugation under standard conditions. However, even the most reactive cyclooctyne substrates may still result in low conjugation efficiencies at low concentrations of, for example, a biologically active protein.²²⁵ Furthermore, increased rates of reaction come at the cost of decreased stability and therefore increased chance of cross-reactivity. In particular, cyclooctynes have been shown to react at non-negligible levels with thiol groups, reducing the bioorthogonality of SPAAC reactions in the presence of cysteine containing proteins and peptides.^{221,226,227}

The low water-solubility of the cyclooctyne group may also prove problematic. In addition to the problems this creates in solubilizing the conjugation-partners and the decreased availability of the reactive handle, increased lipophilicity may also lead to increased nonspecific biomaterial binding and a loss of strategic value to pursuing site-selective conjugation.^{224,228–230} Finally, the accessibility and availability of SPAAC reagents must also be carefully considered. The laborious multistep synthetic routes required for cyclooctyne construction often rely on specialist techniques, which in turn prevent their widespread production in biomedical and tissue engineering laboratories.^{224,231} Although suitably functionalized derivatives are becoming increasingly commercially available, high costs partially limit their further application.

In spite of these disadvantages, the low toxicity and high selectivity under controlled conditions provided by SPAAC have made it a popular emerging method for conjugation. DeForest and Anseth were the first to demonstrate the use of SPAAC to cross-link PEG-azide based hydrogels, using cyclooctyne-functionalized, MMP-cleavable peptides (Figure 2).²³² A series of papers have subsequently developed this ³³⁻²³⁵ with biomaterial functionalization experimental setup,² in the presence of cells of particular note. In contrast to the analogous CuAAC modification strategy, little to no cellular toxicity has been reported in a variety of systems, even at high reagent concentrations.^{230,234,236,237} This cytocompatibility of SPAAC reactions is particularly attractive, as is the lack of ROS generation, enabling the efficient functionalization and crosslinking of hydrogels with complementary DNA strands.²³

In addition to the use of SPAAC for peptide conjugation, a number of prominent reports have used SPAAC to conjugate protein substrates to cyclooctyne functionalized biomaterials. Key to these reports is the introduction of an unnatural azide motif into the protein coupling partner. This has been achieved via a number of routes, including maleimide functionalization of native cysteines present in bone morphogenetic protein-2 (BMP-2),²³⁹ via enzyme-mediated N-terminal modification of IFN- γ ,²⁴⁰ or via codon reassignment with the unnatural amino acid 4-azidophenylalanine in a number of protein substrates,²²⁵ as discussed in section 10.

As an alternative to strain-promotion, the Francis group has recently reported that supramolecular host-guest interactions can also be used to promote azide-alkyne cycloaddition.²⁴¹ By bringing the two reactive partners into close proximity within the cavity of a cucurbit[6]uril host, efficient cycloaddition could be achieved on the surface of proteins. Although proximal tertiary amines were necessary on both the azide and alkyne coupling partner to promote formation of the necessary host-guest complex, such reactions offer the potential to overcome the limitations of both CuAAC and SPAAC noted above, and are of merit for further investigation in the field of biomaterial functionalization.

4.3.3. Inverse-Electron Demand Diels-Alder Reactions (IEDDA). In recent years, the inverse-electron demand Diels-Alder (IEDDA) reaction between 1,2,4,5-tetrazines and strained alkenes or alkynes has garnered significant interest (Figure 8c). IEDDA reactions offer high bioorthogonality and compatibility, along with very fast reaction rates.²⁴² Unlike standard Diels-Alder reactions, which often require elevated temperatures and utilize reactive groups which are susceptible to nucleophilic attack, IEDDA reactions proceed spontaneously to irreversibly release nitrogen gas and form a stable dihydropyridazine product. Through suitable choice of

reaction partners, kinetics can be tuned over 10 orders of magnitude up to impressive rates of $10^5 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ (the reader is directed to an excellent recent review by Mayer and Lang for a detailed description of the factors influencing IEDDA reactions).²⁴³

Although tetrazine stability decreases with increasing reactivity, a wide range of suitable derivatives for undertaking biomolecule conjugation have been reported. For example, 4-hydro-tetrazines have been shown to degrade rapidly in buffered solution over a matter of hours, limiting their utility for reproducible conjugation. However, 4-methyl-derivatization greatly improves stability, while maintaining sufficient reactivity for effective conjugation.²²⁸ Similarly, triazines have recently been shown to provide a compromise between high reactivity and effective conjugation.²⁴⁴

A variety of strained alkenes/alkynes are also suitable for IEDDA reactions. The most popular belong to a series of increasingly strained (and thus reactive) trans-cyclooctenes first introduced by the group of Fox.²⁴⁵⁻²⁴⁸ Although cyclooctenes offer the highest reactivity, as for the cyclooctynes utilized for SPAAC their synthetic and commercial accessibility partially hinders their application. Furthermore, their ability to undergo isomerization to the significantly less reactive cisalkene in the presence of thiols may prove limiting.²⁴⁹ In contrast, suitably functionalized norbornene derivatives are widely available and thus provide a facile handle for undertaking IEDDA reactions. Although reaction rates are greatly reduced (typically $1-10 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$),²⁴³ they remain high enough to undertake conjugation in most cases and compare favorably with those possible through CuAAC and SPAAC ligations.^{250–252} Recently developed spirohexene reactive handles offer a potential alternative, combining sufficient stability with fast reaction rates.²⁵³

IEDDA reactions have been implemented in a number of instances for the formation of functional materials. $^{162,243,254-257}$ However, despite its attractive features the use of IEDDA for biofunctionalization has to date been limited. In the most prominent example, Alge et al. used norbornene-functionalized peptides to induce hydrogelation of tetrazine-capped PEGs (Figure 2).²⁵⁸ In this case, the reactivity of the norbornene group was sufficiently high to allow rapid gelation, while still enabling thorough mixing and the minimization of gel defects. Furthermore, residual norbornene residues could be used for subsequent photoinduced thiol-ene reactions (see section 7.2), allowing further material derivatization and the incorporation of additional bioinstructive peptides and proteins. Importantly, Truong et al. have noted that the generation of nitrogen as a reaction sideproduct may be potentially detrimental to the use of IEDDA cycloadditions for hydrogel formation.¹⁶² Particularly in dense networks, this gas can be trapped, forming bubbles which act as gel defects and disrupting the desired homogeneity of ideal gels.

4.3.4. Furan-Maleimide Diels–Alder Reactions. The hetero-Diels–Alder cycloaddition of maleimides and furans proceeds with good chemo-selectivity and is greatly accelerated in aqueous conditions, lending itself to the formation of biomaterial conjugates.^{259–261} Although conjugation is possible at neutral pH, reaction rates are accelerated under slightly acidic conditions. Furan-maleimide additions have predominantly found use as a method to cross-link synthetic or natural polymers for the construction of core biomaterial scaffolds (Figure 8d).^{172,262–265} Examples of such reactions being used

for biomolecule conjugation are rare,^{266,267} in part due to the rapid and well-established reaction of maleimides with thiols, as described above in section 4.2.1. Diels–Alder conjugations are therefore not suitable for functionalization in the presence of thiolated biomolecules or materials.

The desired Diels-Alder process is in equilibrium with the corresponding reverse retro-Diels-Alder reaction, regenerating the starting maleimide and furan. High temperatures are typically required in order to shift the equilibrium in favor of the starting materials; however, at 37 °C the contribution of the retro-reaction is non-negligible. While in many cases this may be detrimental to the final outcome, it can also be exploited for applications in which controlled release is desired. Koehler et al. have described the coupling of furan-functionalized RGDS peptides to maleimide-functionalized PEGhydrogels.²⁶⁸ By controlling the ratio of free maleimides in the system, which act to effectively trap the furan-peptide by promoting the forward Diels-Alder reaction, the rate of peptide release could be tuned. Alternatively, the effects of the retro-Diels-Alder reaction can be mitigated by utilizing difunctional peptides for cross-linking.²⁶⁹ In such scenarios, although retro-reaction may still occur, the peptide is not released as it remains tethered at the other end, and the forward Diels-Alder reaction is allowed to proceed once again (Figure 9). It should be noted that the coupling of furans and maleimides can generate two stereoisomers, and thus a mixture of endo and exo products exists at ratios dependent on the precise structures and coupling conditions.²⁶⁰ Although the impact of this is rarely discussed in the context of biomaterial conjugation, it is known that endo isomers undergo retro-Diels-Alder reactions at a lower temperature than the analogous exo structure.²⁷⁰ In systems where reversibility is desired, this isomer-dependency is therefore an important design consideration.

4.4. Oxime and Hydrazone Formation

Aldehydes and ketones are absent from proteinogenic amino acids and typically only found at the open-form termini of reducing sugars. When combined with their propensity to react with a wide range of nucleophiles, this makes them attractive handles for undertaking polypeptide and glycan conjugation. As already described in section 4.1.2, aldehydes undergo reversible reactions with amines to form transient imines, which can then be trapped by reductive amination. However, under aqueous conditions hydrolysis by water dominates and the imine intermediate is highly disfavored and unstable. In contrast, the increased nucleophilicity of hydrazines and hydroxylamines allows them to form hydrazone and oxime bonds respectively, with greatly increased stability (Figure 10). These reactions are commonly used as a means to modify biomolecule substrates across the biological and physical sciences.²⁷¹

Hydrazines react to form hydrazone linkages readily under mildly acidic or neutral conditions, with elimination of water. Although hydrazone bonds are more stable than the analogous imine, with an equilibrium favoring product formation, they remain prone to hydrolysis and their formation is thus reversible.²⁷² While this may be damaging if conjugate stability is required, the dynamic nature of the hydrazone bond can also be exploited to create self-healing or degradable materials (Figure 11).^{69,273–275} Indeed, it has been shown that in vitro cytocompatibility and cell growth can be enhanced within structurally dynamic biomaterial scaffolds. The beneficial

Chemical Reviews





Figure 9. Furan-functionalized hyaluronic acid hydrogels can be cross-linked with a dimaleimide-functionalized peptide via Diels–Alder cycloaddition. MMP-cleavable peptides enable the migration of seeded breast cancer cells through the gel. Adapted with permission from ref 269. Copyright 2015 John Wiley and Sons.



Figure 10. Addition of amines to aldehydes to form imines is a reversible process, with equilibrium strongly favoring the starting materials in aqueous solution. In contrast, hydrazones and oximes are less susceptible to hydrolysis, providing the possibility for stable, but reversible conjugation.

plasticity imparted by these structures is believed to allow cells to manipulate and model their local environment.²⁷⁴



Figure 11. Reversibility of hydrazone formation enables materials to possess self-healing properties. (a and b) Dye-loaded, hydrazone cross-linked PEG-hydrogels are cut in half; (c-e) incubation for 7 h is able to merge two halves placed together via reformation of hydrazone linkages at the gel interface. Adapted with permission from ref 273. Copyright 2010 American Chemical Society.

The rate of hydrolysis is closely linked to hydrazone structure, and in particular basicity. Both bond formation and hydrolysis are promoted under mildly acidic conditions, following protonation of the imine nitrogen. Oommen et al. have demonstrated that hydrazino-ureas allow a greater than 15× increase in stability to be achieved under mildly acidic conditions, and with negligible hydrolysis at neutral pH as a result of the electron withdrawing urea motif.²⁷⁶ Similarly, equilibrium can be shifted strongly toward product formation, through the use of aliphatic rather than aromatic hydrazines.^{274,277} The rate of hydrolysis can therefore be tuned over several orders of magnitude, from minutes to months, depending on the desired application.²⁷² The stable attachment of peptides and DNA to biomaterials via hydrazone formation can be achieved via difunctional cross-linking. In such a scenario, even with reversible hydrolysis at one end of the biomolecule, the stable attachment at the other prevents release of the conjugate.^{278,279} However, as described below oximes often provide a more suitable linkage for such applications.

In contrast to hydrazones, oximes possess greatly improved hydrolytic stability with the reaction equilibrium lying far toward product formation (Figure 10). Even under acidic conditions which promote hydrolysis, stable constructs can be formed, although again stability is highly dependent on the exact structure and local environment.²⁷² As a result, oximes have been more commonly utilized for the formation of biomolecule-material conjugates. Esser-Kahn and Francis first reported the attachment of ketone or aldehyde modified green fluorescent protein (GFP)²⁸⁰ or metallothionein²⁸¹ to hydroxylamine-functionalized synthetic polymers (Figure 2). Protein cross-linked hydrogels were produced through oxime modification at both the protein N- and C-termini. Oxime formation has subsequently been utilized for the modification of hydroxylamine functionalized hydrogels with ketonemodified adhesion peptides,²⁸² the formation of cell supporting glycopolymer films,²⁸³ and the light-induced attachment of aldehyde-functionalized proteins to photocaged hydroxylamine gels²³⁵ (see section 8 for further details).

Despite these promising reports, the improved properties of oximes over hydrazones, and the precedent for oxime ligation in the field of site-selective protein modification,^{36,271} oxime formation has yet to be fully embraced by the biomaterial community as a means to undertake biomolecule conjugation. Instead, the field has primarily focused on the use of oximes to

enzyme class	advantages	disadvantages	selectivity
transglutaminases	broad substrate scope	promiscuity can limit site-selectivity	sequence selectivity dependent on isoform
	good availability		conjugation between lysines and glutamine residues
	tolerant of sequence substitution		often highly promiscuous with low selectivity
	can be used with a wide variety of protein substrates		
peroxidases	high availability	requires added hydrogen peroxide	oxidative conjugation between phenols, such as tyrosine
	broad substrate scope	low selectivity	sequence independent
	small molecule and synthetic mimics available		leads to thiol oxidation
	reaction rate easily tuned		
sortase	high sequence specificity	enzyme is expensive, limiting scale	N-terminal "LPXTG" tag to a C-terminal "GGG" tag
	efficient conjugation	"tag" must be introduced	very high specificity
	peptide "tag" is short and minimally disruptive		
SpyTag- SpyCatcher	inherently reactive peptide-protein pair	SpyCatcher is a large and potentially disruptive "tag"	very high specificity
	potential for orthogonal pairs	requires recombinant engineering of biomolecule	affinity can be tuned by structure alteration

Table 2. Advantages, Disadvantages, and Selectivity of the Enzymatic Conjugation Strategies Outlined in Section 5

form injectable, biocompatible, and mechanically tunable materials for biomedical applications.^{275,282,284}

In addition to the resultant stability and function of hydrazone/oxime linkages, a number of other key considerations should be taken into account during material design. Although the kinetics of hydrazone/oxime formation are often satisfactory for conjugation, in a dilute regime they may limit product formation. Dirksen and Dawson reported that the addition of a nucleophilic catalyst, such as aniline, can promote hydrazone/oxime formation via an intermediate aniline-imine. As a result, dramatic rate enhancements can be achieved in the range of $10-1000 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$.^{116,285,286} However, the high toxicity of aniline prevents the benefits of this adaptation being exploited during conjugation in the presence of cells. Finally, the potential toxicity of aldehyde reactive handles must be considered. The propensity of aldehydes to transiently form imines with amines present in biological systems may induce cell death, particularly at high concentrations.² Ketones offer an alternative reactive handle for both hydrazone and oxime formation in such scenarios. Although they are less electrophilic, and thus form adducts at a reduced rate, the lowered toxicity of ketones may prove beneficial for conjugation.282,28

5. ENZYME-MEDIATED CONJUGATION

Enzymatic methods for polypeptide conjugation have a number of key advantages that set them apart from their synthetic counterparts. Among these, the high sequence-specificity, the ease of introducing reactive sequences via mutagenesis, the mild conditions required for conjugation, the tolerance of complex biological milieu, and the lack of detrimental effects on other biomolecules and cells are of particular importance. Enzymatic-modification of carbohy-drates has typically been restricted to the extension, remodelling, or trimming of preinstalled oligosaccharides and thus falls outside the scope of this reviews. Readers are instead directed to comprehensive reviews on this topic.^{289–291} Similarly, examples of enzymatic oligonucleotide conjugation to biomaterial scaffolds are rare. In this section, we will

therefore focus on the key enzymes that have found use in peptide and protein material conjugation (see Table 2).

5.1. Transglutaminase and Factor XIII

The transglutaminase enzyme family catalyzes the formation of isopeptide bonds between the primary amine of lysine side chains and the amide bonds of a complementary glutamine residue. The resultant bonds are highly resistant to degradation and are used in nature to form cross-linked networks of insoluble protein. For example, the transglutaminase Factor XIII plays an important role in triggering the coagulation of blood.^{292,293} The substrate scopes of transglutaminases are often broad, although preferred conjugation sequences have been identified for specific enzymes based on their natural cross-linking partners.

The first example of transglutaminase-mediated hydrogel formation was reported by Sperinde et al. (Figure 2). Tissue transglutaminase (tTG) was used to induce the cross-linking of a glutaminamide terminated PEG and a random copolymer of lysine and phenylalanine residues.²⁹⁴ Although tTG favors hydrophobic residues proximal to the lysine coupling partner and the presence of glutamine repeats, it possesses low sequence specificity and will cross-link a wide range of lysine/ glutamine functionalized sequences.²⁹⁵ This high promiscuity limits the use of tTG for achieving site-specific conjugation. As a result, tTG has been most commonly utilized for the cross-linking of protein based materials.^{296,297}

In contrast to the promiscuity of tTG, the transglutaminase Factor XIII possesses improved sequence selectivity, though over 150 Factor XIII substrates have still been identified from natural cross-linking sites in human plasma alone.²⁹⁸ Schense and Hubbell demonstrated that Factor XIII could be used to conjugate RGD and DGEA peptides to fibrin matrices by appending native Factor XIII substrates prior to the bioactive sequence, imparting nonfibrin properties.²⁹⁹ Although peptide sequences functionalized with lysine reactive handles were found to be more tolerant of substitution, reversing the coupling partners and exploiting glutamine-containing substrates resulted in higher conjugation efficiencies and a higher density of bioactive sequence display.^{299,300} Since this initial work, the use of Factor XIII to functionalize materials with

Review



Figure 12. HRP/H₂O₂ treatment can lead to the formation of diphenol linkages between tyrosine containing peptides and phenol-capped synthetic polymers. In doing so, hydrogels bearing different levels of pendant RGD peptides can be produced. (a–d) Phase contrast microscopy images of seeded MC3T3-E1 cells at different RGD grafting densities; (e–h) live/dead assay, green, living cells and red, dead cells; (i–l) F-actin (red, phalloidin) and nuclei staining (blue, Hoechst 33258). Adapted from ref 317 with permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry.

both peptide^{149,300–302} and protein^{149,303,304} based substrates has become widespread, primarily due to the facile nature of conjugation and the ease with which coupling sequences can be incorporated into the polypeptide of choice. However, while Factor XIII may be more selective than many other transglutaminases, it is still able to catalyze the cross-linking of a diverse range of substrates. Although this may be advantageous in some scenarios, it may also limit selectivity and lead to problems with cross-reactivity.

5.2. Peroxidase-Mediated Conjugation

Peroxidases catalyze oxidation of their substrates, most commonly converting hydrogen peroxide to water in the process. Horse radish peroxidase (HRP) is the most widely utilized member of the peroxidase family, due to its ability to oxidize a wide range of organic substrates. In the presence of hydrogen peroxide, HRP can oxidize the phenol group of tyrosine, as well as other electron-rich aromatic groups, generating a highly reactive radical or quinone intermediate.³⁰⁵ Oxidised species then undergo spontaneous dimerization, resulting in the formation of an ortho carbon–carbon bond between two tyrosine residues.

During HRP-mediated conjugations the reaction kinetics and efficiency are highly dependent on the precise experimental conditions. Factors such as the enzyme and hydrogen peroxide concentration, reaction temperature, pH, and reagent structure can play a major role.³⁰⁶⁻³⁰⁸ Indeed, the flexibility this offers is a generally beneficial property of enzyme-mediated conjugations over their chemical counterparts. During HRP catalysis an increase in hydrogen peroxide concentration is typically associated with an increase in reaction rate. However, above a critical peroxide concentration enzyme inhibition begins to occur and a rapid drop-off in oxidation activity is observed. 309,310

HRP-mediated oxidation has been widely applied to crosslink protein based materials, as well to nonspecifically attach peptides and proteins to oxidation sensitive substrates.^{310–316} In contrast, there are relatively few reports on controlled HRPmediated conjugation. This is largely due to the need to exclude exposed tyrosine residues from the surface of the polypeptide of interest in order to ensure selectivity, as well as the susceptibility of cysteine residues to HRP-mediated oxidation. The Park group have reported the attachment of pendant tyrosine-capped peptides to phenol-functionalized tetronic and gelatin polymers in the presence of HRP and hydrogen peroxide (Figures 12 and 2).^{317,318} A similar strategy has been utilized by Menzies et al. to conjugate fibronectin derived peptides to PEG-based scaffolds.³¹⁹ In these reports, conjugation and scaffold cross-linking occur in parallel, with fast reaction kinetics.

Singh et al. have demonstrated that, even in the absence of added peroxide, the background auto-oxidation of thiol groups is able to generate sufficient stoichiometric concentrations of hydrogen peroxide to participate in HRP-mediated hydrogelation via disulfide formation.¹⁶⁵ While this mechanism of HRP action has not yet been utilized for peptide/protein conjugation, it offers intriguing possibilities for controlled disulfide formation, as described in section 4.2.2. Alternatively, the oxidizing enzyme laccase offers possibilities for peptide and protein conjugation in the absence of added peroxide, due to its ability to utilize atmospheric oxygen to undertake phenol oxidation, generating water as the only byproduct.³²⁰ Finally, a large number of reagents able to mimic the activity of HRP have been developed, which avoid the potential limitations of

Chemical Reviews

enzyme instability and environmental sensitivity. Many such systems exploit metal complexes able to oxidize organic substrates in the presence of hydrogen peroxide. For example, Kakinoki and Yamaoka recently demonstrated the use of copper-mediated tyrosine oxidation as a means to attach cell-adhesive peptides to polymers, via the formation of an intermediate reactive catechol motif.³²¹

5.3. Other Enzymatic Methods

Over the last 15 years a number of short peptide "tags" have been identified which are able to undergo efficient enzymatic modification with high sequence specificity. These "tags", as short as 5 amino acids long, can be appended to a peptide or protein substrate in order to allow their subsequent modification.³²² Despite the interest in using these powerful enzymatic strategies to undertake site-selective protein modification, particularly for cellular labeling, they have been more rarely used for the formation of peptide/proteinbiomaterial conjugates. In an early example, Mosiewicz et al. exploited the ability of phosphopatetheinyl transferases to conjugate coenzyme A (CoA)-functionalized molecules to carrier proteins to form peptide functionalized hydrogels.³²³ Although the carrier protein can be condensed down to a peptide "tag" as short as 11 amino acids, the authors instead used dimers of the full length protein to first cross-link CoAfunctionalized PEG. The hydrogels were then further derivatized using CoA-functionalized RGDS peptides. Although conjugation was found to be slow compared to alternative enzymatic methods for polypeptide conjugation, functionalized materials could be produced in a highly specific manner.

More recently, Cambria et al. reported the ligation of human epidermal growth factor (hEGF) to PEG hydrogels, via the action of the prokaryotic enzyme sortase (Figure 2).^{324,325} The five amino acid long sortase "tag" LPXTG was first introduced into the hydrogel structure via Michael addition, as discussed in section 4.2.1. Recombinantly expressed hEGF bearing the C-terminal GGG motif required for sortase-mediated ligation was then conjugated in the presence of an engineered sortase derivative with enhanced reaction kinetics.³²⁶ Gao et al. subsequently demonstrated that sortase could be used to functionalize stimuli-responsive microgels with recombinant proteins.³²⁷ Given the increasing prominence of sortasemediated protein modification and reports on the optimization of enzymatic activity and specificity, it is likely that such reactions will find increasing utility in biomaterial functionalization in the near future.^{328,329}

Despite these important demonstrations of peptide "tag" modification for biomaterial functionalization, a number of alternative prominent enzymatic modification systems have so far been largely overlooked by the biomaterials community, including biotin ligase (discussed in further detail in section 9.4),³³⁰ formylglycine-generating enzyme,³³¹ and lipoic acid ligase³³². This may be due in part to the large quantities of enzyme required for efficient biomaterial modification, in contrast to the small volumes required for traditional applications such as intracellular labeling or the formation of small molecule conjugates. This is particularly true when considering the high cost of many of the enzymes noted in this section, which severely limits the widespread application of such techniques.

The need to introduce the "tag" into a protein target prior to labeling may also prove limiting. However, in an exciting recent development, Weeks and Wells have demonstrated that mutant libraries of the peptide ligase subtiligase can be generated with specificity for a wide range of N-terminal dipeptide sequences. In doing so, the enzyme-mediated modification of native protein substrates will likely be enabled without the need for prior engineering, and it is anticipated that this work will have great impact on the biomaterial field in the coming years.³³³

Inherently reactive peptide sequences, which do not require enzymes to induce conjugation, are an attractive alternative to the systems described above. For example, peptides derived from naturally occurring isopeptide linkages found in Grampositive bacteria have been shown to spontaneously cross-link under mild conditions. The most prominent sequences are the SpyTag-SpyCatcher peptide pair, derived from the fibronectinbinding protein of Streptococcus pyogenes.^{334,335} Sun et al. demonstrated that this system could be used to cross-link and functionalize suitably derivatized elastin-like protein hydrogel networks with complementarily functionalized cytokines.³ Gao et al. subsequently reported the tethering of SpyTagmodified proteins to SpyCatcher-functionalized hydrogels.³ Recent developments identifying orthogonal SpyTag-Spy-Catcher pairs offer intriguing possibilities for the generation of multifunctional biomaterials.³³⁸

6. POLYMERIZATIONS OF LOW MOLECULAR WEIGHT MONOMERS

Polymerization can be classified as proceeding via one of two mechanisms, either chain-growth or step-growth. During chain-growth polymerization, monomers are added at the "active" end of a growing polymer chain, resulting in the formation of high molecular weight materials even at low conversions.³³⁹ In stark contrast, during step-growth polymerizations short oligomer chains couple to form polymeric species, requiring high conversions in order to reach high molecular weights. Both techniques can be used to form biomolecule–polymer conjugates, though the free radical-mediated chain-growth polymerization of vinyl monomers has been by far the most popular method. The polymerization of acrylate and methacrylate monomers has proven particularly fruitful and has found widespread utility throughout material science.^{340,341}

In this section we will focus on the key aspects that make chain-growth polymerizations suitable for the formation of biomolecule-material conjugates. In particular, we will discuss systems in which this is achieved through a monomer prefunctionalized with the biomolecule of choice, commonly referred to as a "grafting-through" approach.³⁴² This is in contrast to systems which rely on a biomolecule initiator ("grafting-from") or conjugation to a preformed polymer ("grafting-to"). For a discussion of these techniques, as well as a comprehensive overview of the field of free-radical polymerization, the reader is directed to a number of excellent reviews on these topics.^{342–347}

Among the most attractive features of free-radical polymerizations are their robustness, synthetic ease, and tolerance of water, as well as the diversity of functionalized monomers that can be utilized.³⁴¹ Acrylate and methacrylate modified peptides and glycans can be readily polymerized, representing one of the oldest methods to produce materials bearing a high density of pendant functionalities.^{199,348–351} Similarly, due to the widespread availability of the synthetic oligonucleotide phosphoramidite building block "Acrydite", free-radical poly-

strategy	advantages	disadvantages	selectivity
acrylate-cross-	versatile	requires high radical concentrations	thiols will also react with acrylates
linking	high functional group tolerance	highly damaging to biomolecules	
		acrylates can be toxic	
thiol-ene	greatly reduced radical concentration required	even low radical concentrations potentially damaging	alkene reactivity must be matched to thiol to prevent chain transfer
	stable radicals generated	thiols often key for bioactivity	
	rapid reaction kinetics		
	allows 1-photon and 2-photon patterning		
	low occurrence of cysteine enhances selectivity		
	ease of introduction		
thiol—yne	greatly reduced radical concentration required	even low radical concentrations potentially damaging	alkyne reactivity must be matched to thiol to prevent chain transfer
	stable radicals generated	thiols often key for bioactivity	
	more efficient than corresponding thiol–ene	slower than corresponding thiol—ene reactions	
	results in bis-addition		
	allows 1-photon and 2-photon patterning		
	low occurrence of cysteine enhances selectivity		
	ease of introduction		

Table 3. Advantages, Disadvantages, and Selectivity of the Photo-Conjugation Strategies Outlined in Section 7

merization remains one of the most common methods through which to form DNA and RNA functionalized biomaterials.^{76,352–356} By undertaking polymerization in the presence of a comonomer, the density of biomolecule presentation can be easily tuned, allowing potential difficulties from steric hindrance to be overcome.³⁴² Initiation of polymerization can be triggered by a number of means, including heat, UV and visible light (as discussed in section 7.1), redox reactions, and electrochemistry.³⁵⁷ Radical polymerizations have therefore been widely adopted by the field to produce functional biomaterials.^{199,339,349–351,358,359} Indeed, acrylate modified proteins can also undergo polymerization to produce functional materials, while retaining biological activity.^{360,361}

Although free-radical chain-growth polymerizations are attractive for the formation of biomolecule conjugates, a number of concerns with their use remain. Monomer toxicity can be limiting when polymerization is undertaken in the presence of cells. This is enhanced by the slow rate with which chain-growth polymerizations approach complete monomer conversion. Acrylates are particularly toxic, and as such methacrylate based monomers are often used in cellularised systems, albeit at the cost of reduced polymerization kinetics.³⁶² However, more significantly the intrinsic radical nature of the reactive species is in itself highly limiting. In addition to imparting high sensitivity to oxygen,³⁶³ the reactivity of the "active" chain-end can potentially damage proteins, DNA/RNA, and cells via chain transfer.³³⁹ Although damage can be partially mitigated in the presence of an excess of reactive monomer, the danger of unforeseen drops in conjugate activity still exist.

More recently "living" radical polymerizations (LRPs) have emerged as attractive alternatives to standard free-radical polymerizations. LRPs are controlled by a dynamic equilibrium between a dormant chain and the active radical, minimizing chain termination.³⁴⁶ The most commonly used LRPs for the formation of bioconjugates include atom-transfer radical polymerization (ATRP),^{364–367} reversible addition–fragmentation chain transfer (RAFT) polymerization, 365, 368, 369 and nitroxide-mediated polymerization (NMP)³⁷⁰. Toxicity resulting from residual catalysts and metals, or the products of RAFT agent cleavage, may be a potential drawback of LRP techniques but is offset by a greatly reduced active radical concentration. This not only limits potential biomolecule damage but also provides high control over molecular structure, material architecture, and biomolecule distribu-tion.^{46,342} Many exciting developments in the field of LRP are continuing to push forward our ability to synthesize polymer-bioconjugates. While many cutting-edge techniques are yet to find application for biomaterial functionalization, they provide exciting opportunities for future advances. Readers are directed to a number of excellent recent reviews which highlight the advantages provided by new LRP methodologies and their potential advantages over currently employed techniques in the biomaterial community.^{345,347,371-373} For example, recent reports on cytocompatible radical polymerizations using photoinduced electron transfer (PET)-RAFT polymerization and oxygen tolerant LRPs may overcome the limitations of traditional methods.^{373–37}

In contrast to chain-growth polymerizations, step-growth processes must reach high conversions to produce high molecular weight materials. As a consequence, high molecular weight "macromers" are often used to drive scaffold formation. Most commonly this is achieved via the "polymerization" of a suitably functionalized natural or synthetic macromer with a multifunctional complementary cross-linker.³³⁹ Many examples of such chemistries are discussed throughout the course of this review, in the context of chemical or photoinduced biomolecule conjugation techniques, and so will not be discussed here. However, it should be noted that polymer cross-linking reactions using radical or nucleophilic thiol—ene reactions, CuAAC reactions, or hydrazone/oxime formation as discussed above, all in effect proceed via a step-growth mechanism.



Figure 13. Conjugation mechanism of (a) photoacrylate cross-linking; (b) photo thiol-ene reaction; and (c) photo thiol-yne diaddition.

The step-growth polymerization of low-molecular weight monomers has been far less commonly utilized. One such system has been recently reported by the groups of Grubbs and Tirrell, using the ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) of peptide-functionalized strained norbornene monomers, to produce functionalized films that support cell growth and adhesion.³⁷⁶ Building upon the work of Maynard et al. in the early 2000s,^{377,378} efficient ruthenium catalysts were used to access high molecular weight polymers which could be subsequently cross-linked to form free-standing films. Although these reports demonstrate the utility of peptide monomers in producing functional biomaterials, they also highlight the inherent limitations of using step-growth polymerizations as a method for producing polypeptide conjugates.

7. PHOTOCONJUGATION AND ACTIVATION

The use of light to instigate conjugation chemistry has emerged over the last 25 years as a powerful technique in the biomaterial field. In particular, it offers the opportunity to control the spatial and temporal patterning and activity of biomolecules, as well as to manipulate the physical structure of a core scaffold.³⁷⁹ These photomediated techniques typically generate a reactive radical species or cause bond scission to generate a reactive intermediate which can subsequently undergo bond formation. Ultraviolet (UV) irradiation has long been used as an initiator for the polymerization and conjugation of vinyl based monomers and functional materials.³⁸⁰ However, recent trends toward less-cytotoxic visible-light initiation systems,³⁸¹ functionally selective conjugations which minimize biomolecule damage, ^{105,382} and twophoton excitation to allow precise 3D-patterning have revolutionized the field.³⁸³ Here, we will focus on the key light-mediated techniques that have been used for direct biomolecule-material conjugation (see Table 3). For a detailed overview of the use of photosystems for controlling material properties and prepatterning of reactive handles, as well as the key technological developments which have enabled the

impressive control offered by cutting-edge techniques, the reader is referred to a number of comprehensive reviews in the field.³⁸³⁻³⁸⁶

7.1. Photoacrylate Cross-Linking

In section 6 we discussed the free-radical polymerization of vinyl monomers, particularly acrylates and methacrylates bearing pendant biomolecules. Polymerization is initiated by the production of a radical species, which then propagates through bond formation to create an "active" polymer chain (Figure 13a). This key initiation step can be induced via a number of stimuli, with thermal decomposition, redox activation, and electrochemical ionization of an initiating species being among the most common.^{357,387} Alternatively, many initiators can be activated via light-induced photolytic bond breakage (type I) or photoactivated abstraction of protons from a co-initiator (type II).³⁸⁸ Photoinitiation offers the benefits of being applicable across a wide temperature range, using narrow and tunable activation wavelengths dependent on the initiator used, rapidly generating radicals, and the ability to control polymerization by removing the light source.^{357,389} Importantly, the tolerance of polymerizations to oxygen is greatly enhanced, enabling polymerization in the presence of cells and tissues.^{390,391} The incorporation of acrylate-functionalized peptides^{154,392–399} and proteins^{394,400-406} during photopolymerization has therefore been widely used as a method for producing biomaterial conjugates. Alternatively, the photoinitiated attachment of polypeptides to pendant vinyl groups on preformed materials has also been widely reported and more recently used for 3D patterning via two-photon excitation.^{121,398,403,407,408}

A wide range of photoinitiators have found use in photoacrylate conjugations. The ideal choice of initiator is dependent on a number of factors, including the activation wavelength, water solubility, and, perhaps most importantly in the context of this review, biocompatibility of activation. Many early reports of biomaterial formation and peptide functionalization focused on the use of Eosin Y^{154,390} and 2,2-dimethoxy-2-phenyl-acetophenone^{394,396,400} (commonly re-

ferred to by its trade name Igracure 651). In subsequent years, other initiators with improved cytocompatibility, such as Igracure D2959, have come to prominence.^{399,402,404,406,409} Most recently, initiators with increased water solubility, such as lithium phenyl-2,4,6-trimethylbenzoylphosphinate,⁴¹⁰ or visible light activatable systems such as riboflavin^{411,412} have become more common.

Although acrylate and methacrylate based systems are most prevalent, alternative activated alkenes can also undergo polymerization, with vinyl sulfones displaying particularly rapid cross-linking due to destabilization of the intermediate radical species during propagation. Day et al. recently showed that vinyl sulfone cross-linked hydrogels elicited a reduced immune response in vivo when compared to the equivalent acrylate-linked structure, though further investigation is essential to assess the generality of this observation.⁴¹³

Photoacrylate cross-linking has been widely used in the fields of biomaterials and tissue engineering due to its ease of use. However, such techniques are severely limited by the damage caused to proteins, oligonucleotides, and cells by a combination of UV light initiation, highly reactive acrylates, and the propagating radical species generated during conjugation. On its own, low wavelength UV light (<350 nm) can cause detrimental localized heating, protein degradation, and DNA/RNA scission. 414,415 When biomolecule-functionalized monomers are polymerized this problem is exacerbated by the need for long UV exposure times, in order to maintain the propagating radical species for long periods. Protein activity can also be lost following the light-independent modification of lysine residues by reactive acrylates via Michael addition.^{160,416} However, the most important limitation is the damage caused by radicals following initiator activation. As early as 2000, Bryant et al. highlighted the toxicity of a number of UV photoinitiators including Igracures I184, I907, I651, and D2959.⁴¹⁷ The authors hypothesized that the nature of the generated radical (methyl vs benzoyl) played an important role in determining the level of toxicity observed. Of the initiators investigated, Igracure D2959 was found to cause the lowest levels of damage. These results were supported by Williams et al., who also highlighted that different cell types have altered susceptibility to radical induced toxicity, with cells with high proliferation rates most significantly affected.⁴¹⁸ A number of subsequent papers have discussed the origins of the observed toxicity, with the persistence of radicals on growing polymer chains,⁴¹⁹ the generation of radicals following monomer consumption,⁴²⁰ and the difference in initiator hydrophobicity⁴²¹ all being used to explain differences between initiators.

In addition to the toxicity caused to cells, the generation and persistence of radicals is also highly detrimental to the activity of tethered peptides, proteins, and oligonucleotides during acellular biomaterial conjugation. Although there have been conflicting reports on the degree and nature of the damage caused, it is clear that even in cases where UV irradiation alone does not cause significant problems the generation of reactive radicals can be highly damaging.^{160,420–422} In particular, the generation of ROS as a result of the radical activation of triplet oxygen has been shown to lead to protein cleavage and a multitude of detrimental alterations to oligonucleotide structure and function.^{423–426} Although drops in protein activity can be partly mitigated by careful control of irradiation strength, duration of application, and initiator choice, even under such conditions the drop in bioactivity is still an important consideration. As a result, although acrylate-cross-

linking is still widely used in the biomedical community it is becoming increasingly unpopular for the conjugation of biomolecule substrates to biomaterial scaffolds. Instead, methods which require far lower radical concentrations, such as those discussed in the following sections, have become more favored.

7.2. Photo Thiol-ene Reactions

In section 4.2.1, we discussed the Michael addition of thiols to electron-deficient alkenes, so-called nucleophilic thiol-ene reactions. Thiols can also react with alkenes via a free-radical mechanism. A thiol radical first reacts with an alkene to generate a carbon-centered radical, which can then abstract a proton from another thiol and thus propagate the reaction (Figure 13b).⁴²⁷ This photo thiol-ene reaction offers several benefits over photoacrylate cross-linking methods, including rapid reaction kinetics, procedural simplicity and robustness, lowered risk of nonproductive side reactions, and importantly an even further reduced sensitivity to oxygen as a result of the increased stability of thiol radicals.⁴²⁴ This radical stability also leads to a significant reduction in the number of radicals which need to be generated for high conjugation efficiencies to be achieved, with a concomitant reduction in damage to the cells and biomolecules present.⁴²⁰ Many of the severe drawbacks of photo-cross-linking reactions are therefore largely mitigated, and photo thiol-ene reactions have emerged as the reaction of choice for photopatterned conjugation, particularly of peptides and proteins.^{105,130}

A major advantage of the photo thiol-ene reaction is its broad substrate scope. In order to achieve efficient conjugation, it is essential that the intermediate carbocation induces propagation by regenerating a thiol radical, rather than reacting with another "ene" to cause alkene-cross-linking and chain transfer.⁴²⁷ Alkene choice is therefore largely determined by the rate of conjugation, the ability to limit this damaging chain transfer process, and importantly synthetic accessibility. In contrast to their nucleophilic analogues, photo thiol-ene reactions are generally accelerated by electron-rich alkenes, which generate unstable carbon-radical intermediates able to rapidly abstract thiol-hydrogens. Exceptions to this rule are norbornene derivatives, in which reactivity is driven instead by the release of ring strain upon thiol addition. This leads to a general trend in reactivity of norbornene > vinyl ether > propenyl > allyl ether > acrylate > maleimide.⁴²⁸ Norbornenes and allyloxycarbonyls (alloc groups) have been particularly widely used for peptide/protein-biomaterial functionalization, due to the almost negligible contribution of chain transfer and their ease of introduction during peptide synthesis, respectively. In contrast to acrylate photo-cross-linking, the reactive handles utilized in both cases are essentially inert to protein or cellular substrates prior to irradiation, providing significantly improved specificity and temporal and spatial control.

In an early example, Polizzoti et al. demonstrated that the alloc group, typically used as an orthogonal lysine protecting group during solid-phase peptide synthesis, is an efficient photo thiol—ene reactive handle (Figure 14a). Alloc-function-alized PEG hydrogels could therefore be photopatterned with cysteine-capped RGDS peptides following irradiation in the presence of Igracure D2959.¹⁹⁸ Alloc groups have been predominantly utilized for the patterning of pendant peptides within PEG hydrogels, including through the use of visible light and highly water-soluble photoinitiators (Figure 15).^{232–234,429,430} In a series of papers, the Anseth group



Figure 14. (a) Alloc- and (b) norbornene-handles are most widely used for photo thiol—ene reactions and can be used to create 3D patterns of pendant fluorescently labeled peptides. Panel a is adapted with permission from ref 198. Copyright 2010 American Chemical Society. Panel b is adapted with permission from ref 117. Copyright 2009 John Wiley and Sons.



Figure 15. Two-photon activation can be used to induce photo thiol– ene reactions with precise 3D resolution. In doing so, intricate patterns of multiple fluorescently labeled peptides can be sequentially introduced into an alloc functionalized hydrogel. Scale bar = 100 μ m. Adapted by permission from Springer Nature: ref 234. Copyright 2011.

subsequently demonstrated the power of norbornene reactive handles for both the cross-linking and pendant functionalization of synthetic polymers with cysteine capped peptides, in the presence of Igracure D2959 (Figure 14b).^{117,258,431–435} Following these initial reports, a number of groups have gone on to demonstrate the use of norbornene photo thiol–ene

reactions for the tethering and spatial patterning of bioactive peptides and growth factor proteins. $^{436-440}_{\rm}$

In addition to the most commonly used alloc and norbornene reactive groups, other alkenes have also been used for biomaterial functionalization. For example, codon reassignment has been used to site-specifically incorporate allyl-cysteine residues into proteins, which can subsequently undergo conjugation through the use of photo thiol—ene reactions.⁴⁴¹ Alternatively, acrylates can undergo mixed-mode photopolymerizations in the presence of cysteine capped peptides, ^{442,443} while allyl disulfide structures have recently been shown to undergo reversible and controlled exchange of conjugated thiols.⁴⁴⁴

As discussed in section 7.1, the generation of radicals upon irradiation of photoinitiators can be highly detrimental to cell viability and biomolecule activity.^{417,418,421} Although the initiation of photo thiol–ene reactions proceeds via similar mechanisms to those used for photoacrylate cross-linking, it has been demonstrated that the damage caused is greatly reduced. This can be attributed to a number of factors. First and foremost, the rapid reaction kinetics and insensitivity to oxygen of photo thiol–ene reactions enables the use of greatly reduced irradiation times and initiator loadings. This in turn limits radical concentrations, the generation of ROS, and ultimately damage to cells, proteins, and oligonucleotides (Figure 16).^{420,424} Indeed, thiol–ene reactions are able to



Figure 16. Comparison of (a) lysozyme and (b) TGF- β ; bioactivity following UV-irradiation in the presence of either acrylate-crosslinking or thiol-ene photopolymerization reactive species. Irradiation was continued until gelation occurred -180 s for acrylate crosslinking, compared to just 10 s for thiol-ene reaction. Reproduced with permission from ref 420. Copyright 2012 American Chemical Society.

proceed efficiently with type II initiators even in the absence of co-initiators, conditions which lead to highly inefficient radical formation.⁴⁴⁵ Second, it has been hypothesized that thiyl radicals are less destructive to biomolecules than the carbon-centered radicals generated during acrylate cross-link-ing.^{419,420,446} Finally, the ability of thiol–ene reactions to be propagated by ROS leads to the consumption of these highly



Figure 17. Two-photon induced decaging of thiol-bromocoumarins enables photopatterning of agarose hydrogels. Through sequential deprotection-conjugation steps, multiple peptides/proteins can be patterned with high 3D resolution. (a and b) 3D projections of patterned hydrogels from different angles, labeled with fluorescent barstar (green) and streptavidin (red). Adapted by permission from Springer Nature: ref 463. Copyright 2011.

reactive species, thus reducing the chance of associated damage and toxicity. 424,447

7.3. Photo Thiol–yne Reactions

Just as thiol—ene reactions can proceed via both nucleophilic and radical mechanisms, so too can the related thiol—yne reactions. In contrast to the products generated from Michael addition, photo thiol—yne reactions undergo double thiol addition to produce 1,2-bisaddition products. This is formally achieved through an initial thiol—yne addition, followed by a subsequent second thiol—ene step (Figure 13c).³⁸² To date, most examples of photo thiol—yne reactions have exploited simple propargyl-ether or -amine reactive handles. Although strained species such as cyclooctynes are also known to undergo reaction, in an analogous fashion to the reaction of thiols and strained norbornenes, the instability and high cost of cyclooctyne derivatives may limit their usefulness as discussed in section 4.3.2.⁴⁴⁸

Even though thiol-ene reactions are generally faster, thiolyne conjugations have been shown to take place with higher efficiency, enabling the use of lower radical concentrations.^{449,450} Despite this advantage, to date there are only a few examples of the use of photo thiol-yne reactions for the production of biomolecule-material conjugates. Costa et al. demonstrated the functionalization of polymer brush surfaces with adhesive RGD motifs.⁴⁵⁰ Indeed, cell adhesion to surfaces modified by thiol-yne modification was found to be greater than those modified via a thiol-ene mechanism. Similarly, Pedron et al. demonstrated the simultaneous photomediated modification of both alkene and alkyne groups for the spatial patterning of polyglycerol hydrogels with adhesive peptides.⁴⁵¹

8. PHOTOCAGING AND ACTIVATION OF REACTIVE FUNCTIONALITIES

In the previous section, we focused on the use of light to induce biomolecule conjugation. This discussion was framed around the concept of generating a transient reactive species, whether an acrylate or thiol derived radical. In addition to these key reactions, light can also be used to treat photoreactive handles which subsequently expose functionality following irradiation. These so-called "photocaged" groups

Table 4	. Advantages,	Disadvantages,	and Se	electivity of	the 1	Noncovalent	Conjugation	Strategies	Outlined	l in	Section 9	9
---------	---------------	----------------	--------	---------------	-------	-------------	-------------	------------	----------	------	-----------	---

conjugation strategy	advantages	disadvantages	selectivity		
binding sequences	can be evolved to target of interest enable recruitment of biomolecules in vivo	affinity of short sequences is often low aptamers prone to degradation	dependent on target and sequence. Often high difficult to distinguish similar biomolecules		
	allow postfabrication modification				
self-assembling peptides	high density of display readily achieved	large ligands may disrupt assembly	N/A, synthesized sequence		
	properties easily tuned				
host–guest chemistry	often high stability	guest must be introduced into biomolecule	very high, dependent on system		
	reversible display can be triggered				
	orthogonal to native systems				
biotin-(strept)avidin	very high stability and rapid conjugation kinetics	streptavidin introduces large bulk into constructs	very high. Biotin and biotin-binding proteins are very rare in native systems		
	mostly orthogonal to native systems	biotinylation requires low specificity or recombinant synthesis			
	easy to undertake and robust				
nucleic acids	multiplexed conjugation possible	DNA/RNA low stability	very high; determined by sequence complementarity		
	high specificity and robust display	high cost, even for PNAs			
	forms stable conjugates				

have found widespread utility as a means to photopattern biomaterial substrates. In contrast to the highly reactive intermediates produced in situ during photoconjugation, photocaging is more commonly used to mask or protect a functional group until it is desirable for it to be exposed.^{452–454}

Photocaging in the field of biomaterials has most commonly focused on the capping of thiol groups. The most widely utilized "cages" are based around o-nitrobenzyl and coumarin chromophores. In a pivotal paper, Luo and Shoichet demonstrated that nitrobenzyl-capped cysteine residues could be decaged by irradiation with 325 nm UV light. The released thiol could then react with maleimide-functionalized peptides via Michael addition, to generate a patterned hydrogel able to guide cell migration.⁴⁵⁵ In these early reports, the limitations of using single-photon irradiation restricted patterning to two dimensions.^{455,456} With the advent of two-photon patterning techniques, it was observed that o-nitrobenzyl groups were poorly cleaved due to their poor two-photon absorption crosssection. As a result, 6-bromo-hydroxycoumarins have become the favored thiol-"caging" group within the biomaterials community (Figure 17).^{457,458} The Shoichet group has been particularly prominent in demonstrating the power of thiol-"caging" for the patterning of growth factors with high spatial precision, including VEGF,⁴⁵⁹ FGF,¹²⁸ and EGF.¹⁷² Recent reports on the increased decaging efficiency of methylcoumarin capping groups, as a result of reduced chromophore isomerization upon irradiation, is likely to lead to a further increase in conjugation efficiency.⁴⁶⁰ Although less commonly investigated, reports on the nitrobenzyl-capping of amines⁴ for the "decaging" of Factor XIII substrates and hydroxylamines^{235,462} for the spatially defined patterning of proteins via oxime ligation are also of note.

Although reactive promiscuity is a drawback for achieving site-specific conjugation, the generation of a highly reactive functionality in situ as a result of UV light irradiation enables conjugation to take place based on proximity, rather than chemical selectivity. This strategy has found widespread use in the fields of chemical and cell biology, as a means to label a biomolecule of interest with a probe brought into proximity due to target binding. So called "photoaffinity probes" generate a highly reactive intermediate upon irradiation, which then reacts rapidly with the nearest accessible functional group with high spatial precision.⁴⁶⁴ In the context of biomolecule conjugation, such methods enable accurate photopatterning to be achieved, albeit while sacrificing the choice of conjugation site.^{80,465–467} Although a number of photoreactive groups are available, the most commonly used are phenyl-azides, benzophenones, and phenyl-diazirines. Each has advantages depending on the labeling strategy being pursued, and the reader is referred to the excellent review of Smith and Collins for further details.⁴⁶⁴

More recently, photocaged cycloadditions have emerged as a potential means to achieve spatially defined biomaterial functionalization. In 2009, the Popik group demonstrated that cyclopropenones could be used to mask latent cyclooctynes for SPAAC reactions and then decaged under UV irradiation.⁴⁶⁸ These functional groups have subsequently been used for the 2D patterning of flat surfaces^{469,470} and more recently for the generation of 3D patterns using two- and even three-photon activation.⁴⁷¹ Similarly, the UV irradiation of tetrazoles has been shown to generate a reactive nitrile-imine intermediate which can undergo rapid cycloaddition with electron-deficient alkenes such as acrylates or acrylamides.⁴⁷² However, recent reports suggest that the selectivity and orthogonality of such reactions may be low, with nitrile-imines being found to react with a range of other biologically relevant nucleophiles.⁴⁷³ Indeed, Feng et al. have exploited nitrile-imine side-reactivity with thiols to site-specifically conjugate cysteine containing proteins to tetrazole functionalized surfaces.⁴⁷⁴ Interestingly, reactions with carboxylic acid groups, widespread on biomaterial surfaces, are most efficient, though reaction with alcohols and amines is also possible.⁴⁷³ Finally, the visible light-activation of IEDDA reactions has recently been reported by Truong et al. By conversion of an unreactive dehydrotetrazine to its active oxidized form, latent functionality can be exploited to overcome the low stability of reactive functional handles.⁴⁷⁵ These transformations are likely to come to prominence in biomaterial functionalization in the coming years, combining the high specificity and fast reaction kinetics of cycloadditions, with the spatial precision associated with photoactivation.

9. NONCOVALENT SYSTEMS

While the conjugation techniques discussed so far rely on forming covalent bonds between the molecules of interest and the biomaterial, there is a growing set of tools which utilize noncovalent interactions to achieve similar goals. Noncovalent binding plays a vital role in cells, controlling biomolecular interfaces and influencing protein—protein interactions, DNA—DNA complexation, DNA—protein interfaces, protein localization, and more.⁴⁷⁶ These motifs, along with unnatural functional groups, have been used for both the modification and engineering of biomolecules of interest. Here, we provide a brief summary of the most commonly applied noncovalent systems utilized by researchers for the functionalization of biomaterials (see Table 4).

9.1. Binding Sequences

A significant challenge in incorporating bioactive factors into biomaterials is that the conjugation chemistry often dictates that additional functional groups must be added to the molecules of interest, or else functional groups present on the native biomolecule must be used for covalent coupling. Both of these methods can lead to a reduction in bioactivity. Many groups have therefore been interested in utilizing noncovalent sequences which display a binding affinity for the biomolecule of interest, allowing for postfabrication modification or for native biomolecules to be simply sequestered from the surroundings within biological samples.

The most commonly used binding sequences are short peptides between 7 and 20 amino acids in length, derived from a variety of sources, including known protein binding domains present in vivo⁴⁷⁷ or determined through techniques such as phage display⁴⁷⁸. Though peptide sequences have the advantage of being easily synthesized and modified with functional groups for conjugation, their binding affinities toward biomolecules tend to be significantly weaker than those of full length proteins. Short oligonucleotides known as aptamers can also be used to bind a variety of protein substrates, including the cytokines vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)⁴⁷⁹ and platelet derived growth factor (PDGF),⁴⁸⁰ as well as cell surface proteins such as epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)⁴⁸¹. Indeed, many of the examples of biomaterial-oligonucleotide conjugation described in this review act as a means to subsequently bind and control the release of growth factors, cytokines, and ECM proteins.^{76,158,352,353,355,356,482} DNA and RNA are inherently less stable than peptides and often more expensive to access synthetically. However, the ability to access long aptamer sequences is attractive, allowing the production of constructs with increased binding affinity. It is also possible to incorporate multiple binding motifs on a single DNA strand, allowing the colocalization of two separate proteins or biomolecules.⁴

An emerging technology in material binding is that of molecular imprinting.^{484,485} In such systems, recognition domains are imparted into a polymerized surface via templating, subsequently allowing the display of bioactive sequences. Pan et al. recently showed that such a technique could be used to reversibly control cell adhesion and spreading, via the attachment of RGD.⁴⁸⁶

Adding an extra layer of complexity, binding sequences can also be introduced into a biomaterial with affinity for native biopolymers, such as heparin. The ability of such polymers to bind and activate secreted proteins is a key and often overlooked step in many cell signaling processes. As such, by first inducing biopolymer binding, the adsorption of an added or endogenous growth factor or signaling protein to a biomaterial scaffold can then be controlled.^{9,487,488}

Finally, binding affinity at the amino acid level can also be exploited to enable peptide and protein conjugation to certain biomaterial substrates. In particular, the binding of unnatural catechol-based amino acids can be used to induce binding to metal oxide containing bioglasses^{489,490} and metallic implants,⁴⁹¹ enabling the bioactivity of these important technologies to be enhanced.

9.2. Self-Assembling Peptides

Native peptides and proteins adopt a series of secondary structures, including β -sheets and α -helices, which can both stabilize individual sequences and control interprotein aggregation. One of the simplest methods to noncovalently incorporate biological motifs into a biomaterial scaffold is to exploit these self-assembly processes to form the material itself. Self-assembling peptides have been used extensively to assemble hydrogels and fibrous materials, and the reviewer is referred to a number of comprehensive reviews for an overview of the field.⁴⁹²⁻⁴⁹⁵ In many of these structures, biological epitopes or functional groups can be appended to some or all of the peptide building blocks during peptide synthesis, to add the desired bioactivity into the system. Peptide-ligands ranging from simple adhesion motifs, to laminin derived epitopes,⁴⁹⁶ and growth factor mimetics⁴⁹⁷ have all been displayed on the surface of self-assembled fibrils (Figures 18 and 2). Alternatively, glycopeptides can be assembled in order to recruit extracellular signaling proteins and growth fac-



Figure 18. (a) Illustration of a VEGF-mimicking peptide amphiphile, self-assembling to form nanofibres; (b) quantification of muscle capillary density within a murine hind-leg ischemia model following the administration of peptide amphiphile (VEGF PA), VEGF mimicking peptide, a mutant amphiphile, or control treatment, based on the staining of CD31 positive capillaries; Reproduced with permission from ref 497. Copyright 2011 National Academy of Sciences.

Chemical Reviews

tors,^{498,499} mimic glycosylation patterns within hyaluronic acid,⁵⁰⁰ or investigate optimal sulfonation ratios in glycosaminoglycan scaffolds.⁵⁰¹ Increased activity can be achieved as a consequence of the ability to create high densities of epitope display on the surface of the nanofiber and to recreate the multivalent displays commonly present in native ECM. Self-assembling domains can also be added to full-length proteins, leading to the incorporation of pendant functionality during hydrogel formation.⁵⁰²

The propensity of peptides to form secondary structures has also been exploited within nonself-assembling scaffolds. This is most easily achieved by mixing a self-assembling peptide into a covalent hydrogel, composed of either a noninteracting polymer such as interpenetrating networks of PEG⁵⁰³ or systems where additional charge interactions further stabilize the final construct, for example between positively charged peptides and negatively charged alginate gels.⁵⁰⁴ As an alternative, pendant helical groups can be attached to a covalent material and used to drive the noncovalent attachment of bioactive groups such as growth factors via selfassembly into coiled-coil triple helices.⁵⁰⁵

9.3. Host-Guest Chemistry

Host-guest chemistry has recently had a surge in popularity in the biomaterials field, due to the ease of polymer modification, the relatively low costs of reagents, and the ability to tailor binding affinities to the desired application. Host-guest chemistry can be used to dynamically modify the bioactivity of hydrogels during cell culture. For example, Boekhoven et al. demonstrated that the adhesive properties of a β -cyclodextrin modified alginate scaffold could be controlled in situ through the addition of a guest naphthyl-functionalized RGDS peptide (Figures 19 and 2).⁵⁰⁶ By subsequently introducing a non-cell adhesive adamantane-RGES peptide with a higher host binding constant, dynamic modulation of fibroblast cell attachment was enabled. Interestingly, at low RGD concentrations no guestdependent effects were seen on cell spreading. However, at higher concentrations, significantly reduced cell spreading was induced by naphthyl-functionalized peptide when compared to the analogous adamantane system. The authors attributed this effect to the aggregation states of the unbound peptide. This hypothesis acts as an important reminder that noncovalent systems exist in a dynamic state, adding an additional layer of complexity during biomaterial design.

Host-guest chemistry has also been used as a supramolecular tool to build a system capable of binding growth factors. A guest molecule with a strong nickel-binding affinity was first bound to a material-tethered host molecule.⁵⁰⁷ This nickel species was then used to induce the affinity-binding of polyhistidine-tagged proteins, such as anti-BMP antibodies, which in turn were capable of sequestering native BMP.

9.4. Biotin-(Strept)avidin

Avidin and streptavidin are homotetrameric proteins able to simultaneously bind up to four molecules of their small molecule binding partner biotin. The biotin–(strept)avidin affinities are among the strongest known noncovalent interactions, with dissociation constants in the range of $10^{-14}-10^{-15}$ M. The small size of biotin (with a mass of just 244 Da) and the ease with which it can be functionalized via its free carboxylic acid has led to biotin–(strept)avidin binding finding widespread use as a means to undertake biomaterial conjugation. Affinities are high enough to limit diffusion or loss of conjugate binding, providing largely stable devices under



Figure 19. (a) Host–guest interactions between cyclodextrin and naphthyl- or adamantane-functionalized peptides allow alginate functionalization; Confocal microscope images of 3T3 fibroblasts on functionalized substrates: (b) without peptide, (c) 10 μ M naphthyl-RGDS, and (d) 10 μ M adamantane-RGDS. Scale bar = 10 μ m. (e) Quantification of cell spreading on substrates in the presence of various guests. Adapted with permission from ref 506. Copyright 2013 John Wiley and Sons.

physiological conditions.^{508,509} Streptavidin-protein fusions can be produced recombinantly and bound to suitably functionalized surfaces to achieve conjugation. 509,510 More commonly, biomolecule biotinvlation is undertaken, and this construct is then bound to a (strept)avidin functionalized surface. This can either be achieved by a direct route, via chemical preconjugation of the material with (strept)-avidin,^{463,508,511} or by exploiting the tetrameric binding of (strept)avidin to mediate indirect modification or cross-linking of biotin-functionalized scaffolds.^{512,513} However, the use of large proteins to mediate conjugation (streptavidin has a mass of ~53 kDa and avidin of ~68 kDa) can prove problematic, introducing a large steric hindrance to normal material and cellular behavior.⁵⁰⁹ Furthermore, the multimeric binding capabilities of a single (strept)avidin partially reduces control over the orientation of biomolecules following biomaterial conjugation.

The biotinylation of proteins and growth factors can be undertaken via nonspecific lysine modification, as discussed in section 4.1.⁵⁰⁸ Alternatively, the protein-modifying enzyme biotin ligase, first introduced in section 5.3, can be used to induce site-specific biotinylation of a complementary peptide sequence, recombinantly combined with the protein of interest. Successive optimizations have led to the identification of a short 15-amino acid peptide "tag", commercially known as AviTag, that enables efficient biotinylation.^{514–516} Recombinant expression has therefore been exploited to allow prebiotinylation and subsequent biomaterial conjugation with a wide range of cytokines and growth factors, including interferon- γ (IFN- γ), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and BMP-2.^{517–519}

Biotin–(strept)avidin binding is commonly viewed as being irreversible. Though this is not truly the case, with biotinylated biomolecules continuing to undergo reversible binding albeit at very slow rates, it is difficult to induce significant cleavage of biotin–biomaterial conjugates.⁵¹⁴ As an alternative, Lambert et al. recently utilized a biotin analogue, desthiobiotin, with significantly reduced affinity to provide reversible presentation.^{509,520} Although binding was still strong (association constant of ~10⁻¹¹ M), streptavidin functionalized peptides could be cleaved from desthiobiotin modified surfaces by the addition of competitive biotin. The tolerance of biotin ligase for desthiobiotin substrates offers intriguing possibilities for this technology, though it is important to note that to achieve multiple cycles of reversibility, biomolecules must be functionalized with (strept)avidin, rather than biotin.⁵²¹

9.5. Nucleic Acids

In this review we have discussed several methods through which biologically active oligonucleotides can be conjugated to a biomaterial scaffold. In an analogous fashion to selfassembling peptides, nucleic acids can also form assembled materials themselves, to generate tunable platforms for the display of biomolecules. While covalent conjugations and host-guest chemistries offer the possibility to add functionality to a biomaterial, both before and after cell seeding, combining multiple orthogonal reactions to display more than one motif within a single scaffold can be both synthetically and conceptually challenging. DNA and RNA offer a solution to this difficulty, as an arbitrary number of sequences can be made which can preferentially bind a complementary strand with high specificity. Nucleic acids have mostly been utilized to either modify biomaterial mechanical properties or to controllably deliver nucleic acid strands to cells. However, reports have demonstrated that DNA-tagged peptides and growth factors can be conjugated to a suitably functionalized biomaterial and used to elicit a desired biological effect on a localized cell population. Recently, synthetic techniques have been developed for the template-directed, site-selective DNA modification of proteins which offers great possibilities for this emerging technology.⁵⁰

Despite the promise of nucleic acids as a means for biomaterial functionalization, their large size (a 10-mer typically has a mass >3 kDa) is potentially disruptive to protein activity and both DNA and RNA are inherently prone to degradation. Peptide nucleic acids (PNAs), featuring an unnatural backbone composed of amide bonds, have recently emerged as viable alternatives to combine the chemical stability of peptides with the specificity of DNA. The ability to synthesize PNA via peptide synthesis techniques enables the facile and automated fabrication of peptide-PNA conjugates.^{522,523} These structures have been utilized in the biomaterial field for a variety of applications, including the conjugation of oligonucleotide sequences⁵²⁴ and the crosslinking of hydrogels.⁵²⁵ The PNAs themselves can have unusual properties, including fluorescence emission from structures containing as little as two bases.⁵²⁶ In addition to their ability to be covalently coupled to polymers, PNAs have

also been utilized as hydrophilic domains within selfassembling amphiphilic polymer systems, able to bind complementary DNA sequences and form nanostructures.^{527,528} However, although the chemical stability and structural plasticity of PNAs is attractive for further applications in biomolecule-material conjugation, their high cost, at roughly 100× that of standard amino acids, is currently limiting to their widespread use.

10. INCORPORATING REACTIVE HANDLES

When designing a biomolecule-material composite, the choice of conjugation technique often requires a compromise between ease of use and site-specificity, as discussed in section 3. While lysine residues can be easily modified on virtually any synthetic or natural polypeptide substrate, their common occurrence often leads to heterogeneous mixtures of modified materials, typically at the detriment of biological activity. In contrast, though IEDDA reactions can be engineered to occur with exquisite precision and site-specificity, the synthesis of the required reactive handles and their subsequent incorporation into the reactive partners can prove challenging. In this section we will briefly discuss the key methods for introducing uniquely reactive motifs into biomolecule substrates, providing a chemical "tag" which allows single-site selectivity or specificity to be achieved.⁵²⁹

Short peptides and oligonucleotides can typically be produced via solid phase synthesis (SPS). The versatility of organic synthesis allows difficulties in reactive handle incorporation to be overcome, with a wide range of suitably functionalized amino acids and oligonucleotides available.^{22,530,531} While some of the reactive handles described in this review may be more synthetically challenging than others, virtually all are now commercially available (though sometimes at high cost) in a form that is compatible with standard Fmoc- or phosporamidite-based SPS. In contrast, the synthesis of functionalized glycans is far more intensive. Analogous solid-phase techniques for carbohydrate synthesis remain limited to specialist laboratories, and often require significant optimization.^{53,55} Solution-phase synthesis therefore remains the method of choice for glycan-derivatization, and the installation of reactive handles within substrates more complex than simple mono- or disaccharides often requires extensive synthetic efforts. Chemo-enzymatic methods for the functionalization of complex, naturally derived polysaccharides are therefore critical in order to allow selective biomaterial conjugation.532

The installation of unique reactive handles in larger protein substrates remains more challenging. Among the 21 natural amino acids, cysteine provides a unique opportunity to achieve site-selective modification due to its low natural abundance and high nucleophilicity, as described in section 4.2. The targeting of native cysteines on protein surfaces, or the introduction of a single residue into recombinantly expressed proteins by site-directed mutagenesis, allows selective thiol conjugation to be achieved.⁴⁹ While other natural amino acids can in principle be targeted, in practice this is complicated by their common occurrence on protein surfaces, and the resultant loss in selectivity this causes. However, there are many elegant examples in which impressive selectivity has been achieved by such means, and the reader is referred to a number of reviews that discuss such methods in detail.^{36,60–62,533}

An alternative approach is to introduce unnatural amino acids (UAAs) bearing the desired reactive handles (Figure 20).



Figure 20. Examples of some of the conjugation-handles that can be site-selectively incorporated into proteins via codon reassignment. These include reactive motifs for nucleophilic and photo thiol-ene reactions, cycloadditions, aldehyde functionalization, host-guest chemistry, and photocaging.

This is often achieved via the modification of lysine residues with amine-reactive derivatives, largely negating any strategic advantage to the introduction of the unnatural structure. However, a number of powerful methods have been developed for the introduction of UAAs during the translation of recombinantly produced proteins. Among the earliest to be introduced was the use of auxotrophic bacterial strains, which are unable to biosynthesise a particular amino acid and thus require uptake from the growth media. By starving the bacteria of the native amino acid and supplementing it with a structurally related unnatural analogue, the bacterial cells can be "tricked" into incorporating the UAA during translation. This technique has been widely used to install azide- and alkyne-based mimics of methionine, leading to the introduction of reactive handles for undertaking CuAAC and SPAAC reactions.⁵³⁴⁻⁵³⁷ Analogous strategies can be used for the incorporation of unnatural monosaccharides, enabling the remodelling of complex glycans. These technologies have most commonly been exploited for metabolic labeling.538,5 However, in a notable example Iwasaki et al. demonstrated that the subsequent isolation of modified glycoproteins bearing methacrylated sialic acid motifs could be used to functionalize hydrogel scaffolds.540

Auxotrophic strains offer a useful means to introduce certain reactive structures. However, their use is limited in scope to structurally similar UAAs recognized by the natural cell translational machinery. A far more powerful technique is the use of codon reassignment using orthogonal tRNA and tRNA synthetase pairs that selectively recognize and charge an UAA during translation. This has been most commonly achieved by reassigning the amber "stop-codon", UAG, by incorporating a tRNA_{CUA}/tRNA synthetase pair from an alternative kingdom into the host cell. This pair is able to install the desired UAA, while being effectively invisible to the endogenous cell machinery. As a result, site-directed mutagenesis can be used to introduce a single TAG codon at the desired position of the coding DNA, leading to the singular introduction of the UAA with high specificity and selectivity. Since the pioneering work of the Schultz group and others in the late 20th century,⁵⁴¹ codon-reassignment has developed into a powerful technique at the cutting-edge of molecular biology and protein science. Recent examples of UAA incorporation in mammalian cells and even living animals are at the forefront of the field.⁵⁴² A large number of excellent reviews have been published on this topic, and the reader is directed toward these for a detailed

overview of the key technologies and applications in which codon reassignment is finding use.^{50,542–544} However, in the context of this review the key benefit of this technique is its ability to introduce a versatile range of unnatural reactive handles which cover virtually all of the reaction classes discussed here, as outlined in detail by Dumas et al.⁵⁰ Although to date codon reassignment has only rarely been used in the field of biomaterial conjugation, this is largely due to the far from widespread availability of the requisite plasmids.^{225,366,441} As the tools and techniques required become more common-place, these methods are likely to become more prominent in biomaterial–protein conjugate technologies.

11. OUTLOOK

The formation of biomolecule-material conjugates remains a major challenge in the biomedical field. While a vast amount of effort has been devoted to the development of generalized techniques to achieve controlled, reproducible, and effective conjugation, it is clear that no perfect conjugation technique is available. It is now common to talk of the "holy grail" of bioconjugation, a reaction that can combine ease of use, conjugation efficiency, chemo-selectivity, and substrate versatility. However, in truth achieving one global method is unrealistic.³⁶ The best technique available in a certain scenario is highly dependent on the precise construct and must be carefully considered during material design.¹⁷ It is our opinion that researchers must carefully ask questions before embarking on the design and synthesis of a functionalized biomaterial. Perhaps most obviously, what is the nature of the scaffold, the biomolecule coupling substrate, and the end application? Is conjugation being undertaken under cellular or acellular conditions? Is spatial control or dynamic attachment required? Beyond these questions lay other less obvious considerations, particularly when moving toward clinical translation. Are the functional precursors stable to storage? How reproducibly and homogeneously can conjugation be achieved? Is production of the required reactive partners commercially viable? Are efficiencies maintained during scale-up?

On paper, modification strategies targeting amines or thiols can seem strategically clumsy, offering low selectivity and often diminished activity.⁶¹ Yet these techniques persist across the academic literature and even in industry. This may in part be a case of habit, or it could be the consequence of a lack of expertise to enable the implementation of other more challenging conjugation strategies.⁴⁸ It may also be that, while a drop in bioactivity seems unpalatable, an end-device with acceptable performance can still be achieved, and so any downsides are greatly outweighed by the ease of implementation and cost. In contrast, the incorporation of an unnatural reactive handle into a bioactive motif may seem an overly challenging and time-consuming proposition, requiring significant optimization, cost, and heartache, merely to produce the coupling partner, before even considering the difficulties associated with conjugation.⁵⁴⁵ However, if controlled orientation and a significant improvement in bioactivity can be achieved, potentially facilitating regulatory approval, then this initial effort may prove worthwhile.⁵⁴⁶

Although significant strides have been made over the past 20 years, there is still much scope for improving the effectiveness of biomaterial-based technologies. We believe that further innovation is required within the chemical biology and biomedical fields and, perhaps more importantly, greater dialogue and collaboration between researchers from the two communities. By doing so, elegant solutions to the problems which continue to dog biomaterial conjugates will be achieved. However, it is vital that developments are translatable to biomedical scenarios and offer real advantages over existing technologies. Potent peptides able to recapitulate the biological activities of proteins, improved and widely available methods for installing unnatural reactive handles, modular scaffolds that allow facile and versatile modification, highly selective conjugation handles that can be easily and cheaply introduced, and patterning techniques with improved biocompatibility are all highly desirable and can only be achieved through innovative interdisciplinary research.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Authors

*E-mail: cspicer20@gmail.com. *E-mail: m.stevens@imperial.ac.uk.

ORCID 6

Christopher D. Spicer: 0000-0001-8787-578X E. Thomas Pashuck: 0000-0003-2881-4965 Molly M. Stevens: 0000-0002-7335-266X

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Biographies

Christopher D. Spicer is currently a Project Leader in Prof. Molly Stevens' group and based at the Karolinska Institutet in Stockholm. Following undergraduate studies at the University of Cambridge, Chris was awarded his Ph.D. in the group of Prof. Ben Davis at the University of Oxford, studying the site-selective chemical modification of proteins. He then moved to Imperial College London, where he undertook postdoctoral research in the group of Prof. Stevens, before moving to Stockholm in December 2016. His interdisciplinary research focuses on the use of organic chemistry and chemical biology to form functionalized biomaterials for tissue engineering applications.

E. Thomas Pashuck received a B.S. from the University of Florida and a Ph.D. from Northwestern University, both in Materials Science and Engineering. He performed his doctoral work under the guidance of Prof. Samuel Stupp, in which he focused on tuning the properties of self-assembling peptides through molecular design. He moved to the Departments of Materials and Bioengineering and the Institute of Biomedical Engineering at Imperial College London in London, U.K. on a Marie Curie International Incoming Fellowship with Prof. Molly Stevens. He currently works at the New Jersey Center of Biomaterials at Rutgers University, and his research is focused on designing cellresponsive materials.

Molly M. Stevens is currently Professor of Biomedical Materials and Regenerative Medicine at Imperial College London and the Research Director for Biomedical Material Sciences in the Institute of Biomedical Engineering. She is a Fellow of six academies, including the Royal Society of Chemistry and the Royal Academy of Engineering. She has received over 20 major awards, such as the 2016 Clemson Award for Basic Research from the Society for Biomaterials, the European Life Sciences 2014 Research Group of the Year Award, in addition to the 2010 Norman Heatley Award for Interdisciplinary Research and the 2011 CRS Young Investigator Award from the Royal Society of Chemistry. She is also currently President-Elect of the RSC's Division of Materials Chemistry and Director of the U.K. Regenerative Medicine Programme Hub focussed on Acellular/Smart Materials.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Dr. Daniel Richards is thanked for critical evaluation of the manuscript. C.D.S. and M.M.S. acknowledge support from the Swedish Foundation for Strategic Research (SSF 4-3713/2016) and the Swedish Research Council (VR 4-478/2016). M.M.S. also acknowledges support from the ERC Seventh Framework Programme Consolidator Grant "Naturale CG" (616417), the Engineering and Physical Science Research Council (EPSRC) grant "Biofunctionalized nanomaterials for ultrasensitive biosensing" (EP/K020641/1), and a Wellcome Trust Senior Investigator Award (098411/Z/12/Z).

REFERENCES

(1) Stevens, M. M.; George, J. H. Exploring and Engineering the Cell Surface Interface. *Science* **2005**, *310*, 1135–1138.

(2) Pashuck, E. T.; Stevens, M. M. Designing Regenerative Biomaterial Therapies for the Clinic. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 2012, *4*, 160sr4.
(3) Tam, R. Y.; Fuehrmann, T.; Mitrousis, N.; Shoichet, M. S. Regenerative Therapies for Central Nervous System Diseases: A Biomaterials Approach. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2014, *39*, 169–188.
(4) Hadavi, D.; Poot, A. A. Biomaterials for the Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease. *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.* 2016, *4*, 49.

(5) Wissing, T. B.; Bonito, V.; Bouten, C. V. C.; Smits, A. I. P. M. Biomaterial-Driven in Situ Cardiovascular Tissue Engineering—a Multi-Disciplinary Perspective. *NPJ. Regen. Med.* **2017**, *2*, 18.

(6) Place, E. S.; Evans, N. D.; Stevens, M. M. Complexity in Biomaterials for Tissue Engineering. *Nat. Mater.* **2009**, *8*, 457–470.

(7) Chen, Z.; Kang, L.; Wang, Z.; Xu, F.; Gu, G.; Cui, F.; Guo, Z. Recent Progress in the Research of Biomaterials Regulating Cell Behavior. *RSC Adv.* **2014**, *4*, 63807–63816.

(8) Crowder, S. W.; Leonardo, V.; Whittaker, T.; Papathanasiou, P.; Stevens, M. M. Material Cues as Potent Regulators of Epigenetics and Stem Cell Function. *Cell Stem Cell* **2016**, *18*, 39–52.

(9) Wang, Z.; Wang, Z.; Lu, W. W.; Zhen, W.; Yang, D.; Peng, S. Novel Biomaterial Strategies for Controlled Growth Factor Delivery for Biomedical Applications. *NPG Asia Mater.* **2017**, *9*, e435.

(10) Ventre, M.; Netti, P. A. Engineering Cell Instructive Materials to Control Cell Fate and Functions through Material Cues and Surface Patterning. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2016**, *8*, 14896–14908.

(11) Benoit, D. S. W.; Schwartz, M. P.; Durney, A. R.; Anseth, K. S. Small Functional Groups for Controlled Differentiation of Hydrogel-Encapsulated Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells. *Nat. Mater.* **2008**, *7*, 816–823.

Chemical Reviews

(12) Paluck, S. J.; Nguyen, T. H.; Maynard, H. D. Heparin-Mimicking Polymers: Synthesis and Biological Applications. *Biomacromolecules* **2016**, *17*, 3417–3440.

(13) Teo, A. J. T.; Mishra, A.; Park, I.; Kim, Y.-J.; Park, W.-T.; Yoon, Y.-J. Polymeric Biomaterials for Medical Implants and Devices. *ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng.* **2016**, *2*, 454–472.

(14) Gao, C.; Peng, S.; Feng, P.; Shuai, C. Bone Biomaterials and Interactions with Stem Cells. *Bone Res.* **2017**, *5*, 17059.

(15) Krishna, O. D.; Kiick, K. L. Protein- and Peptide-Modified Synthetic Polymeric Biomaterials. *Biopolymers* **2010**, *94*, 32–48.

(16) Collier, J. H.; Segura, T. Evolving the Use of Peptides as Components of Biomaterials. *Biomaterials* **2011**, *32*, 4198–4204.

(17) Fisher, S. A.; Baker, A. E. G.; Shoichet, M. S. Designing Peptide and Protein Modified Hydrogels: Selecting the Optimal Conjugation Strategy. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **201**7, *139*, 7416–7427.

(18) Russo, L.; Cipolla, L. Glycomics: New Challenges and Opportunities in Regenerative Medicine. *Chem. - Eur. J.* 2016, 22, 13380–13388.

(19) Varki, A. Biological Roles of Glycans. *Glycobiology* **201**7, 27, 3–49.

(20) Glycochemical Synthesis: Strategies and Applications; Hung, S., Zulueta, M. M. L., Eds.; John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: New York, 2016. (21) Landhuis, E. Glycobiology: Sweet Success. *Nature* 2017, 547,

127–129. (22) Liu, J. Oligonucleotide-Functionalized Hydrogels as Stimuli

Responsive Materials and Biosensors. Soft Matter 2011, 7, 6757–6767.

(23) Scharnweber, D.; Bierbaum, S.; Wolf-Brandstetter, C. Utilizing DNA for Functionalization of Biomaterial Surfaces. *FEBS Lett.* **2018**, 592, 2181.

(24) Belair, D. G.; Le, N. N.; Murphy, W. L. Design of Growth Factor Sequestering Biomaterials. *Chem. Commun.* **2014**, *50*, 15651–15668.

(25) Darmostuk, M.; Rimpelova, S.; Gbelcova, H.; Ruml, T. Current Approaches in SELEX: An Update to Aptamer Selection Technology. *Biotechnol. Adv.* **2015**, *33*, 1141–1161.

(26) Wu, Y. X.; Kwon, Y. J. Aptamers: The "Evolution" of SELEX. *Methods* **2016**, *106*, 21–28.

(27) Peptides and Proteins as Biomaterials for Tissue Regeneration and Repair; Barbosa, M. A., Martins, M. C. L., Eds.; Woodhead Publishing: Cambridge, U.K., 2018.

(28) Wronska, M. A.; O'Connor, I. B.; Tilbury, M. A.; Srivastava, A.; Wall, J. G. Adding Functions to Biomaterial Surfaces through Protein Incorporation. *Adv. Mater.* **2016**, *28*, 5485–5508.

(29) Visser, R.; Rico-Llanos, G. A.; Pulkkinen, H.; Becerra, J. Peptides for Bone Tissue Engineering. *J. Controlled Release* **2016**, 244, 122–135.

(30) Huettner, N.; Dargaville, T. R.; Forget, A. Discovering Cell-Adhesion Peptides in Tissue Engineering: Beyond RGD. *Trends Biotechnol.* **2018**, *36*, 372–383.

(31) Abbott, R. D.; Kaplan, D. L. Engineering Biomaterials for Enhanced Tissue Regeneration. Curr. *Stem Cell Reports* **2016**, *2*, 140–146.

(32) Al-Maawi, S.; Orlowska, A.; Sader, R.; Kirkpatrick, C. J.; Ghanaati, S. In Vivo Cellular Reactions to Different Biomaterials— Physiological and Pathological Aspects and Their Consequences. *Semin. Immunol.* **2017**, *29*, 49–61.

(33) Mager, M. D.; LaPointe, V.; Stevens, M. M. Exploring and Exploiting Chemistry at the Cell Surface. *Nat. Chem.* **2011**, *3*, 582–589.

(34) von Erlach, T. C.; Bertazzo, S.; Wozniak, M. A.; Horejs, C.-M.; Maynard, S. A.; Attwood, S.; Robinson, B. K.; Autefage, H.; Kallepitis, C.; del Río Hernández, A.; et al. Cell-Geometry-Dependent Changes in Plasma Membrane Order Direct Stem Cell Signalling and Fate. *Nat. Mater.* **2018**, *17*, 237–242.

(35) Zhang, Y. S.; Khademhosseini, A. Advances in Engineering Hydrogels. *Science* **2017**, 356, eaaf3627.

(36) Spicer, C. D.; Davis, B. G. Selective Chemical Protein Modification. *Nat. Commun.* 2014, *5*, 4740.

(37) Kowalczyńiska, H. M.; Nowak-Wyrzykowska, M.; Kołos, R.; Dobkowski, J.; Kamiński, J. Fibronectin Adsorption and Arrangement on Copolymer Surfaces and Their Significance in Cell Adhesion. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res., Part A* **2005**, 72A, 228–236.

(38) Ouberai, M. M.; Xu, K.; Welland, M. E. Effect of the Interplay between Protein and Surface on the Properties of Adsorbed Protein Layers. *Biomaterials* **2014**, *35*, 6157–6163.

(39) Herda, L. M.; Hristov, D. R.; Lo Giudice, M. C.; Polo, E.; Dawson, K. A. Mapping of Molecular Structure of the Nanoscale Surface in Bionanoparticles. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2017**, *139*, 111–114.

(40) Talasaz, A. H.; Nemat-Gorgani, M.; Liu, Y.; Stahl, P.; Dutton, R. W.; Ronaghi, M.; Davis, R. W. Prediction of Protein Orientation upon Immobilization on Biological and Nonbiological Surfaces. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2006**, *103*, 14773–14778.

(41) Fears, K. P.; Sivaraman, B.; Powell, G. L.; Wu, Y.; Latour, R. A. Probing the Conformation and Orientation of Adsorbed Enzymes Using Side-Chain Modification. *Langmuir* **2009**, *25*, 9319–9327.

(42) Cruz-Teran, C. A.; Carlin, K. B.; Efimenko, K.; Genzer, J.; Rao, B. M. Targeted Mutagenesis and Combinatorial Library Screening Enables Control of Protein Orientation on Surfaces and Increased Activity of Adsorbed Proteins. *Langmuir* **2016**, *32*, 8660–8667.

(43) Li, Y.; Ogorzalek, T. L.; Wei, S.; Zhang, X.; Yang, P.; Jasensky, J.; Brooks, C. L.; Marsh, E. N. G.; Chen, Z. Effect of Immobilization Site on the Orientation and Activity of Surface-Tethered Enzymes. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2018**, *20*, 1021–1029.

(44) Sletten, E. M.; Bertozzi, C. R. Bioorthogonal Chemistry: Fishing for Selectivity in a Sea of Functionality. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2009**, *48*, 6974–6998.

(45) So, W. H.; Zhang, Y.; Kang, W.; Wong, C. T. T.; Sun, H.; Xia, J. Site-Selective Covalent Reactions on Proteinogenic Amino Acids. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2017**, *48*, 220–227.

(46) Bojarová, P.; Křen, V. Sugared Biomaterial Binding Lectins: Achievements and Perspectives. *Biomater. Sci.* 2016, *4*, 1142–1160.

(47) Liu, F.; Wang, L.; Wang, H.; Yuan, L.; Li, J.; Brash, J. L.; Chen, H. Modulating the Activity of Protein Conjugated to Gold Nanoparticles by Site-Directed Orientation and Surface Density of Bound Protein. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2015**, *7*, 3717–3724.

(48) Boutureira, O.; Bernardes, G. J. L. Advances in Chemical Protein Modification. *Chem. Rev.* 2015, 115, 2174–2195.

(49) Chalker, J. M.; Bernardes, G. J. L.; Lin, Y. A.; Davis, B. G. Chemical Modification of Proteins at Cysteine: Opportunities in Chemistry and Biology. *Chem. - Asian J.* **2009**, *4*, 630–640.

(50) Dumas, A.; Lercher, L.; Spicer, C. D.; Davis, B. G. Designing Logical Reassignment - Expanding the Chemistry in Biology. *Chem. Sci.* **2015**, *6*, 50–69.

(51) Palomo, J. M. Solid-Phase Peptide Synthesis: An Overview Focused on the Preparation of Biologically Relevant Peptides. *RSC Adv.* 2014, 4, 32658–32672.

(52) Kosuri, S.; Church, G. M. Large-Scale de Novo DNA Synthesis: Technologies and Applications. Nat. *Nat. Methods* **2014**, *11*, 499–507.

(53) Seeberger, P. H. The Logic of Automated Glycan Assembly. Acc. Chem. Res. 2015, 48, 1450–1463.

(54) Naresh, K.; Schumacher, F.; Hahm, H. S.; Seeberger, P. H. Pushing the Limits of Automated Glycan Assembly: Synthesis of a 50mer Polymannoside. *Chem. Commun.* **2017**, *53*, 9085–9088.

(55) Pardo-Vargas, A.; Delbianco, M.; Seeberger, P. H. Automated Glycan Assembly as an Enabling Technology. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* **2018**, *46*, 48–55.

(56) Krall, N.; da Cruz, F. P.; Boutureira, O.; Bernardes, G. J. L. L. Site-Selective Protein-Modification Chemistry for Basic Biology and Drug Development. *Nat. Chem.* **2016**, *8*, 103–113.

(57) Maruani, A.; Richards, D. A.; Chudasama, V. Dual Modification of Biomolecules. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2016**, *14*, 6165–6178.

(58) Gunnoo, S. B.; Madder, A. Bioconjugation – Using Selective Chemistry to Enhance the Properties of Proteins and Peptides as Therapeutics and Carriers. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2016**, *14*, 8002–8013. (59) Hersel, U.; Dahmen, C.; Kessler, H. RGD Modified Polymers: Biomaterials for Stimulated Cell Adhesion and Beyond. *Biomaterials* **2003**, *24*, 4385–4415.

(60) Hermanson, G. T. *Bioconjugate Techniques*, 2nd ed.; Academic Press, Inc.: New York, 2008.

(61) Baslé, E.; Joubert, N.; Pucheault, M. Protein Chemical Modification on Endogenous Amino Acids. *Chem. Biol.* 2010, 17, 213–227.

(62) Matos, M.; Oliveira, B.; Martínez-Sáez, N.; Guerreiro, A.; Cal, P. M. S. D.; Bertoldo, J.; Maneiro, M.; Perkins, E.; Howard, J.; Deery, M.; et al. Chemo and Regioselective Lysine Modification on Native Proteins. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2018**, 140, 4004–4017.

(63) Valeur, E.; Bradley, M. Amide Bond Formation: Beyond the Myth of Coupling Reagents. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2009**, *38*, 606–631.

(64) Koniev, O.; Wagner, A. Developments and Recent Advancements in the Field of Endogenous Amino Acid Selective Bond Forming Reactions for Bioconjugation. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2015**, *44*, 5495–5551.

(65) Suzuki, Y.; Tanihara, M.; Suzuki, K.; Saitou, A.; Sufan, W.; Nishimura, Y. Alginate Hydrogel Linked with Synthetic Oligopeptide Derived from BMP-2 Allows Ectopic Osteoinduction in Vivo. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.* **2000**, *50*, 405–409.

(66) Kalkhof, S.; Sinz, A. Chances and Pitfalls of Chemical Cross-Linking with Amine-Reactive N-Hydroxysuccinimide Esters. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **2008**, 392, 305–312.

(67) Rowley, J. A.; Madlambayan, G.; Mooney, D. J. Alginate Hydrogels as Synthetic Extracellular Matrix Materials. *Biomaterials* **1999**, 20, 45–53.

(68) Bulpitt, P.; Aeschlimann, D. New Strategy for Chemical Modification of Hyaluronic Acid: Preparation of Functionalized Derivatives and Their Use in the Formation of Novel Biocompatible Hydrogels. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.* **1999**, *47*, 152–169.

(69) Bouhadir, K. H.; Hausman, D. S.; Mooney, D. J. Synthesis of Cross-Linked Poly(Aldehyde Guluronate) Hydrogels. *Polymer* **1999**, 40, 3575–3584.

(70) Chiu, L. L. Y.; Radisic, M. Scaffolds with Covalently Immobilized VEGF and Angiopoietin-1 for Vascularization of Engineered Tissues. *Biomaterials* **2010**, *31*, 226–241.

(71) Xu, X.; Jha, A. K.; Harrington, D. A.; Farach-Carson, M. C.; Jia, X. Hyaluronic Acid-Based Hydrogels: From a Natural Polysaccharide to Complex Networks. *Soft Matter* **2012**, *8*, 3280–3294.

(72) Bax, D. V.; Davidenko, N.; Gullberg, D.; Hamaia, S. W.; Farndale, R. W.; Best, S. M.; Cameron, R. E. Fundamental Insight into the Effect of Carbodiimide Crosslinking on Cellular Recognition of Collagen-Based Scaffolds. *Acta Biomater.* **2017**, *49*, 218–234.

(73) Kang, I.-K.; Kim, G. J.; Kwon, O. H.; Ito, Y. Co-Culture of Hepatocytes and Fibroblasts by Micropatterned Immobilization of β -Galactose Derivatives. *Biomaterials* **2004**, *25*, 4225–4232.

(74) Meng, Q.; Haque, A.; Hexig, B.; Akaike, T. The Differentiation and Isolation of Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells toward Hepatocytes Using Galactose-Carrying Substrata. *Biomaterials* **2012**, *33*, 1414– 1427.

(75) Soontornworajit, B.; Zhou, J.; Snipes, M. P.; Battig, M. R.; Wang, Y. Affinity Hydrogels for Controlled Protein Release Using Nucleic Acid Aptamers and Complementary Oligonucleotides. *Biomaterials* **2011**, *32*, 6839–6849.

(76) Enam, S. F.; Krieger, J. R.; Saxena, T.; Watts, B. E.; Olingy, C. E.; Botchwey, E. A.; Bellamkonda, R. V. Enrichment of Endogenous Fractalkine and Anti-Inflammatory Cells via Aptamer-Functionalized Hydrogels. *Biomaterials* **2017**, *142*, 52–61.

(77) Ulbrich, K.; Zacharieva, E. I.; Obereigner, B.; Kopecek, J. Polymers Containing Enzymatically Degradable Bonds. V. Hydrophilic Polymers Degradable by Papain. *Biomaterials* **1980**, *1*, 199– 204.

(78) Ulbrich, K.; Strohalm, J.; Kopeček, J. Polymers Containing Enzymatically Degradable Bonds. VI.Hydrophilic Gels Cleavable by Chymotrypsin. *Biomaterials* **1982**, *3*, 150–154. (79) Bellamkonda, R. V.; Ranieri, J. P.; Aebischer, P. Laminin Oligopeptide Derivatized Agarose Gels Allow 3-Dimensional Neurite Extension in-Vitro. *J. Neurosci. Res.* **1995**, *41*, 501–509.

(80) Borkenhagen, M.; Clémence, J. F.; Sigrist, H.; Aebischer, P. Three-Dimensional Extracellular Matrix Engineering in the Nervous System. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. **1998**, 40, 392–400.

(81) Madl, C. M.; Mehta, M.; Duda, G. N.; Heilshorn, S. C.; Mooney, D. J. Presentation of BMP-2 Mimicking Peptides in 3D Hydrogels Directs Cell Fate Commitment in Osteoblasts and Mesenchymal Stem Cells. *Biomacromolecules* **2014**, *15*, 445–455.

(82) Lane, C. F. Sodium Cyanoborohydride - A Highly Selective Reducing Agent for Organic Functional Groups. *Synthesis* **1975**, 1975, 135–146.

(83) Holland, J.; Hersh, L.; Bryhan, M.; Onyiriuka, E.; Ziegler, L. Culture of Human Vascular Endothelial Cells on an RGD-Containing Synthetic Peptide Attached to a Starch-Coated Polystyrene Surface : Comparison with Fibronectin-Coated Tissue Grade Polystyrene. *Biomaterials* **1996**, *17*, 2147–2156.

(84) Glass, J. R.; Dickerson, K. T.; Stecker, K.; Polarek, J. W. Characterization of a Hyaluronic Acid-Arg-Gly-Asp Peptide Cell Attachment Matrix. *Biomaterials* **1996**, *17*, 1101–1108.

(85) Massia, S. P.; Holecko, M. M.; Ehteshami, G. R. In Vitro Assessment of Bioactive Coatings for Neural Implant Applications. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.* **2004**, *68A*, 177–186.

(86) Kristiansen, K. A.; Potthast, A.; Christensen, B. E. Periodate Oxidation of Polysaccharides for Modification of Chemical and Physical Properties. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2010**, *345*, 1264–1271.

(87) Russo, L.; Sgambato, A.; Lecchi, M.; Pastori, V.; Raspanti, M.; Natalello, A.; Doglia, S. M.; Nicotra, F.; Cipolla, L. Neoglucosylated Collagen Matrices Drive Neuronal Cells to Differentiate. *ACS Chem. Neurosci.* **2014**, *5*, 261–265.

(88) Russo, L.; Gautieri, A.; Raspanti, M.; Taraballi, F.; Nicotra, F.; Vesentini, S.; Cipolla, L. Carbohydrate-Functionalized Collagen Matrices: Design and Characterization of a Novel Neoglycosylated Biomaterial. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2014**, 389, 12–17.

(89) Russo, L.; Sgambato, A.; Giannoni, P.; Quarto, R.; Vesentini, S.; Gautieri, A.; Cipolla, L. Response of Osteoblast-like MG63 on Neoglycosylated Collagen Matrices. *MedChemComm* **2014**, *5*, 1208–1212.

(90) Russo, L.; Russo, T.; Battocchio, C.; Taraballi, F.; Gloria, A.; D'Amora, U.; De Santis, R.; Polzonetti, G.; Nicotra, F.; Ambrosio, L.; et al. Galactose Grafting on Poly(ε -Caprolactone) Substrates for Tissue Engineering: A Preliminary Study. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2015**, 405, 39–46.

(91) Sgambato, A.; Russo, L.; Montesi, M.; Panseri, S.; Marcacci, M.; Caravà, E.; Raspanti, M.; Cipolla, L. Different Sialoside Epitopes on Collagen Film Surfaces Direct Mesenchymal Stem Cell Fate. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2016**, *8*, 14952–14957.

(92) Obermeyer, A. C.; Jarman, J. B.; Francis, M. B. N-Terminal Modification of Proteins with o-Aminophenols. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136*, 9572–9579.

(93) MacDonald, J. I.; Munch, H. K.; Moore, T.; Francis, M. B. One-Step Site-Specific Modification of Native Proteins with 2-Pyridinecarboxyaldehydes. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **2015**, *11*, 326–331.

(94) Chen, D.; Disotuar, M.; Xiong, X.; Wang, Y.; Chou, D. H. Selective N-Terminal Functionalization of Native Peptides and Proteins. *Chem. Sci.* **2017**, *8*, 2717–2722.

(95) Lee, J. P.; Kassianidou, E.; MacDonald, J. I.; Francis, M. B.; Kumar, S. N-Terminal Specific Conjugation of Extracellular Matrix Proteins to 2-Pyridinecarboxaldehyde Functionalized Polyacrylamide Hydrogels. *Biomaterials* **2016**, *102*, 268–276.

(96) Yeom, J.; Ju, S.; Choi, Y.; Paek, E.; Lee, C. Comprehensive Analysis of Human Protein N-Termini Enables Assessment of Various Protein Forms. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, *7*, 6599.

(97) Bloom, S.; Liu, C.; Kölmel, D. K.; Qiao, J. X.; Zhang, Y.; Poss, M. A.; Ewing, W. R.; MacMillan, D. W. C. Decarboxylative Alkylation for Site-Selective Bioconjugation of Native Proteins via Oxidation Potentials. *Nat. Chem.* **2017**, *10*, 205–211.

(98) Miseta, A.; Csutora, P. Relationship between the Occurrence of Cysteine in Proteins and the Complexity of Organisms. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* **2000**, *17*, 1232–1239.

(99) Lowe, A.; Bowman, C. *Thiol-X Chemistries in Polymer and Materials Science*; RSC Polymer Chemistry Series; The Royal Society of Chemistry: London, 2013.

(100) Marino, S. M.; Gladyshev, V. N. Cysteine Function Governs Its Conservation and Degeneration and Restricts Its Utilization on Protein Surfaces. J. Mol. Biol. 2010, 404, 902–916.

(101) Shivange, A. V.; Daugherty, P. S. De Novo Discovery of Bioactive Cyclic Peptides Using Bacterial Display and Flow Cytometry. In *Methods Mol. Biol.*; Derda, R., Ed.; Humana Press: New York, 2015; Vol. 1248, pp 139–153.

(102) Gunnoo, S. B.; Madder, A. Chemical Protein Modification through Cysteine. *ChemBioChem* **2016**, *17*, 529–553.

(103) Nair, D. P.; Podgórski, M.; Chatani, S.; Gong, T.; Xi, W.; Fenoli, C. R.; Bowman, C. N. The Thiol-Michael Addition Click Reaction: A Powerful and Widely Used Tool in Materials Chemistry. *Chem. Mater.* **2014**, *26*, 724–744.

(104) Lowe, A. B. Thiol-Ene "Click" Reactions and Recent Applications in Polymer and Materials Synthesis: A First Update. *Polym. Chem.* **2014**, *5*, 4820–4870.

(105) Lowe, A. B. Thiol-Ene "Click" Reactions and Recent Applications in Polymer and Materials Synthesis. *Polym. Chem.* **2010**, *1*, 17–36.

(106) Baldwin, A. D.; Kiick, K. L. Reversible Maleimide-Thiol Adducts Yield Glutathione-Sensitive Poly(Ethylene Glycol)-Heparin Hydrogels. *Polym. Chem.* **2013**, *4*, 133–143.

(107) Lutolf, M. P.; Tirelli, N.; Cerritelli, S.; Cavalli, L.; Hubbell, J. A. Systematic Modulation of Michael-Type Reactivity of Thiols through the Use of Charged Amino Acids. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2001**, *12*, 1051–1056.

(108) Chan, J. W.; Yu, B.; Hoyle, C. E.; Lowe, A. B. The Nucleophilic, Phosphine-Catalyzed Thiol-Ene Click Reaction and Convergent Star Synthesis with RAFT-Prepared Homopolymers. *Polymer* **2009**, *50*, 3158–3168.

(109) Chan, J. W.; Hoyle, C. E.; Lowe, A. B.; Bowman, M. Nucleophile-Initiated Thiol-Michael Reactions: Effect of Organocatalyst, Thiol, and Ene. *Macromolecules* **2010**, *43*, 6381–6388.

(110) Sharpless, N. E.; Flavin, M. The Reactions of Amines and Amino Acids with Maleimides. Structure of the Reaction Products Deduced from Infrared and Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy. *Biochemistry* **1966**, *5*, 2963–2971.

(111) Lutolf, M. P.; Hubbell, J. A. Synthesis and Physicochemical Characterization of End-Linked Poly(Ethylene Glycol)-Co-Peptide Hydrogels Formed by Michael-Type Addition. *Biomacromolecules* **2003**, *4*, 713–722.

(112) Darling, N. J.; Hung, Y.-S.; Sharma, S.; Segura, T. Controlling the Kinetics of Thiol-Maleimide Michael-Type Addition Gelation Kinetics for the Generation of Homogenous Poly(Ethylene Glycol) Hydrogels. *Biomaterials* **2016**, *101*, 199–206.

(113) Jansen, L. E.; Negrón-Piñeiro, L. J.; Galarza, S.; Peyton, S. R. Control of Thiol-Maleimide Reaction Kinetics in PEG Hydrogel Networks. *Acta Biomater.* **2018**, *70*, 120–128.

(114) Vernon, B.; Tirelli, N.; Bächi, T.; Haldimann, D.; Hubbell, J. A. Water-Borne, in Situ Crosslinked Biomaterials from Phase-Segregated Precursors. J. Biomed. Mater. Res., Part A 2003, 64A, 447–456.

(115) Phelps, E. A.; Enemchukwu, N. O.; Fiore, V. F.; Sy, J. C.; Murthy, N.; Sulchek, T. A.; Barker, T. H.; García, A. J. Maleimide Cross-Linked Bioactive PEG Hydrogel Exhibits Improved Reaction Kinetics and Cross-Linking for Cell Encapsulation and in Situ Delivery. *Adv. Mater.* **2012**, *24*, 64–70.

(116) Dirksen, A.; Dawson, P. E. Rapid Oxime and Hydrazone Ligations with Aromatic Aldehydes for Biomolecular Labeling. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2008**, *19*, 2543–2548.

(117) Fairbanks, B. D.; Schwartz, M. P.; Halevi, A. E.; Nuttelman, C. R.; Bowman, C. N.; Anseth, K. S. A Versatile Synthetic Extracellular

(118) Hayashi, K.; Okamoto, F.; Hoshi, S.; Katashima, T.; Zujur, D. C.; Li, X.; Shibayama, M.; Gilbert, E. P.; Chung, U.; Ohba, S.; et al. Fast-Forming Hydrogel with Ultralow Polymeric Content as an Artificial Vitreous Body. *Nat. Biomed. Eng.* **2017**, *1*, 0044.

(119) Yu, T. T.; Shoichet, M. S. Guided Cell Adhesion and Outgrowth in Peptide-Modified Channels for Neural Tissue Engineering. *Biomaterials* **2005**, *26*, 1507–1514.

(120) Saha, K.; Irwin, E. F.; Kozhukh, J.; Schaffer, D. V.; Healy, K. E. Biomimetic Interfacial Interpenetrating Polymer Networks Control Neural Stem Cell Behavior. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res., Part A* **2007**, *81A*, 240–249.

(121) Kantlehner, M.; Schaffner, P.; Finsinger, D.; Meyer, J.; Jonczyk, A.; Diefenbach, B.; Nies, B.; Hölzemann, G.; Goodman, S. L.; Kessler, H. Surface Coating with Cyclic RGD Peptides Stimulates Osteoblast Adhesion and Proliferation as Well as Bone Formation. *ChemBioChem* **2000**, *1*, 107–114.

(122) Stile, R. A.; Healy, K. E. Thermo-Responsive Peptide-Modified Hydrogels for Tissue Regeneration. *Biomacromolecules* **2001**, *2*, 185–194.

(123) Lévesque, S. G.; Shoichet, M. S. Synthesis of Cell-Adhesive Dextran Hydrogels and Macroporous Scaffolds. *Biomaterials* **2006**, *27*, 5277–5285.

(124) Zhang, Q.; He, Q.-F.; Zhang, T.-H.; Yu, X.-L.; Liu, Q.; Deng, F. Improvement in the Delivery System of Bone Morphogenetic Protein-2: A New Approach to Promote Bone Formation. *Biomed. Mater.* **2012**, *7*, 045002.

(125) Zhang, H.; Migneco, F.; Lin, C.-Y.; Hollister, S. J. Chemically-Conjugated Bone Morphogenetic Protein-2 on Three-Dimensional Polycaprolactone Scaffolds Stimulates Osteogenic Activity in Bone Marrow Stromal Cells. *Tissue Eng., Part A* **2010**, *16*, 3441–3448.

(126) Kim, J.; Lin, B.; Kim, S.; Choi, B.; Evseenko, D.; Lee, M. TGF-B1 Conjugated Chitosan Collagen Hydrogels Induce Chondrogenic Differentiation of Human Synovium-Derived Stem Cells. *J. Biol. Eng.* **2015**, *9*, 1.

(127) Lim, E. H.; Sardinha, J. P.; Myers, S.; Stevens, M. Latent Transforming Growth Factor-Beta1 Functionalised Electrospun Scaffolds Promote Human Cartilage Differentiation: Towards an Engineered Cartilage Construct. *Arch. Plast. Surg.* **2013**, *40*, 676–686.

(128) Wylie, R. G.; Shoichet, M. S. Three-Dimensional Spatial Patterning of Proteins in Hydrogels. *Biomacromolecules* 2011, *12*, 3789–3796.

(129) Smyth, D. G.; Blumenfeld, O. O.; Konigsberg, W. Reactions of N-Ethylmaleimide with Peptides and Amino Acids. *Biochem. J.* **1964**, *91*, 589–595.

(130) Kharkar, P. M.; Kloxin, A. M.; Kiick, K. L. Dually degradable click hydrogels for controlled degradation and protein release. *J. Mater. Chem. B* **2014**, *2*, 5511–5521.

(131) Alley, S. C.; Benjamin, D. R.; Jeffrey, S. C.; Okeley, N. M.; Meyer, D. L.; Sanderson, R. J.; Senter, P. D. Contribution of Linker Stability to the Activities of Anticancer Immunoconjugates. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2008**, *19*, 759–765.

(132) Baldwin, A. D.; Kiick, K. L. Tunable Degradation of Maleimide-Thiol Adducts in Reducing Environments. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2011**, *22*, 1946–1953.

(133) Shen, B.-Q.; Xu, K.; Liu, L.; Raab, H.; Bhakta, S.; Kenrick, M.; Parsons-Reponte, K. L.; Tien, J.; Yu, S.-F.; Mai, E.; et al. Conjugation Site Modulates the in Vivo Stability and Therapeutic Activity of Antibody-Drug Conjugates. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2012**, *30*, 184–189.

(134) Turell, L.; Radi, R.; Alvarez, B. The Thiol Pool in Human Plasma: The Central Contribution of Albumin to Redox Processes. *Free Radical Biol. Med.* **2013**, *65*, 244–253.

(135) Gyarmati, B.; Némethy, Á.; Szilágyi, A. Reversible Disulphide Formation in Polymer Networks: A Versatile Functional Group from Synthesis to Applications. *Eur. Polym. J.* **2013**, *49*, 1268–1286.

(136) Lyon, R. P.; Setter, J. R.; Bovee, T. D.; Doronina, S. O.; Hunter, J. H.; Anderson, M. E.; Balasubramanian, C. L.; Duniho, S. M.; Leiske, C. I.; Li, F.; et al. Self-Hydrolyzing Maleimides Improve the Stability and Pharmacological Properties of Antibody-Drug Conjugates. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 2014, 32, 1059–1062.

(137) Fontaine, S. D.; Reid, R.; Robinson, L.; Ashley, G. W.; Santi, D. V. Long-Term Stabilization of Maleimide-Thiol Conjugates. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2015**, *26*, 145–152.

(138) Kalia, D.; Pawar, S. P.; Thopate, J. S. Stable and Rapid Thiol Bioconjugation by Light-Triggered Thiomaleimide Ring Hydrolysis. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2017**, *56*, 1885–1889.

(139) Morais, M.; Nunes, J. P. M.; Karu, K.; Forte, N.; Benni, I.; Smith, M. E. B.; Caddick, S.; Chudasama, V.; Baker, J. R. Optimisation of the Dibromomaleimide (DBM) Platform for Native Antibody Conjugation by Accelerated Post-Conjugation Hydrolysis. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2017**, *15*, 2947–2952.

(140) Kalia, D.; Malekar, P. V.; Parthasarathy, M. Exocyclic Olefinic Maleimides: Synthesis and Application for Stable and Thiol-Selective Bioconjugation. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55*, 1432–1435.

(141) Lutolf, M. P.; Raeber, G. P.; Zisch, A. H.; Tirelli, N.; Hubbell, J. A. Cell-Responsive Synthetic Hydrogels. *Adv. Mater.* **2003**, *15*, 888–892.

(142) Lutolf, M. P.; Lauer-Fields, J. L.; Schmoekel, H. G.; Metters, A. T.; Weber, F. E.; Fields, G. B.; Hubbell, J. a. Synthetic Matrix Metalloproteinase-Sensitive Hydrogels for the Conduction of Tissue Regeneration: Engineering Cell-Invasion Characteristics. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2003**, *100*, 5413–5418.

(143) Lutolf, M. P.; Weber, F. E.; Schmoekel, H. G.; Schense, J. C.; Kohler, T.; Müller, R.; Hubbell, J. A. Repair of Bone Defects Using Synthetic Mimetics of Collagenous Extracellular Matrices. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2003**, *21*, 513–518.

(144) Zisch, A. H.; Lutolf, M. P.; Ehrbar, M.; Raeber, G. P.; Rizzi, S. C.; Davies, N.; Schmökel, H.; Bezuidenhout, D.; Djonov, V.; Zilla, P.; et al. Cell-Demanded Release of VEGF from Synthetic, Biointeractive Cell-Ingrowth Matrices for Vascularized Tissue Growth. *FASEB J.* **2003**, *17*, 2260–2262.

(145) Cheng, F.; Shang, J.; Ratner, D. M. A Versatile Method for Functionalizing Surfaces with Bioactive Glycans. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2011**, *22*, 50–57.

(146) Wang, H.; Cheng, F.; Li, M.; Peng, W.; Qu, J. Reactivity and Kinetics of Vinyl Sulfone-Functionalized Self-Assembled Monolayers for Bioactive Ligand Immobilization. *Langmuir* **2015**, *31*, 3413–3421.

(147) Park, Y.; Lutolf, M. P.; Hubbell, J. A.; Hunziker, E. B.; Wong, M. Bovine Primary Chondrocyte Culture in Synthetic Matrix Hydrogels as a Scaffold for Cartilage Repair. *Tissue Eng.* **2004**, *10*, 515–522.

(148) Rizzi, S. C.; Hubbell, J. A. Recombinant Protein- *Co*-PEG Networks as Cell-Adhesive and Proteolytically Degradable Hydrogel Matrixes. Part I: Development and Physicochemical Characteristics. *Biomacromolecules* **2005**, *6*, 1226–1238.

(149) Ehrbar, M.; Rizzi, S. C.; Hlushchuk, R.; Djonov, V.; Zisch, A. H.; Hubbell, J. A.; Weber, F. E.; Lutolf, M. P. Enzymatic Formation of Modular Cell-Instructive Fibrin Analogs for Tissue Engineering. *Biomaterials* **2007**, *28*, 3856–3866.

(150) Patterson, J.; Hubbell, J. A. Enhanced Proteolytic Degradation of Molecularly Engineered PEG Hydrogels in Response to MMP-1 and MMP-2. *Biomaterials* **2010**, *31*, 7836–7845.

(151) Seliktar, D.; Zisch, A. H.; Lutolf, M. P.; Wrana, J. L.; Hubbell, J. A. MMP-2 Sensitive, VEGF-Bearing Bioactive Hydrogels for Promotion of Vascular Healing. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.* **2004**, *68A*, 704–716.

(152) Hartwig, A.; Brand, R. H.; Pfeifer, C.; Dürr, N.; Drochner, A.; Vogel, H. Safety and Quality Aspects of Acrylic Monomers. *Macromol. Symp.* **2011**, *302*, 280–288.

(153) Elbert, D. L.; Hubbell, J. A. Conjugate Addition Reactions Combined with Free-Radical Cross-Linking for the Design of Materials for Tissue Engineering. *Biomacromolecules* **2001**, *2*, 430– 441.

(154) Halstenberg, S.; Panitch, A.; Rizzi, S.; Hall, H.; Hubbell, J. A. Biologically Engineered Protein-Graft-Poly (Ethylene Glycol) Hydrogels: A Cell Adhesive and Plasmin-Degradable Biosynthetic Material for Tissue Repair. *Biomacromolecules* **2002**, *3*, 710–723. (155) Shu, X. Z.; Ghosh, K.; Liu, Y.; Palumbo, F. S.; Luo, Y.; Clark, R. A.; Prestwich, G. D. Attachment and Spreading of Fibroblasts on an RGD Peptide-modified Injectable Hyaluronan Hydrogel. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.* **2004**, *68A*, 365–375.

(156) Murphy, W. L.; Dillmore, W. S.; Modica, J.; Mrksich, M. Dynamic Hydrogels: Translating a Protein Conformational Change into Macroscopic Motion. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2007**, *46*, 3066–3069.

(157) Herten, M.; Jung, R. E.; Ferrari, D.; Rothamel, D.; Golubovic, V.; Molenberg, A.; Hämmerle, C. H. F.; Becker, J.; Schwarz, F. Biodegradation of Different Synthetic Hydrogels Made of Polyethylene Glycol Hydrogel/RGD-Peptide Modifications: An Immunohistochemical Study in Rats. *Clin. Oral Implants Res.* **2009**, *20*, 116– 125.

(158) Galli, C.; Parisi, L.; Piergianni, M.; Smerieri, A.; Passeri, G.; Guizzardi, S.; Costa, F.; Lumetti, S.; Manfredi, E.; Macaluso, G. M. Improved Scaffold Biocompatibility through Anti-Fibronectin Aptamer Functionalization. *Acta Biomater.* **2016**, *42*, 147–156.

(159) Elbert, D. L.; Pratt, A. B.; Lutolf, M. P.; Halstenberg, S.; Hubbell, J. A. Protein Delivery from Materials Formed by Self-Selective Conjugate Addition Reactions. *J. Controlled Release* **2001**, *76*, 11–25.

(160) Hahn, S. K.; Oh, E. J.; Miyamoto, H.; Shimobouji, T. Sustained Release Formulation of Erythropoietin Using Hyaluronic Acid Hydrogels Crosslinked by Michael Addition. *Int. J. Pharm.* **2006**, 322, 44–51.

(161) Marklein, R. A.; Burdick, J. A. Spatially Controlled Hydrogel Mechanics to Modulate Stem Cell Interactions. *Soft Matter* **2010**, *6*, 136–143.

(162) Truong, V. X.; Ablett, M. P.; Richardson, S. M.; Hoyland, J. A.; Dove, A. P. Simultaneous Orthogonal Dual-Click Approach to Tough, In Situ-Forming Hydrogels for Cell Encapsulation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, *137*, 1618–1622.

(163) Cai, X. Y.; Li, J. Z.; Li, N. N.; Chen, J. C.; Kang, E.-T.; Xu, L. Q. PEG-Based Hydrogels Prepared by Catalyst-Free Thiol-Yne Addition and Their Post-Antibacterial Modification. *Biomater. Sci.* **2016**, *4*, 1663–1672.

(164) Truong, V. X.; Tsang, K. M.; Forsythe, J. S. Nonswelling Click-Cross-Linked Gelatin and PEG Hydrogels with Tunable Properties Using Pluronic Linkers. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 757–766.

(165) Singh, S.; Topuz, F.; Hahn, K.; Albrecht, K.; Groll, J. Embedding of Active Proteins and Living Cells in Redox-Sensitive Hydrogels and Nanogels through Enzymatic Cross-Linking. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 3000–3003.

(166) Lee, F.; Bae, K. H.; Kurisawa, M. Injectable Hydrogel Systems Crosslinked by Horseradish Peroxidase. *Biomed. Mater.* **2016**, *11*, 014101.

(167) Lösel, R.; Grafahrend, D.; Möller, M.; Klee, D. Bioresorbable Electrospun Fibers for Immobilization of Thiol-Containing Compounds. *Macromol. Biosci.* **2010**, *10*, 1177–1183.

(168) Bubenikova, S.; Stancu, I.-C.; Kalinovska, L.; Schacht, E.; Lippens, E.; Declercq, H.; Cornelissen, M.; Santin, M.; Amblard, M.; Martinez, J. Chemoselective Cross-Linking of Alginate with Thiol-Terminated Peptides for Tissue Engineering Applications. *Carbohydr. Polym.* **2012**, *88*, 1239–1250.

(169) Chong, S. F.; Smith, A. A. A.; Zelikin, A. N. Microstructured, Functional PVA Hydrogels through Bioconjugation with Oligopeptides under Physiological Conditions. *Small* **2013**, *9*, 942–950.

(170) Xu, Q.; Zhang, Z.; Xiao, C.; He, C.; Chen, X. Injectable Polypeptide Hydrogel as Biomimetic Scaffolds with Tunable Bioactivity and Controllable Cell Adhesion. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 1411–1418.

(171) Xu, Q.; He, C.; Zhang, Z.; Ren, K.; Chen, X. Injectable, Biomolecule-Responsive Polypeptide Hydrogels for Cell Encapsulation and Facile Cell Recovery through Triggered Degradation. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces **2016**, *8*, 30692–30702. (172) Owen, S. C.; Fisher, S. A.; Tam, R. Y.; Nimmo, C. M.; Shoichet, M. S. Hyaluronic Acid Click Hydrogels Emulate the Extracellular Matrix. *Langmuir* **2013**, *29*, 7393–7400.

(173) Toda, N.; Asano, S.; Barbas, C. F., III Rapid, Stable, Chemoselective Labeling of Thiols with Julia-Kocieński-like Reagents: A Serum-Stable Alternative to Maleimide-Based Protein Conjugation. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 12592–12596.

(174) Farrukh, A.; Paez, J. I.; Salierno, M.; del Campo, A. Bioconjugating Thiols to Poly(Acrylamide) Gels for Cell Culture Using Methylsulfonyl Co-Monomers. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55*, 2092–2096.

(175) Farrukh, A.; Paez, J. I. I.; Salierno, M. J.; Fan, W.; Berninger, B.; del Campo, A. Bifunctional Poly(Acrylamide) Hydrogels through Orthogonal Coupling Chemistries. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 906–913.

(176) Chudasama, V.; Smith, M. E. B.; Schumacher, F. F.; Papaioannou, D.; Waksman, G.; Baker, J. R.; Caddick, S. Bromopyridazinedione-Mediated Protein and Peptide Bioconjugation. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 8781–8783.

(177) Maruani, A.; Smith, M. E. B.; Miranda, E.; Chester, K. A.; Chudasama, V.; Caddick, S. A Plug-and-Play Approach to Antibody-Based Therapeutics via a Chemoselective Dual Click Strategy. *Nat. Commun.* **2015**, *6*, 6645.

(178) Bernardim, B.; Cal, P. M. S. D.; Matos, M. J.; Oliveira, B. L.; Martínez-Saéz, N.; Albuquerque, I. S.; Perkins, E.; Corzana, F.; Burtoloso, A. C. B.; Jiménez-Osés, G.; Bernardes, G. J. L.; et al. Stoichiometric and Irreversible Cysteine-Selective Protein Modification Using Carbonylacrylic Reagents. *Nat. Commun.* **2016**, *7*, 13128.

(179) Smith, N. J.; Rohlfing, K.; Sawicki, L. A.; Kharkar, P. M.; Boyd, S. J.; Kloxin, A. M.; Fox, J. M. Fast, Irreversible Modification of Cysteines through Strain Releasing Conjugate Additions of Cyclopropenyl Ketones. Org. Biomol. Chem. **2018**, *16*, 2164–2169.

(180) Milton, R. C.; Milton, S. C. F.; Kent, S. B. H. Total Chemical Synthesis of a D-Enzyme: The Enantiomers of HIV-1 Protease Show Demonstration of Reciprocal Chiral Substrate Specificity. *Science* **1992**, 256, 1445–1448.

(181) Dawson, P. E.; Muir, T. W.; Clark-Lewis, I.; Kent, S. B. H. Synthesis of Proteins by Native Chemical Ligation. *Science* **1994**, *266*, 776–779.

(182) Burke, H. M.; McSweeney, L.; Scanlan, E. M. Exploring Chemoselective S-to-N Acyl Transfer Reactions in Synthesis and Chemical Biology. *Nat. Commun.* **2017**, *8*, 15655.

(183) Hu, B.; Su, J.; Messersmith, P. B. Hydrogels Cross-Linked by Native Chemical Ligation. *Biomacromolecules* **2009**, *10*, 2194–2200.

(184) Jung, J. P.; Jones, J. L.; Cronier, S. A.; Collier, J. H. Modulating the Mechanical Properties of Self-Assembled Peptide Hydrogels via Native Chemical Ligation. *Biomaterials* **2008**, *29*, 2143–2151.

(185) Gupta, N.; Lin, B. F.; Campos, L. M.; Dimitriou, M. D.; Hikita, S. T.; Treat, N. D.; Tirrell, M. V.; Clegg, D. O.; Kramer, E. J.; Hawker, C. J. A Versatile Approach to High-Throughput Microarrays Using Thiol-Ene Chemistry. *Nat. Chem.* **2010**, *2*, 138–145.

(186) Huisgen, R. 1,3-Dipolar Cycloadditions Past and Future. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1963, 2, 565–598.

(187) Rostovtsev, V. V.; Green, L. G.; Fokin, V. V.; Sharpless, K. B. A Stepwise Huisgen Cycloaddition Process: Copper(I)-Catalyzed Regioselective "Ligation" of Azides and Terminal Alkynes. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2002**, *41*, 2596–2599.

(188) Tornøe, C. W.; Christensen, C.; Meldal, M. Peptidotriazoles on Solid Phase: [1,2,3]-Triazoles by Regiospecific Copper(I)-Catalyzed 1,3-Dipolar Cycloadditions of Terminal Alkynes to Azides. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 3057–3064.

(189) Castro, V.; Rodríguez, H.; Albericio, F. CuAAC: An Efficient Click Chemistry Reaction on Solid Phase. *ACS Comb. Sci.* **2016**, *18*, 1–14.

(190) Tiwari, V. K.; Mishra, B. B.; Mishra, K. B.; Mishra, N.; Singh, A. S.; Chen, X. Cu-Catalyzed Click Reaction in Carbohydrate Chemistry. *Chem. Rev.* **2016**, *116*, 3086–3240.

(191) McKay, C. S.; Finn, M. G. Click Chemistry in Complex Mixtures: Bioorthogonal Bioconjugation. *Chem. Biol.* **2014**, *21*, 1075–1101.

(192) Kempe, K.; Krieg, A.; Becer, C. R.; Schubert, U. S. Clicking" on/with Polymers: A Rapidly Expanding Field for the Straightforward Preparation of Novel Macromolecular Architectures. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2012**, *41*, 176–191.

(193) Iha, R. K.; Wooley, K. L.; Nyström, A. M.; Burke, D. J.; Kade, M. J.; Hawker, C. J. Applications of Orthogonal "Click" Chemistries in the Synthesis of Functional Soft Materials. *Chem. Rev.* **2009**, *109*, 5620–5686.

(194) Lutz, J. F. 1,3-Dipolar Cycloadditions of Azides and Alkynes: A Universal Ligation Tool in Polymer and Materials Science. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2007**, *46*, 1018–1025.

(195) Pickens, C. J.; Johnson, S. N.; Pressnall, M. M.; Leon, M.; Berkland, C. Practical Considerations, Challenges, and Limitations of Bioconjugation via Azide-Alkyne Cycloaddition. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2018**, *29*, 686–701.

(196) Ossipov, D. A.; Hilborn, J. Poly(Vinyl Alcohol)-Based Hydrogels Formed by "Click Chemistry. *Macromolecules* **2006**, *39*, 1709–1718.

(197) Malkoch, M.; Vestberg, R.; Gupta, N.; Mespouille, L.; Dubois, P.; Mason, A. F.; Hedrick, J. L.; Liao, Q.; Frank, C. W.; Kingsbury, K.; et al. Synthesis of Well-Defined Hydrogel Networks Using Click Chemistry. *Chem. Commun.* **2006**, *26*, 2774–2776.

(198) Polizzotti, B. D.; Fairbanks, B. D.; Anseth, K. S. Three-Dimensional Biochemical Patterning of Click-Based Composite Hydrogels via Thiolene Photopolymerization. *Biomacromolecules* **2008**, *9*, 1084–1087.

(199) He, X.; Ma, J.; Jabbari, E. Effect of Grafting RGD and BMP-2 Protein-Derived Peptides to a Hydrogel Substrate on Osteogenic Differentiation of Marrow Stromal Cells. *Langmuir* **2008**, *24*, 12508– 12516.

(200) Liu, S. Q.; Ee, P. L. R.; Ke, C. Y.; Hedrick, J. L.; Yang, Y. Y. Biodegradable Poly(Ethylene Glycol)-Peptide Hydrogels with Well-Defined Structure and Properties for Cell Delivery. *Biomaterials* **2009**, 30, 1453–1461.

(201) van Dijk, M.; van Nostrum, C. F.; Hennink, W. E.; Rijkers, D. T. S.; Liskamp, R. M. J. Synthesis and Characterization of Enzymatically Biodegradable PEG and Peptide-Based Hydrogels Prepared by Click Chemistry. *Biomacromolecules* **2010**, *11*, 1608–1614.

(202) Madl, C. M.; Heilshorn, S. C. Tyrosine-Selective Functionalization for Bio-Orthogonal Cross-Linking of Engineered Protein Hydrogels. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2017**, *28*, 724–730.

(203) Russo, L.; Landi, E.; Tampieri, A.; Natalello, A.; Doglia, S. M.; Gabrielli, L.; Cipolla, L.; Nicotra, F. Sugar-Decorated Hydroxyapatite: An Inorganic Material Bioactivated with Carbohydrates. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2011**, *346*, 1564–1568.

(204) Li, L.; Zhang, Z. Development and Applications of the Copper-Catalyzed Azide-Alkyne Cycloaddition (CuAAC) as a Bioorthogonal Reaction. *Molecules* **2016**, *21*, 1393.

(205) Kislukhin, A. A.; Hong, V. P.; Breitenkamp, K. E.; Finn, M. G. Relative Performance of Alkynes in Copper-Catalyzed Azide-Alkyne Cycloaddition. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2013**, *24*, 684–689.

(206) Zhong, W.; Sun, B.; Lu, C.; Yu, H.; Wang, C.; He, L.; Gu, J.; Chen, S.; Liu, Y.; Jing, X.; et al. Problems and Solutions in Click Chemistry Applied to Drug Probes. *Sci. Rep.* **2016**, *6*, 35579.

(207) Link, A. J.; Tirrell, D. A. Cell Surface Labeling of Escherichia Coli via Copper(I)-Catalyzed [3 + 2] Cycloaddition. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 11164–11165.

(208) Link, A. J.; Vink, M. K. S.; Agard, N. J.; Prescher, J. a.; Bertozzi, C. R.; Tirrell, D. A. Discovery of Aminoacyl-TRNA Synthetase Activity through Cell-Surface Display of Noncanonical Amino Acids. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2006, 103, 10180–10185.
(209) Kennedy, D. C.; McKay, C. S.; Legault, M. C. B.; Danielson, D. C.; Blake, J. A.; Pegoraro, A. F.; Stolow, A.; Mester, Z.; Pezacki, J. P. Cellular Consequences of Copper Complexes Used to Catalyze Bioorthogonal Click Reactions. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133, 17993–18001.

(210) Spicer, C. D.; Davis, B. G. Palladium-Mediated Site-Selective Suzuki-Miyaura Protein Modification at Genetically Encoded Aryl Halides. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 1698–1700.

(211) Mahmoud, Z. N.; Gunnoo, S. B.; Thomson, A. R.; Fletcher, J. M.; Woolfson, D. N. Bioorthogonal Dual Functionalization of Self-Assembling Peptide Fibers. *Biomaterials* **2011**, *32*, 3712–3720.

(212) Soriano del Amo, D.; Wang, W.; Jiang, H.; Besanceney, C.; Yan, A. C.; Levy, M.; Liu, Y.; Marlow, F. L.; Wu, P. Biocompatible Copper (I) Catalysts for in Vivo Imaging of Glycans. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2010**, *132*, 16893–16899.

(213) Uttamapinant, C.; Tangpeerachaikul, A.; Grecian, S.; Clarke, S.; Singh, U.; Slade, P.; Gee, K. R.; Ting, A. Y. Fast, Cell-Compatible Click Chemistry with Copper-Chelating Azides for Biomolecular Labeling. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2012**, *51*, 5852–5856.

(214) Jiang, H.; Zheng, T.; Lopez-Aguilar, A.; Feng, L.; Kopp, F.; Marlow, F. L.; Wu, P. Monitoring Dynamic Glycosylation in Vivo Using Supersensitive Click Chemistry. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2014**, *25*, 698–706.

(215) Adzima, B. J.; Tao, Y.; Kloxin, C. J.; DeForest, C. A.; Anseth, K. S.; Bowman, C. N. Spatial and Temporal Control of the Alkyne-Azide Cycloaddition by Photoinitiated Cu(II) Reduction. *Nat. Chem.* **2011**, *3*, 256–259.

(216) Chen, R. T.; Marchesan, S.; Evans, R. A.; Styan, K. E.; Such, G. K.; Postma, A.; McLean, K. M.; Muir, B. W.; Caruso, F. Photoinitiated Alkyne-Azide Click and Radical Cross-Linking Reactions for the Patterning of PEG Hydrogels. *Biomacromolecules* **2012**, *13*, 889–895.

(217) Agard, N. J.; Prescher, J. A.; Bertozzi, C. R. A Strain-Promoted [3 + 2] Azide-Alkyne Cycloaddition for Covalent Modification of Biomolecules in Living Systems. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126*, 15046–15047.

(218) Wittig, G.; Krebs, A. Zur Existenz Niedergliedriger Cycloalkine, I. Chem. Ber. 1961, 94, 3260-3275.

(219) Baskin, J. M.; Prescher, J. A.; Laughlin, S. T.; Agard, N. J.; Chang, P. V.; Miller, I. A.; Lo, A.; Codelli, J. A.; Bertozzi, C. R. Copper-Free Click Chemistry for Dynamic in Vivo Imaging. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2007**, *104*, 16793–16797.

(220) Laughlin, S. T.; Baskin, J. M.; Amacher, S. L.; Bertozzi, C. R. In Vivo Imaging of Membrane-Associated Glycans in Developing Zebrafish. *Science* **2008**, *320*, 664–667.

(221) Chang, P. V.; Prescher, J. A.; Sletten, E. M.; Baskin, J. M.; Miller, I. A.; Agard, N. J.; Lo, A.; Bertozzi, C. R. Copper-Free Click Chemistry in Living Animals. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2010**, *107*, 1821–1826.

(222) Baskin, J. M.; Dehnert, K. W.; Laughlin, S. T.; Amacher, S. L.; Bertozzi, C. R. Visualizing Enveloping Layer Glycans during Zebrafish Early Embryogenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2010**, *107*, 10360– 10365.

(223) Nikić, I.; Kang, J. H.; Girona, G. E.; Aramburu, I. V.; Lemke, E. A. Labeling Proteins on Live Mammalian Cells Using Click Chemistry. *Nat. Protoc.* **2015**, *10*, 780–791.

(224) Dommerholt, J.; Rutjes, F. P. J. T.; van Delft, F. L. Strain-Promoted 1,3-Dipolar Cycloaddition of Cycloalkynes and Organic Azides. *Top. Curr. Chem.* **2016**, *374*, 16.

(225) Guo, C.; Kim, H.; Ovadia, E. M.; Mourafetis, C. M.; Yang, M.; Chen, W.; Kloxin, A. M. Bio-Orthogonal Conjugation and Enzymatically Triggered Release of Proteins within Multi-Layered Hydrogels. *Acta Biomater.* **2017**, *56*, 80–90.

(226) Conte, M.; Staderini, S.; Marra, A.; Sanchez-Navarro, M.; Davis, B. G.; Dondoni, A. Multi-Molecule Reaction of Serum Albumin Can Occur through Thiol-Yne Coupling. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 11086–11088.

(227) van Geel, R.; Pruijn, G. J. M.; van Delft, F. L.; Boelens, W. C. Preventing Thiol-Yne Addition Improves the Specificity of Strain-Promoted Azide-Alkyne Cycloaddition. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2012**, *23*, 392–398.

(228) Karver, M. R.; Weissleder, R.; Hilderbrand, S. A. Bioorthogonal Reaction Pairs Enable Simultaneous, Selective, Multi-Target Imaging. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2012**, *51*, 920–922.

(229) Takahashi, A.; Suzuki, Y.; Suhara, T.; Omichi, K.; Shimizu, A.; Hasegawa, K.; Kokudo, N.; Ohta, S.; Ito, T. In Situ Cross-Linkable Hydrogel of Hyaluronan Produced via Copper-Free Click Chemistry. *Biomacromolecules* **2013**, *14*, 3581–3588.

(230) Tamura, M.; Yanagawa, F.; Sugiura, S.; Takagi, T.; Sumaru, K.; Kanamori, T. Click-Crosslinkable and Photodegradable Gelatin Hydrogels for Cytocompatible Optical Cell Manipulation in Natural Environment. *Sci. Rep.* **2015**, *5*, 15060.

(231) Chadwick, R. C.; Van Gyzen, S.; Liogier, S.; Adronov, A. Scalable Synthesis of Strained Cyclooctyne Derivatives. *Synthesis* **2014**, *46*, 669–677.

(232) DeForest, C. A.; Polizzotti, B. D.; Anseth, K. S. Sequential Click Reactions for Synthesizing and Patterning Three-Dimensional Cell Microenvironments. *Nat. Mater.* **2009**, *8*, 659–664.

(233) Deforest, C. A.; Sims, E. A.; Anseth, K. S. Peptide-Functionalized Click Hydrogels with Independently Tunable Mechanics and Chemical Functionality for 3D Cell Culture. *Chem. Mater.* **2010**, *22*, 4783–4790.

(234) DeForest, C. A.; Anseth, K. S. Cytocompatible Click-Based Hydrogels with Dynamically Tunable Properties through Orthogonal Photoconjugation and Photocleavage Reactions. *Nat. Chem.* **2011**, *3*, 925–931.

(235) DeForest, C. A.; Tirrell, D. A. A Photoreversible Protein-Patterning Approach for Guiding Stem Cell Fate in Three-Dimensional Gels. *Nat. Mater.* **2015**, *14*, 523–531.

(236) Xu, J.; Filion, T. M.; Prifti, F.; Song, J. Cytocompatible Poly(Ethylene Glycol)-Co-Polycarbonate Hydrogels Cross-Linked by Copper-Free, Strain-Promoted Click Chemistry. *Chem. - Asian J.* **2011**, *6*, 2730–2737.

(237) Zheng, J.; Smith Callahan, L. A.; Hao, J.; Guo, K.; Wesdemiotis, C.; Weiss, R. A.; Becker, M. L. Strain-Promoted Cross-Linking of PEG-Based Hydrogels via Copper- Free Cycloaddition. ACS Macro Lett. 2012, 1, 1071–1073.

(238) Barker, K.; Rastogi, S. K.; Dominguez, J.; Cantu, T.; Brittain, W.; Irvin, J.; Betancourt, T. Biodegradable DNA-Enabled Poly-(Ethylene Glycol) Hydrogels Prepared by Copper-Free Click Chemistry. J. Biomater. Sci., Polym. Ed. 2016, 27, 22–39.

(239) Azagarsamy, M. A.; Anseth, K. S. Wavelength-Controlled Photocleavage for the Orthogonal and Sequential Release of Multiple Proteins. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 13803–13807.

(240) Ham, T. R.; Farrag, M.; Leipzig, N. D. Covalent Growth Factor Tethering to Direct Neural Stem Cell Differentiation and Self-Organization. *Acta Biomater.* **2017**, *53*, 140–151.

(241) Finbloom, J. A.; Han, K.; Slack, C. C.; Furst, A. L.; Francis, M. B. Cucurbit[6]Uril-Promoted Click Chemistry for Protein Modification. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2017**, 139, 9691–9697.

(242) Oliveira, B. L.; Guo, Z.; Bernardes, G. J. L. Inverse Electron Demand Diels–Alder Reactions in Chemical Biology. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2017**, *46*, 4895–4950.

(243) Mayer, S.; Lang, K. Tetrazines in Inverse-Electron-Demand Diels–Alder Cycloadditions and Their Use in Biology. *Synthesis* **2017**, *49*, 830–848.

(244) Siegl, S. J.; Dzijak, R.; Vázquez, A.; Pohl, R.; Vrabel, M. The Discovery of Pyridinium 1,2,4-Triazines with Enhanced Performance in Bioconjugation Reactions. *Chem. Sci.* **201**7, *8*, 3593–3598.

(245) Blackman, M. L.; Royzen, M.; Fox, J. M. Tetrazine Ligation: Fast Bioconjugation Based on Inverse-Electron-Demand Diels-Alder Reactivity. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2008**, 130, 13518–13519.

(246) Devaraj, N. K.; Upadhyay, R.; Haun, J. B.; Hilderbrand, S. A.; Weissleder, R. Fast and Sensitive Pretargeted Labeling of Cancer Cells through a Tetrazine/Trans-Cyclooctene Cycloaddition. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2009**, *48*, 7013–7016.

(247) Taylor, M. T.; Blackman, M. L.; Dmitrenko, O.; Fox, J. M. Design and Synthesis of Highly Reactive Dienophiles for the for the Tetrazine- Trans-Cyclooctene Ligation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133*, 9646–9649.

(248) Darko, A.; Wallace, S.; Dmitrenko, O.; Machovina, M. M.; Mehl, R. A.; Chin, J. W.; Fox, J. M. Conformationally Strained Trans-Cyclooctene with Improved Stability and Excellent Reactivity in Tetrazine Ligation. *Chem. Sci.* **2014**, *5*, 3770–3776.

(249) Lang, K.; Davis, L.; Wallace, S.; Mahesh, M.; Cox, D. J.; Blackman, M. L.; Fox, J. M.; Chin, J. W. Genetic Encoding of Bicyclononynes and Trans-Cyclooctenes for Site-Specific Protein Labeling in Vitro and in Live Mammalian Cells via Rapid Fluorogenic Diels-Alder Reactions. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2012**, 134, 10317–10320.

(250) Devaraj, N. K.; Weissleder, R.; Hilderbrand, S. A. Tetrazine-Based Cycloadditions: Application to Pretargeted Live Cell Imaging. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2008**, *19*, 2297–2299.

(251) Lang, K.; Davis, L.; Torres-kolbus, J.; Chou, C.; Deiters, A.; Chin, J. W. Genetically Encoded Norbornene Directs Site-Specific Cellular Protein Labelling via a Rapid Bioorthogonal Reaction. *Nat. Chem.* **2012**, *4*, 298–304.

(252) Kaya, E.; Vrabel, M.; Deiml, C.; Prill, S.; Fluxa, V. S.; Carell, T. A Genetically Encoded Norbornene Amino Acid for the Mild and Selective Modification of Proteins in a Copper-Free Click Reaction. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2012**, *51*, 4466–4469.

(253) Ramil, C. P.; Dong, M.; An, P.; Lewandowski, T. M.; Yu, Z.; Miller, L. J.; Lin, Q. Spirohexene-Tetrazine Ligation Enables Bioorthogonal Labeling of Class B G Protein-Coupled Receptors in Live Cells. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2017**, *139*, 13376–13386.

(254) Zhou, H.; Woo, J.; Cok, A. M.; Wang, M.; Olsen, B. D.; Johnson, J. A. Counting Primary Loops in Polymer Gels. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2012**, *109*, 19119–19124.

(255) Desai, R. M.; Koshy, S. T.; Hilderbrand, S. A.; Mooney, D. J.; Joshi, N. S. Versatile Click Alginate Hydrogels Crosslinked via Tetrazine-Norbornene Chemistry. *Biomaterials* **2015**, *50*, 30–37.

(256) Png, Z. M.; Zeng, H.; Ye, Q.; Xu, J. Inverse Electron-Demand Diels-Alder Reactions: Principles and Applications. *Chem. - Asian J.* **2017**, *12*, 2142–2159.

(257) Beckmann, H. S. G.; Niederwieser, A.; Wiessler, M.; Wittmann, V. Preparation of Carbohydrate Arrays by Using Diels-Alder Reactions with Inverse Electron Demand. *Chem. - Eur. J.* 2012, *18*, 6548–6554.

(258) Alge, D. L.; Azagarsamy, M. A.; Donohue, D. F.; Anseth, K. S. Synthetically Tractable Click Hydrogels for Three-Dimensional Cell Culture Formed Using Tetrazine-Norbornene Chemistry. *Biomacromolecules* **2013**, *14*, 949–953.

(259) Rideout, D. C.; Breslow, R. Hydrophobic Acceleration of Diels-Alder Reactions. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1980**, 102, 7816–7817.

(260) Gandini, A. The Furan/Maleimide Diels-Alder Reaction: A Versatile Click-Unclick Tool in Macromolecular Synthesis. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* **2013**, *38*, 1–29.

(261) Otto, S.; Blokzijl, W.; Engberts, J. B. F. N. Diels-Alder Reactions in Water. Effects of Hydrophobicity and Hydrogen Bonding. J. Org. Chem. **1994**, 59, 5372–5376.

(262) Liu, Y.-L.; Hsieh, C.-Y.; Chen, Y.-W. Thermally Reversible Cross-Linked Polyamides and Thermo-Responsive Gels by Means of Diels-Alder Reaction. *Polymer* **2006**, 47, 2581–2586.

(263) Wei, H.-L.; Yang, Z.; Zheng, L.-M.; Shen, Y.-M. Thermosensitive Hydrogels Synthesized by Fast Diels-Alder Reaction in Water. *Polymer* **2009**, *50*, 2836–2840.

(264) Wei, H.-L.; Yang, Z.; Chu, H.-J.; Zhu, J.; Li, Z.-C.; Cui, J.-S. Facile Preparation of Poly(N-Isopropylacrylamide)-Based Hydrogels via Aqueous Diels-Alder Click Reaction. *Polymer* **2010**, *51*, 1694–1702.

(265) Goldmann, A. S.; Tischer, T.; Barner, L.; Bruns, M.; Barner-Kowollik, C. Mild and Modular Surface Modification of Cellulose via Hetero Diels-Alder (HDA) Cycloaddition. *Biomacromolecules* **2011**, *12*, 1137–1145.

(266) Kalaoglu-Altan, O. I.; Kirac-Aydin, A.; Sumer Bolu, B.; Sanyal, R.; Sanyal, A. Diels-Alder "Clickable" Biodegradable Nanofibers: Benign Tailoring of Scaffolds for Biomolecular Immobilization and Cell Growth. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2017**, *28*, 2420–2428.

(267) Baker, A. E. G.; Tam, R. Y.; Shoichet, M. S. Independently Tuning the Biochemical and Mechanical Properties of 3D Review

to Culture Breast Cancer Spheroids. *Biomacromolecules* 2017, 18, 4373-4384. (268) Koehler, K. C.; Anseth, K. S.; Bowman, C. N. Diels-Alder

(208) Koehler, K. C.; Anseth, K. S.; Bowman, C. N. Diels-Alder Mediated Controlled Release from a Poly(Ethylene Glycol) Based Hydrogel. *Biomacromolecules* **2013**, *14*, 538–547.

(269) Fisher, S. A.; Anandakumaran, P. N.; Owen, S. C.; Shoichet, M. S. Tuning the Microenvironment: Click-Crosslinked Hyaluronic Acid-Based Hydrogels Provide a Platform for Studying Breast Cancer Cell Invasion. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2015**, *25*, 7163–7172.

(270) Canadell, J.; Fischer, H.; De With, G.; Van Benthem, R. A. T. M. Stereoisomeric Effects in Thermo-Remendable Polymer Networks Based on Diels-Alder Crosslink Reactions. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 2010, 48, 3456–3467.

(271) Kölmel, D. K.; Kool, E. T. Oximes and Hydrazones in Bioconjugation: Mechanism and Catalysis. *Chem. Rev.* 2017, 117, 10358–10376.

(272) Kalia, J.; Raines, R. T. Hydrolytic Stability of Hydrazones and Oximes. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2008**, 47, 7523–7526.

(273) Deng, G.; Tang, C.; Li, F.; Jiang, H.; Chen, Y. Covalent Cross-Linked Polymer Gels with Reversible Sol-Gel Transition and Self-Healing Properties. *Macromolecules* **2010**, *43*, 1191–1194.

(274) McKinnon, D. D.; Domaille, D. W.; Cha, J. N.; Anseth, K. S. Biophysically Defined and Cytocompatible Covalently Adaptable Networks as Viscoelastic 3D Cell Culture Systems. *Adv. Mater.* **2014**, *26*, 865–872.

(275) Boehnke, N.; Cam, C.; Bat, E.; Segura, T.; Maynard, H. D. Imine Hydrogels with Tunable Degradability for Tissue Engineering. *Biomacromolecules* **2015**, *16*, 2101–2108.

(276) Oommen, O. P.; Wang, S.; Kisiel, M.; Sloff, M.; Hilborn, J.; Varghese, O. P. Smart Design of Stable Extracellular Matrix Mimetic Hydrogel: Synthesis, Characterization, and in Vitro and in Vivo Evaluation for Tissue Engineering. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2013**, *23*, 1273–1280.

(277) McKinnon, D. D.; Domaille, D. W.; Cha, J. N.; Anseth, K. S. Bis-Aliphatic Hydrazone-Linked Hydrogels Form Most Rapidly at Physiological PH: Identifying the Origin of Hydrogel Properties with Small Molecule Kinetic Studies. *Chem. Mater.* **2014**, *26*, 2382–2387.

(278) McKinnon, D. D.; Domaille, D. W.; Brown, T. E.; Kyburz, K. A.; Kiyotake, E.; Cha, J. N.; Anseth, K. S. Measuring Cellular Forces Using Bis-Aliphatic Hydrazone Crosslinked Stress-Relaxing Hydrogels. *Soft Matter* **2014**, *10*, 9230–9236.

(279) Noteborn, W. E. M.; Zwagerman, D. N. H.; Talens, V. S.; Maity, C.; van der Mee, L.; Poolman, J. M.; Mytnyk, S.; van Esch, J. H.; Kros, A.; Eelkema, R.; et al. Crosslinker-Induced Effects on the Gelation Pathway of a Low Molecular Weight Hydrogel. *Adv. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 1603769.

(280) Esser-Kahn, A. P.; Francis, M. B. Protein-Cross-Linked Polymeric Materials through Site-Selective Bioconjugation. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2008**, 47, 3751–3754.

(281) Esser-kahn, A. P.; Iavarone, A. T.; Francis, M. B. Metallothionein-Cross-Linked Hydrogels for the Selective Removal of Heavy Metals from Water. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2008**, *130*, 15820– 15822.

(282) Grover, G. N.; Lam, J.; Nguyen, T. H.; Segura, T.; Maynard, H. D. Biocompatible Hydrogels by Oxime Click Chemistry. *Biomacromolecules* **2012**, *13*, 3013–3017.

(283) Onodera, T.; Niikura, K.; Iwasaki, N.; Nagahori, N.; Shimaoka, H.; Kamitani, R.; Majima, T.; Minami, A.; Nishimura, S.-I. Specific Cell Behavior of Human Fibroblast onto Carbohydrate Surface Detected by Glycoblotting Films. *Biomacromolecules* **2006**, *7*, 2949–2955.

(284) Grover, G. N.; Braden, R. L.; Christman, K. L. Oxime Cross-Linked Injectable Hydrogels for Catheter Delivery. *Adv. Mater.* 2013, 25, 2937–2942.

(285) Dirksen, A.; Hackeng, T. M.; Dawson, P. E. Nucleophilic Catalysis of Oxime Ligation. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2006**, *45*, 7581–7584.

(286) Thygesen, M. B.; Munch, H.; Sauer, J.; Cló, E.; Jørgensen, M. R.; Hindsgaul, O.; Jensen, K. J. Nucleophilic Catalysis of Carbohydrate Oxime Formation by Anilines. J. Org. Chem. 2010, 75, 1752–1755.

(287) Patenaude, M.; Campbell, S.; Kinio, D.; Hoare, T. Tuning Gelation Time and Morphology of Injectable Hydrogels Using Ketone–Hydrazide Cross-Linking. *Biomacromolecules* **2014**, *15*, 781–790.

(288) Lopachin, R. M.; Gavin, T. Molecular Mechanisms of Aldehyde Toxicity: A Chemical Perspective. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* **2014**, *27*, 1081–1091.

(289) Bojarová, P.; Rosencrantz, R. R.; Elling, L.; Křen, V. Enzymatic Glycosylation of Multivalent Scaffolds. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2013**, 42, 4774–4797.

(290) Liang, D.-M.; Liu, J.-H.; Wu, H.; Wang, B.-B.; Zhu, H.-J.; Qiao, J.-J. Glycosyltransferases: Mechanisms and Applications in

Natural Product Development. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2015**, *44*, 8350–8374. (291) Danby, P. M.; Withers, S. G. Advances in Enzymatic Glycoside Synthesis. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2016**, *11*, 1784–1794.

(292) Transglutaminases: Family of Enzymes with Diverse Functions; Mehta, K., Eckert, R. L., Eds.; Karger Medical and Scientific Publishers: Basel, Switzerland, 2005.

(293) Esposito, C.; Caputo, I. Mammalian Transglutaminases: Identification of Substrates as a Key to Physiological Function and Physiopathological Relevance. *FEBS J.* **2005**, *272*, 615–631.

(294) Sperinde, J. J.; Griffith, L. G. Synthesis and Characterization of Enzymatically-Cross-Linked Poly(Ethylene Glycol) Hydrogels. *Macromolecules* **1997**, *30*, 5255–5264.

(295) Hu, B.-H.; Messersmith, P. B. Rational Design of Transglutaminase Substrate Peptides for Rapid Enzymatic Formation of Hydrogels. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2003**, 125, 14298–14299.

(296) McHale, M. K.; Setton, L. A.; Chilkoti, A. Synthesis and in Vitro Evaluation of Enzymatically Cross-Linked Elastin-Like Polypeptide Gels for Cartilaginous Tissue Repair. *Tissue Eng.* **2005**, *11*, 1768–1779.

(297) Davis, N. E.; Karfeld-Sulzer, L. S.; Ding, S.; Barron, A. E. Synthesis and Characterization of a New Class of Cationic Protein Polymers for Multivalent Display and Biomaterial Applications. *Biomacromolecules* **2009**, *10*, 1125–1134.

(298) Nikolajsen, C. L.; Dyrlund, T. F.; Poulsen, E. T.; Enghild, J. J.; Scavenius, C. Coagulation Factor XIIIa Substrates in Human Plasma: Identification and Incorporation into the Clot. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2014**, 289, 6526–6534.

(299) Schense, J. C.; Hubbell, J. A. Cross-Linking Exogenous Bifunctional Peptides into Fibrin Gels with Factor XIIIa. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **1999**, *10*, 75–81.

(300) Schense, J. C.; Bloch, J.; Aebischer, P.; Hubbell, J. A. Enzymatic Incorporation of Bioactive Peptides into Fibrin Matrices Enhances Neurite Extension. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2000**, *18*, 415–419.

(301) Ehrbar, M.; Rizzi, S. C.; Schoenmakers, R. G.; San Miguel, B.; Hubbell, J. A.; Weber, F. E.; Lutolf, M. P. Biomolecular Hydrogels Formed and Degraded via Site-Specific Enzymatic Reactions. *Biomacromolecules* **2007**, *8*, 3000–3007.

(302) Li, S.; Nih, L. R.; Bachman, H.; Fei, P.; Li, Y.; Nam, E.; Dimatteo, R.; Carmichael, S. T.; Barker, T. H.; Segura, T. Hydrogels with Precisely Controlled Integrin Activation Dictate Vascular Patterning and Permeability. *Nat. Mater.* **2017**, *16*, 953–961.

(303) Sakiyama-Elbert, S. E.; Panitch, A.; Hubbell, J. A. Development of Growth Factor Fusion Proteins for Cell-Triggered Drug Delivery. *FASEB J.* **2001**, *15*, 1300–1302.

(304) Zisch, A. H.; Schenk, U.; Schense, J. C.; Sakiyama-Elbert, S. E.; Hubbell, J. A. Covalently Conjugated VEGF-Fibrin Matrices for Endothelialization. *J. Controlled Release* **2001**, *72*, 101–113.

(305) Michon, T.; Chenu, M.; Kellershon, N.; Desmadril, M.; Guéguen, J. Horseradish Peroxidase Oxidation of Tyrosine-Containing Peptides and Their Subsequent Polymerization: A Kinetic Study. *Biochemistry* **1997**, *36*, 8504–8513.

(306) Lee, F.; Chung, J. E.; Kurisawa, M. An Injectable Enzymatically Crosslinked Hyaluronic Acid–Tyramine Hydrogel System with Independent Tuning of Mechanical Strength and Gelation Rate. *Soft Matter* **2008**, *4*, 880–887.

(307) Wang, L. S.; Chung, J. E.; Pui-Yik Chan, P.; Kurisawa, M. Injectable Biodegradable Hydrogels with Tunable Mechanical Properties for the Stimulation of Neurogenesic Differentiation of Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells in 3D Culture. *Biomaterials* 2010, 31, 1148–1157.

(308) Wang, L. S.; Boulaire, J.; Chan, P. P. Y.; Chung, J. E.; Kurisawa, M. The Role of Stiffness of Gelatin-Hydroxyphenylpropionic Acid Hydrogels Formed by Enzyme-Mediated Crosslinking on the Differentiation of Human Mesenchymal Stem Cell. *Biomaterials* **2010**, *31*, 8608–8616.

(309) Nicell, J. A.; Wright, H. A Model of Peroxidase Activity with Inhibition by Hydrogen Peroxide. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* **1997**, *21*, 302–310.

(310) Kurisawa, M.; Chung, J. E.; Yang, Y. Y.; Gao, S. J.; Uyama, H. Injectable Biodegradable Hydrogels Composed of Hyaluronic Acid Tyramine Conjugates for Drug Delivery and Tissue Engineering. *Chem. Commun.* **2005**, *53*, 4312–4314.

(311) Sofia, S. J.; Singh, A.; Kaplan, D. L. Peroxidase-Catalysed Crosslinking of Functionalized Polyaspartic Acid Polymers. J. Macromol. Sci., Part A: Pure Appl.Chem. 2002, 39, 1151–1181.

(312) Jin, R.; Hiemstra, C.; Zhong, Z.; Feijen, J. Enzyme-Mediated Fast in Situ Formation of Hydrogels from Dextran-Tyramine Conjugates. *Biomaterials* **2007**, *28*, 2791–2800.

(313) Jin, R.; Moreira Teixeira, L. S.; Dijkstra, P. J.; Zhong, Z.; van Blitterswijk, C. A.; Karperien, M.; Feijen, J. Enzymatically Crosslinked Dextran-Tyramine Hydrogels as Injectable Scaffolds for Cartilage Tissue Engineering. Tissue Eng. *Tissue Eng., Part A* **2010**, *16*, 2429–2440.

(314) Park, K. D. K. M.; Ko, K. S.; Joung, Y. K.; Shin, H.; Park, K. D. K. M. In Situ Cross-Linkable Gelatin-poly(Ethylene Glycol)tyramine Hydrogel via Enzyme-Mediated Reaction for Tissue Regenerative Medicine. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2011**, *21*, 13180–13187.

(315) Xu, K.; Lee, F.; Gao, S. J.; Chung, J. E.; Yano, H.; Kurisawa, M. Injectable Hyaluronic Acid-Tyramine Hydrogels Incorporating Interferon-A2a for Liver Cancer Therapy. *J. Controlled Release* **2013**, *166*, 203–210.

(316) Lee, F.; Kurisawa, M. Formation and Stability of Interpenetrating Polymer Network Hydrogels Consisting of Fibrin and Hyaluronic Acid for Tissue Engineering. *Acta Biomater.* **2013**, *9*, 5143–5152.

(317) Park, K. M.; Jun, I.; Joung, Y. K.; Shin, H.; Park, K. D. In Situ Hydrogelation and RGD Conjugation of Tyramine-Conjugated 4-Arm PPO-PEO Block Copolymer for Injectable Bio-Mimetic Scaffolds. *Soft Matter* **2011**, *7*, 986–992.

(318) Park, K. M.; Lee, Y.; Son, J. Y.; Bae, J. W.; Park, K. D. In Situ SVVYGLR Peptide Conjugation into Injectable Gelatin-Poly-(Ethylene Glycol)-Tyramine Hydrogel via Enzyme-Mediated Reaction for Enhancement of Endothelial Cell Activity and Neo-Vascularization. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2012**, *23*, 2042–2050.

(319) Menzies, D. J.; Cameron, A.; Munro, T.; Wolvetang, E.; Grøndahl, L.; Cooper-White, J. J. Tailorable Cell Culture Platforms from Enzymatically Cross-Linked Multifunctional Poly(Ethylene Glycol)-Based Hydrogels. *Biomacromolecules* **2013**, *14*, 413–423.

(320) Stefanov, I.; Pérez-Rafael, S.; Hoyo, J.; Cailloux, J.; Santana Pérez, O. O.; Hinojosa-Caballero, D.; Tzanov, T. Multifunctional Enzymatically Generated Hydrogels for Chronic Wound Application. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 1544–1555.

(321) Kakinoki, S.; Yamaoka, T. Single-Step Immobilization of Cell Adhesive Peptides on a Variety of Biomaterial Substrates via Tyrosine Oxidation with Copper Catalyst and Hydrogen Peroxide. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2015**, *26*, 639–644.

(322) Jing, C.; Cornish, V. W. Chemical Tags for Labeling Proteins inside Living Cells. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2011**, *44*, 784–792.

(323) Mosiewicz, K. A.; Johnsson, K.; Lutolf, M. P. Phosphopantetheinyl Transferase-Catalyzed Formation of Bioactive Hydrogels for Tissue Engineering. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2010**, 132, 5972–5974. (324) Mao, H.; Hart, S. A.; Schink, A.; Pollok, B. A. Sortase-Mediated Protein Ligation: A New Method for Protein Engineering. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126*, 2670–2671.

(325) Cambria, E.; Renggli, K.; Ahrens, C. C.; Cook, C. D.; Kroll, C.; Krueger, A. T.; Imperiali, B.; Griffith, L. G. Covalent Modification of Synthetic Hydrogels with Bioactive Proteins via Sortase-Mediated Ligation. *Biomacromolecules* **2015**, *16*, 2316–2326.

(326) Witte, M. D.; Wu, T.; Guimaraes, C. P.; Theile, C. S.; Blom, A. E. M.; Ingram, J. R.; Li, Z.; Kundrat, L.; Goldberg, S. D.; Ploegh, H. L. Site-Specific Protein Modification Using Immobilized Sortase in Batch and Continuous-Flow Systems. *Nat. Protoc.* **2015**, *10*, 508–516.

(327) Gau, E.; Mate, D. M.; Zou, Z.; Oppermann, A.; Töpel, A.; Jakob, F.; Wöll, D.; Schwaneberg, U.; Pich, A. Sortase-Mediated Surface Functionalization of Stimuli-Responsive Microgels. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 2789–2798.

(328) Antos, J. M.; Truttmann, M. C.; Ploegh, H. L. Recent Advances in Sortase-Catalyzed Ligation Methodology. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* **2016**, *38*, 111–118.

(329) Glasgow, J. E.; Salit, M. L.; Cochran, J. R. In Vivo Site-Specific Protein Tagging with Diverse Amines Using an Engineered Sortase Variant. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2016**, 138, 7496–7499.

(330) Chen, I.; Howarth, M.; Lin, W.; Ting, A. Y. Site-Specific Labeling of Cell Surface Proteins with Biophysical Probes Using Biotin Ligase. *Nat. Methods* **2005**, *2*, 99–104.

(331) Rabuka, D.; Rush, J. S.; deHart, G. W.; Wu, P.; Bertozzi, C. R. Site-Specific Chemical Protein Conjugation Using Genetically Encoded Aldehyde Tags. *Nat. Protoc.* **2012**, *7*, 1052–1067.

(332) Uttamapinant, C.; White, K. A.; Baruah, H.; Thompson, S.; Fernández-Suárez, M.; Puthenveetil, S.; Ting, A. Y. A Fluorophore Ligase for Site-Specific Protein Labeling Inside Living Cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2010**, *107*, 10914–10919.

(333) Weeks, A. M.; Wells, J. A. Engineering Peptide Ligase Specificity by Proteomic Identification of Ligation Sites. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **2017**, *14*, 50–57.

(334) Zakeri, B.; Howarth, M. Spontaneous Intermolecular Amide Bond Formation between Side Chains for Irreversible Peptide Targeting. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2010**, 132, 4526–4527.

(335) Zakeri, B.; Fierer, J. O.; Celik, E.; Chittock, E. C.; Schwarz-Linek, U.; Moy, V. T.; Howarth, M. Peptide Tag Forming a Rapid Covalent Bond to a Protein, through Engineering a Bacterial Adhesin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2012**, *109*, E690–E697.

(336) Sun, F.; Zhang, W.-B.; Mahdavi, A.; Arnold, F. H.; Tirrell, D. A. Synthesis of Bioactive Protein Hydrogels by Genetically Encoded SpyTag-SpyCatcher Chemistry. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2014, *111*, 11269–11274.

(337) Gao, X.; Lyu, S.; Li, H. Decorating a Blank Slate Protein Hydrogel: A General and Robust Approach for Functionalizing Protein Hydrogels. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 3726–3732.

(338) Liu, Y.; Liu, D.; Yang, W.; Wu, X.-L.; Lai, L.; Zhang, W.-B. Tuning SpyTag-SpyCatcher Mutant Pairs toward Orthogonal Reactivity Encryption. *Chem. Sci.* **2017**, *8*, 6577–6582.

(339) Nuttelman, C. R.; Rice, M. A.; Rydholm, A. E.; Salinas, C. N.; Shah, D. N.; Anseth, K. S. Macromolecular Monomers for the Synthesis of Hydrogel Niches and Their Application in Cell Encapsulation and Tissue Engineering. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* **2008**, 33, 167–179.

(340) Matyjaszewski, K.; Xia, J. Atom Transfer Radical Polymerization. *Chem. Rev.* **2001**, *101*, 2921–2990.

(341) Delplace, V.; Nicolas, J. Degradable Vinyl Polymers for Biomedical Applications. *Nat. Chem.* **2015**, *7*, 771–784.

(342) Cobo, I.; Li, M.; Sumerlin, B. S.; Perrier, S. Smart Hybrid Materials by Conjugation of Responsive Polymers to Biomacromolecules. *Nat. Mater.* **2015**, *14*, 143–159.

(343) Shu, J. Y.; Panganiban, B.; Xu, T. Peptide-Polymer Conjugates: From Fundamental Science to Application. *Annu. Rev. Phys. Chem.* **2013**, *64*, 631–657.

(344) Pelegri-O'Day, E. M.; Lin, E.; Maynard, H. D. Therapeutic Protein–Polymer Conjugates: Advancing Beyond PEGylation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2014**, 136, 14323–14332. (345) Qi, Y.; Chilkoti, A. Protein-Polymer Conjugation - Moving beyond PEGylation. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 2015, 28, 181–193.

(346) Matyjaszewski, K.; Spanswick, J. Controlled/Living Radical Polymerization. *Mater. Today* **2005**, *8*, 26–33.

(347) Chen, M.; Zhong, M.; Johnson, J. A. Light-Controlled Radical Polymerization: Mechanisms, Methods, and Applications. *Chem. Rev.* **2016**, *116*, 10167–10211.

(348) Weigel, P. H.; Schmell, E.; Lee, Y. C.; Roseman, S. Specific Adhesion of Rat Hepatocytes to β -Galactosides Linked to Polyacrylamide Gels. J. Biol. Chem. **1978**, 253, 330–333.

(349) Plant, G. W.; Woerly, S.; Harvey, A. R. Hydrogels Containing Peptide or Aminosugar Sequences Implanted into the Rat Brain: Influence on Cellular Migration and Axonal Growth. *Exp. Neurol.* **1997**, *143*, 287–299.

(350) O'Brien-Simpson, N. M.; Ede, N. J.; Brown, L. E.; Swan, J.; Jackson, D. C. Polymerization of Unprotected Synthetic Peptides: A View toward Synthetic Peptide Vaccines. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1997**, *119*, 1183–1188.

(351) Baker, P. J.; Numata, K. Polymerization of Peptide Polymers for Biomaterial Applications. *Polym. Sci.* **2013**, 229–246.

(352) Wei, B.; Cheng, I.; Luo, K. Q.; Mi, Y. Capture and Release of Protein by a Reversible DNA-Induced Sol-Gel Transition System. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2008**, 47, 331–333.

(353) Soontornworajit, B.; Zhou, J.; Shaw, M. T.; Fan, T.-H.; Wang, Y. Hydrogel Functionalization with DNA Aptamers for Sustained PDGF-BB Release. *Chem. Commun.* **2010**, *46*, 1857–1859.

(354) Chen, N.; Zhang, Z.; Soontornworajit, B.; Zhou, J.; Wang, Y. Cell Adhesion on an Artificial Extracellular Matrix Using Aptamer-Functionalized PEG Hydrogels. *Biomaterials* **2012**, *33*, 1353–1362.

(355) Battig, M. R.; Huang, Y.; Chen, N.; Wang, Y. Aptamer-Functionalized Superporous Hydrogels for Sequestration and Release of Growth Factors Regulated via Molecular Recognition. *Biomaterials* **2014**, *35*, 8040–8048.

(356) Zhang, X.; Battig, M. R.; Chen, N.; Gaddes, E. R.; Duncan, K. L.; Wang, Y. Chimeric Aptamer-Gelatin Hydrogels as an Extracellular Matrix Mimic for Loading Cells and Growth Factors. *Biomacromolecules* **2016**, *17*, 778–787.

(357) Su, W.-F. Radical Chain Polymerization. In *Principles of Polymer Design and Synthesis. Lecture Notes in Chemistry;* Springer: Berlin, 2013; Vol. 82, pp 137–183.

(358) Brandley, B. K.; Schnaar, R. L. Covalent Attachment of an Arg-Gly-Asp Sequece Peptide to Derivatizable Polyacrylamide Surfaces: Support of Fibroblast Adhesion and Long-Term Growth. *Anal. Biochem.* **1988**, *172*, 270–278.

(359) Kloxin, A. M.; Kasko, A. M.; Salinas, C. N.; Anseth, K. S. Photodegradable Hydrogels for Dynamic Tuning of Physical and Chemical Properties. *Science* **2009**, *324*, 59–63.

(360) Auditore-Hargreaves, K.; Houghton, R. L.; Monji, N.; Priest, J. H.; Hoffman, A. S.; Nowinski, R. C. Phase-Separation Immunoassays. *Clin. Chem.* **1987**, 33, 1509–1516.

(361) Ehrick, J. D.; Deo, S. K.; Browning, T. W.; Bachas, L. G.; Madou, M. J.; Daunert, S. Genetically Engineered Protein in Hydrogels Tailors Stimuli-Responsive Characteristics. *Nat. Mater.* **2005**, *4*, 298–302.

(362) Yoshii, E. Cytotoxic Effects of Acrylates and Methacrylates: Relationships of Monomer Structures and Cytotoxicity. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. **1997**, 37, 517–524.

(363) Ligon, S. C.; Husár, B.; Wutzel, H.; Holman, R.; Liska, R. Strategies to Reduce Oxugen Inhibition in Photoinduced Polymerization. *Chem. Rev.* **2014**, *114*, 557–589.

(364) Ohno, K.; Tsujii, Y.; Fukuda, T. Synthesis of a Well-Defined Glycopolymer by Atom Transfer Radical Polymerization. *J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem.* **1998**, *36*, 2473–2481.

(365) Heredia, K. L.; Bontempo, D.; Ly, T.; Byers, J. T.; Halstenberg, S.; Maynard, H. D. In Situ Preparation of Protein -"Smart" Polymer Conjugates with Retention of Bioactivity. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2005**, 127, 16955–16960.

(366) Averick, S. E.; Magenau, A. J. D.; Simakova, A.; Woodman, B. F.; Seong, A.; Mehl, R. A.; Matyjaszewski, K. Covalently Incorporated

Protein-nanogels Using AGET ATRP in an Inverse Miniemulsion. *Polym. Chem.* **2011**, *2*, 1476–1478.

(367) Zhang, Q.; Collins, J.; Anastasaki, A.; Wallis, R.; Mitchell, D. A.; Becer, C. R.; Haddleton, D. M. Sequence-Controlled Multi-Block Glycopolymers to Inhibit DC-SIGN-Gp120 Binding. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 4435–4439.

(368) Lowe, A. B.; Sumerlin, B. S.; McCormick, C. L. The Direct Polymerization of 2-Methacryloxyethyl Glucoside via Aqueous Reversible Addition-Fragmentation Chain Transfer (RAFT) Polymerization. *Polymer* **2003**, *44*, 6761–6765.

(369) Fairbanks, B. D.; Gunatillake, P. A.; Meagher, L. Biomedical Applications of Polymers Derived by Reversible Addition -Fragmentation Chain-Transfer (RAFT). *Adv. Drug Delivery Rev.* **2015**, 91, 141–152.

(370) Chenal, M.; Boursier, C.; Guillaneuf, Y.; Taverna, M.; Couvreur, P.; Nicolas, J. First Peptide/Protein PEGylation with Functional Polymers Designed by Nitroxide-Mediated Polymerization. *Polym. Chem.* **2011**, *2*, 1523–1530.

(371) Pelegri-O'Day, E. M.; Maynard, H. D. Controlled Radical Polymerization as an Enabling Approach for the Next Generation of Protein-Polymer Conjugates. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2016**, *49*, 1777–1785.

(372) Liang, Y.; Li, L.; Scott, R. A.; Kiick, K. L. Polymeric Biomaterials: Diverse Functions Enabled by Advances in Macromolecular Chemistry. *Macromolecules* **201**7, *50*, 483–502.

(373) Yeow, J.; Chapman, R.; Gormley, A. J.; Boyer, C. Up in the Air: Oxygen Tolerance in Controlled/Living Radical Polymerisation. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2018**, *47*, 4357–4387.

(374) Niu, J.; Lunn, D. J.; Pusuluri, A.; Yoo, J. I.; O'Malley, M. A.; Mitragotri, S.; Soh, H. T.; Hawker, C. J. Engineering Live Cell Surfaces with Functional Polymers via Cytocompatible Controlled Radical Polymerization. *Nat. Chem.* **201**7, *9*, 537–545.

(375) Gormley, A. J.; Yeow, J.; Ng, G.; Conway, Ó.; Boyer, C.; Chapman, R. An Oxygen-Tolerant PET-RAFT Polymerization for Screening Structure-Activity Relationships. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2018**, 57, 1557–1562.

(376) Patel, P. R.; Kiser, R. C.; Lu, Y. Y.; Fong, E.; Ho, W. C.; Tirrell, D. A.; Grubbs, R. H. Synthesis and Cell Adhesive Properties of Linear and Cyclic RGD Functionalized Polynorbornene Thin Films. *Biomacromolecules* **2012**, *13*, 2546–2553.

(377) Maynard, H. D.; Okada, S. Y.; Grubbs, R. H. Synthesis of Norbornenyl Polymers with Bioactive Oligopeptides by Ring-Opening Metathesis Polymerization. *Macromolecules* **2000**, *33*, 6239–6248.

(378) Maynard, H. D.; Okada, S. Y.; Grubbs, R. H. Inhibition of Cell Adhesion to Fibronectin by Oligopeptide-Substituted Polynorbonenes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2001, *123*, 1275–1279.

(379) Hammer, J.; West, J. L. Dynamic Ligand Presentation in Biomaterials. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2018**, DOI: 10.1021/acs.bioconj-chem.8b00288.

(380) Kaur, M.; Srivastava, A. K. Photopolymerization: A Review. J. Macromol. Sci., Polym. Rev. 2002, 42, 481–512.

(381) Shao, J.; Huang, Y.; Fan, Q. Visible Light Initiating Systems for Photopolymerization: Status, Development and Challenges. *Polym. Chem.* **2014**, *5*, 4195–4210.

(382) Lowe, A. B. Thiol-Yne 'Click'/Coupling Chemistry and Recent Applications in Polymer and Materials Synthesis and Modification. *Polymer* **2014**, *55*, 5517–5549.

(383) Magin, C. M.; Alge, D. L.; Anseth, K. S. Bio-Inspired 3D Microenvironments: A New Dimension in Tissue Engineering. *Biomed. Mater.* **2016**, *11*, 022001.

(384) Raimondi, M. T.; Eaton, S. M.; Nava, M. M.; Laganà, M.; Cerullo, G.; Osellame, R. Two-Photon Laser Polymerization: From Fundamentals to Biomedical Application in Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine. *J. Appl. Biomater. Funct. Mater.* **2012**, *10*, 56– 66.

(385) Xing, J.-F.; Zheng, M.-L.; Duan, X.-M. Two-Photon Polymerization Microfabrication of Hydrogels: An Advanced 3D Printing Technology for Tissue Engineering and Drug Delivery. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2015**, *44*, 5031–5039. (386) Spangenberg, A.; Hobeika, N.; Stehlin, F.; Malval, J.-P.; Wieder, F.; Prabhakaran, P.; Baldeck, P.; Soppera, O. Recent Advances in Two-Photon Stereolithography. In *Updates in Advanced Lithography*; Hosaka, S., Ed.; InTech, 2013.

(387) Braun, D. Origins and Development of Initiation of Free Radical Polymerization Processes. *Int. J. Polym. Sci.* 2009, 2009, 893234.

(388) Fouassier, J.-P. Photoinitiation, Photopolymerization, and Photocuring: Fundamentals and Applications; Hanser: Munich, 1995.

(389) Nguyen, K. T.; West, J. L. Photopolymerizable Hydrogels for Tissue Engineering Applications. *Biomaterials* **2002**, *23*, 4307–4314. (390) Pathak, C. P.; Sawhney, A. S.; Hubbell, J. A. Rapid

Photopolymerization of Immunoprotective Gels in Contact with Cells and Tissue. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 8311-8312.

(391) Ligon, S. C.; Husár, B.; Wutzel, H.; Holman, R.; Liska, R. Strategies to Reduce Oxygen Inhibition in Photoinduced Polymerization. *Chem. Rev.* **2014**, *114*, 557–589.

(392) Hern, D. L.; Hubbell, J. A. Incorporation of Adhesion Peptides into Nonadhesive Hydrogels Useful for Tissue Resurfacing. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.* **1998**, *39*, 266–276.

(393) West, J. L.; Hubbell, J. A. Polymeric Biomaterials with Degradation Sites for Proteases Involved in Cell Migration. *Macromolecules* **1999**, *32*, 241–244.

(394) Mann, B. K.; Schmedlen, R. H.; West, J. L. Tethered-TGF-Beta Increases Extracellular Matrix Production of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells. *Biomaterials* **2001**, *22*, 439–444.

(395) Mann, B. K.; Gobin, A. S.; Tsai, A. T.; Schmedlen, R. H.; West, J. L. Smooth Muscle Cell Growth in Photopolymerized Hydrogels with Cell Adhesive and Proteolytically Degradable Domains: Synthetic ECM Analogs for Tissue Engineering. *Biomaterials* **2001**, *22*, 3045–3051.

(396) Gobin, A. S.; West, J. L. Cell Migration through Defined, Synthetic Extracellular Matrix Analogues. *FASEB J.* **2002**, *16*, 751–753.

(397) Nuttelman, C. R.; Tripodi, M. C.; Anseth, K. S. Synthetic Hydrogel Niches That Promote HMSC Viability. *Matrix Biol.* 2005, 24, 208–218.

(398) Moon, J. J.; Hahn, M. S.; Kim, I.; Nsiah, B. A.; West, J. L. Micropatterning of Poly(Ethylene Glycol) Diacrylate Hydrogels with Biomolecules to Regulate and Guide Endothelial Morphogenesis. *Tissue Eng., Part A* 2009, *15*, 579–585.

(399) Jeon, O.; Alsberg, E. Photofunctionalization of Alginate Hydrogels to Promote Adhesion and Proliferation of Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells. *Tissue Eng., Part A* **2013**, *19*, 1424–1432.

(400) Gobin, A. S.; West, J. L. Effects of Epidermal Growth Factor on Fibroblast Migration through Biomimetic Hydrogels. *Biotechnol. Prog.* **2003**, *19*, 1781–1785.

(401) DeLong, S. A.; Moon, J. J.; West, J. L. Covalently Immobilized Gradients of BFGF on Hydrogel Scaffolds for Directed Cell Migration. *Biomaterials* **2005**, *26*, 3227–3234.

(402) Sui, Z.; King, W. J.; Murphy, W. L. Dynamic Materials Based on a Protein Conformational Change. *Adv. Mater.* **2007**, *19*, 3377– 3380.

(403) Moon, J. J.; Lee, S.-H.; West, J. L. Synthetic Biomimetic Hydrogels Incorporated with Ephrin-A1 for Therapeutic Angiogenesis. *Biomacromolecules* **2007**, *8*, 42–49.

(404) Seidlits, S. K.; Drinnan, C. T.; Petersen, R. R.; Shear, J. B.; Suggs, L. J.; Schmidt, C. E. Fibronectin-Hyaluronic Acid Composite Hydrogels for Three-Dimensional Endothelial Cell Culture. *Acta Biomater.* **2011**, *7*, 2401–2409.

(405) Leslie-Barbick, J. E.; Shen, C.; Chen, C.; West, J. L. Micron-Scale Spatially Patterned, Covalently Immobilized Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor on Hydrogels Accelerates Endothelial Tubulogenesis and Increases Cellular Angiogenic Responses. *Tissue Eng., Part A* 2011, *17*, 221–229.

(406) Duan, B.; Hockaday, L. A.; Das, S.; Xu, C. Y.; Butcher, J. T. Comparison of Mesenchymal Stem Cell Source Differentiation towards Human Pediatric Aortic Valve Interstitial Cells within 3D Engineered Matrices. *Tissue Eng., Part C* **2015**, *21*, 795–807.

Chemical Reviews

(407) Hahn, M. S.; Miller, J. S.; West, J. L. Three-Dimensional Biochemical and Biomechanical Patterning of Hydrogels for Guiding Cell Behavior. *Adv. Mater.* **2006**, *18*, 2679–2684.

(408) Lee, S. H.; Moon, J. J.; West, J. L. Three-Dimensional Micropatterning of Bioactive Hydrogels via Two-Photon Laser Scanning Photolithography for Guided 3D Cell Migration. *Biomaterials* **2008**, *29*, 2962–2968.

(409) Hanjaya-Putra, D.; Wong, K. T.; Hirotsu, K.; Khetan, S.; Burdick, J. A.; Gerecht, S. Spatial Control of Cell-Mediated Degradation to Regulate Vasculogenesis and Angiogenesis in Hyaluronan Hydrogels. *Biomaterials* **2012**, *33*, 6123–6131.

(410) Fairbanks, B. D.; Schwartz, M. P.; Bowman, C. N.; Anseth, K. S. Photoinitiated Polymerization of PEG-Diacrylate with Lithium Phenyl-2,4,6-Trimethylbenzoylphosphinate: Polymerization Rate and Cytocompatibility. *Biomaterials* **2009**, *30*, 6702–6707.

(411) Choi, B.; Kim, S.; Lin, B.; Li, K.; Bezouglaia, O.; Kim, J.; Evseenko, D.; Aghaloo, T.; Lee, M. Visible-Light-Initiated Hydrogels Preserving Cartilage Extracellular Signaling for Inducing Chondrogenesis of Mesenchymal Stem Cells. *Acta Biomater.* **2015**, *12*, 30–41.

(412) Benedikt, S.; Wang, J.; Markovic, M.; Moszner, N.; Dietliker, K.; Ovsianikov, A.; Grützmacher, H.; Liska, R. Highly Efficient Water-Soluble Visible Light Photoinitiators. *J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem.* **2016**, *54*, 473–479.

(413) Day, J. R.; David, A.; Kim, J.; Farkash, E. A.; Cascalho, M.; Milašinović, N.; Shikanov, A. The Impact of Functional Groups of Poly(Ethylene Glycol) Macromers on the Physical Properties of Photo-Polymerized Hydrogels and the Local Inflammatory Response in the Host. *Acta Biomater.* **2018**, *67*, 42–52.

(414) Andreopoulos, F. M.; Roberts, M. J.; Bentley, M. D.; Harris, J. M.; Beckman, E. J.; Russell, A. J. Photoimmobilization of Organophosphorus Hydrolase Within a PEG-Based Hydrogel. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **1999**, *65*, 579–588.

(415) Rastogi, R. P.; Richa; Kumar, A.; Tyagi, M. B.; Sinha, R. P. Molecular Mechanisms of Ultraviolet Radiation-Induced DNA Damage and Repair. *J. Nucleic Acids* **2010**, *2010*, 592980.

(416) Leach, J. B.; Schmidt, C. E. Characterization of Protein Release from Photocrosslinkable Hyaluronic Acid-Polyethylene Glycol Hydrogel Tissue Engineering Scaffolds. *Biomaterials* 2005, 26, 125–135.

(417) Bryant, S. J.; Nuttelman, C. R.; Anseth, K. S. Cytocompatibility of UV and Visible Light Photoinitiating Systems on Cultured NIH/3T3 Fibroblasts in Vitro. *J. Biomater. Sci., Polym. Ed.* **2000**, *11*, 439–457.

(418) Williams, C. G.; Malik, A. N.; Kim, T. K.; Manson, P. N.; Elisseeff, J. H. Variable Cytocompatibility of Six Cell Lines with Photoinitiators Used for Polymerizing Hydrogels and Cell Encapsulation. *Biomaterials* **2005**, *26*, 1211–1218.

(419) Lin, C. C.; Raza, A.; Shih, H. PEG Hydrogels Formed by Thiol-Ene Photo-Click Chemistry and Their Effect on the Formation and Recovery of Insulin-Secreting Cell Spheroids. *Biomaterials* **2011**, 32, 9685–9695.

(420) McCall, J. D.; Anseth, K. S. Thiol-Ene Photopolymerizations Provide a Facile Method to Encapsulate Proteins and Maintain Their Bioactivity. *Biomacromolecules* **2012**, *13*, 2410–2417.

(421) Lin, C.-C.; Sawicki, S. M.; Metters, A. T. Free-Radical-Mediated Protein Inactivation and Recovery during Protein Photoencapsulation. *Biomacromolecules* **2008**, *9*, 75–83.

(422) Hawkins, C. L.; Davies, M. J. Generation and Propagation of Radical Reactions on Proteins. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta, Bioenerg.* 2001, 1504, 196–219.

(423) Farnsworth, N.; Bensard, C.; Bryant, S. J. The Role of the PCM in Reducing Oxidative Stress Induced by Radical Initiated Photoencapsulation of Chondrocytes in Poly(Ethylene Glycol) Hydrogels. *Osteoarthr. Cartil.* **2012**, *20*, 1326–1335.

(424) Roberts, J. J.; Bryant, S. J. Comparison of Photopolymerizable Thiol-Ene PEG and Acrylate-Based PEG Hydrogels for Cartilage Development. *Biomaterials* **2013**, *34*, 9969–9979.

(425) Wright, T. H.; Bower, B. J.; Chalker, J. M.; Bernardes, G. J. L.; Wiewiora, R.; Ng, W.-L.; Raj, R.; Faulkner, S.; Vallee, M. R. J.; Phanumartwiwath, A.; et al. Posttranslational Mutagenesis: A Chemical Strategy for Exploring Protein Side-Chain Diversity. *Science* **2016**, *354*, aag1465.

(426) Cadet, J.; Wagner, J. R. DNA Base Damage by Reactive Oxygen Species, Oxidizing Agents, and UV Radiation. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspect. Biol.* **2013**, *5*, a012559.

(427) Hoyle, C. E.; Bowman, C. N. Thiol-Ene Click Chemistry. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 1540-1573.

(428) Hoyle, C. E.; Lee, T. Y.; Roper, T. Thiol-Enes: Chemistry of the Past with Promise for the Future. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 2004, 42, 5301-5338.

(429) DeForest, C. A.; Anseth, K. S. Photoreversible Patterning of Biomolecules within Click-Based Hydrogels. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2012**, *51*, 1816–1819.

(430) Sawicki, L. A.; Kloxin, A. M. Design of Thiol-ene Photoclick Hydrogels Using Facile Techniques for Cell Culture Applications. *Biomater. Sci.* **2014**, *2*, 1612–1626.

(431) Benton, J. A.; Fairbanks, B. D.; Anseth, K. S. Characterization of Valvular Interstitial Cell Function in Three Dimensional Matrix Metalloproteinase Degradable PEG Hydrogels. *Biomaterials* **2009**, *30*, 6593–6603.

(432) Aimetti, A. A.; Machen, A. J.; Anseth, K. S. Poly(Ethylene Glycol) Hydrogels Formed by Thiol-Ene Photopolymerization for Enzyme-Responsive Protein Delivery. *Biomaterials* **2009**, *30*, 6048–6054.

(433) Schwartz, M. P.; Fairbanks, B. D.; Rogers, R. E.; Rangarajan, R.; Zaman, M. H.; Anseth, K. S. A Synthetic Strategy for Mimicking the Extracellular Matrix Provides New Insight about Tumor Cell Migration. *Integr. Biol.* **2010**, *2*, 32–40.

(434) Anderson, S. B.; Lin, C.-C.; Kuntzler, D. V.; Anseth, K. S. The Performance of Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells Encapsulated in Cell-Degradable Polymer-Peptide Hydrogels. *Biomaterials* **2011**, *32*, 3564–3574.

(435) Gould, S. T.; Darling, N. J.; Anseth, K. S. Small Peptide Functionalized Thiol-Ene Hydrogels as Culture Substrates for Understanding Valvular Interstitial Cell Activation and de Novo Tissue Deposition. *Acta Biomater.* **2012**, *8*, 3201–3209.

(436) Gramlich, W. M.; Kim, I. L.; Burdick, J. A. Synthesis and Orthogonal Photopatterning of Hyaluronic Acid Hydrogels with Thiol-Norbornene Chemistry. *Biomaterials* **2013**, *34*, 9803–9811.

(437) Mariner, P. D.; Wudel, J. M.; Miller, D. E.; Genova, E. E.; Streubel, S.-O.; Anseth, K. S. Synthetic Hydrogel Scaffold Is an Effective Vehicle for Delivery of INFUSE (RhBMP2) to Critical-Sized Calvaria Bone Defects in Rats. *J. Orthop. Res.* **2013**, *31*, 401–406.

(438) Sridhar, B. V.; Doyle, N. R.; Randolph, M. A.; Anseth, K. S. Covalently Tethered TGF-B1 with Encapsulated Chondrocytes in a PEG Hydrogel System Enhances Extracellular Matrix Production. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res., Part A* **2014**, *102*, 4464–4472.

(439) Sridhar, B. V.; Brock, J. L.; Silver, J. S.; Leight, J. L.; Randolph, M. A.; Anseth, K. S. Development of a Cellularly Degradable PEG Hydrogel to Promote Articular Cartilage Extracellular Matrix Deposition. *Adv. Healthcare Mater.* **2015**, *4*, 702–713.

(440) Pereira, R. F.; Barrias, C. C.; Bártolo, P. J.; Granja, P. L. Cell-Instructive Pectin Hydrogels Crosslinked via Thiol-Norbornene Photo-Click Chemistry for Skin Tissue Engineering. *Acta Biomater.* **2018**, *66*, 282–293.

(441) Exner, M. P.; Kuenzl, T.; To, T. M. T.; Ouyang, Z.; Schwagerus, S.; Hoesl, M. G.; Hackenberger, C. P. R.; Lensen, M. C.; Panke, S.; Budisa, N. Design of S -Allylcysteine in Situ Production and Incorporation Based on a Novel Pyrrolysyl-TRNA Synthetase Variant. *ChemBioChem* **2017**, *18*, 85–90.

(442) Salinas, C. N.; Anseth, K. S. Mixed Mode Thiol-Acrylate Photopolymerizations for the Synthesis of PEG-Peptide Hydrogels. *Macromolecules* **2008**, *41*, 6019–6026.

(443) Salinas, C. N.; Anseth, K. S. The Enhancement of Chondrogenic Differentiation of Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells by Enzymatically Regulated RGD Functionalities. *Biomaterials* 2008, 29, 2370–2377.

Review

(444) Gandavarapu, N. R.; Azagarsamy, M. A.; Anseth, K. S. Photo-Click Living Strategy for Controlled, Reversible Exchange of Biochemical Ligands. *Adv. Mater.* **2014**, *26*, 2521–2526.

(445) Shih, H.; Lin, C.-C. Visible-Light-Mediated Thiol-Ene Hydrogelation Using Eosin-Y as the Only Photoinitiator. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.* **2013**, *34*, 269–273.

(446) McCue, A. C.; Moreau, W. M.; Shell, T. A. Visible Light-Induced Radical Mediated DNA Damage. *Photochem. Photobiol.* **2018**, *94*, 545–551.

(447) O'Brien, A. K.; Cramer, N. B.; Bowman, C. N. Oxygen Inhibition in Thiol–Acrylate Photopolymerizations. J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem. 2006, 44, 2007–2014.

(448) van Geel, R.; Pruijn, G. J. M.; van Delft, F. L.; Boelens, W. C. Preventing Thiol-Yne Addition Improves the Specificity of Strain-Promoted Azide–Alkyne Cycloaddition. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2012**, *23*, 392–398.

(449) Daniele, M. A.; Adams, A. A.; Naciri, J.; North, S. H.; Ligler, F. S. Interpenetrating Networks Based on Gelatin Methacrylamide and PEG Formed Using Concurrent Thiol Click Chemistries for Hydrogel Tissue Engineering Scaffolds. *Biomaterials* **2014**, *35*, 1845–1856.

(450) Costa, P.; Gautrot, J. E.; Connelly, J. T. Directing Cell Migration Using Micropatterned and Dynamically Adhesive Polymer Brushes. *Acta Biomater.* **2014**, *10*, 2415–2422.

(451) Pedron, S.; Pritchard, A. M.; Vincil, G. A.; Andrade, B.; Zimmerman, S. C.; Harley, B. A. C. Patterning Three-Dimensional Hydrogel Microenvironments Using Hyperbranched Polyglycerols for Independent Control of Mesh Size and Stiffness. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 1393–1400.

(452) Klán, P.; Šolomek, T.; Bochet, C. G.; Blanc, A.; Givens, R.; Rubina, M.; Popik, V.; Kostikov, A.; Wirz, J. Photoremovable Protecting Groups in Chemistry and Biology: Reaction Mechanisms and Efficancy. *Chem. Rev.* **2013**, *113*, 119–191.

(453) Hansen, M. J.; Velema, W. A.; Lerch, M. M.; Szymanski, W.; Feringa, B. L. Wavelength-Selective Cleavage of Photoprotecting Groups: Strategies and Applications in Dynamic Systems. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2015**, *44*, 3358–3377.

(454) Tam, R. Y.; Smith, L. J.; Shoichet, M. S. Engineering Cellular Microenvironments with Photo- and Enzymatically Responsive Hydrogels: Toward Biomimetic 3D Cell Culture Models. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2017**, *50*, 703–713.

(455) Luo, Y.; Shoichet, M. S. A Photolabile Hydrogel for Guided Three-Dimensional Cell Growth and Migration. *Nat. Mater.* **2004**, *3*, 249–253.

(456) Musoke-Zawedde, P.; Shoichet, M. S. Anisotropic Three-Dimensional Peptide Channels Guide Neurite Outgrowth within a Biodegradable Hydrogel Matrix. *Biomed. Mater.* **2006**, *1*, 162–169.

(457) Furuta, T.; Wang, S. S.-H.; Dantzker, J. L.; Dore, T. M.; Bybee, W. J.; Callaway, E. M.; Denk, W.; Tsien, R. Y. Brominated 7-Hydroxycoumarin-4-Ylmethyls: Photolabile Protecting Groups with Biologically Useful Cross-Sections for Two Photon Photolysis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1999**, *96*, 1193–1200.

(458) Wosnick, J. H.; Shoichet, M. S. Three-Dimensional Chemical Patterning of Transparent Hydrogels. *Chem. Mater.* **2008**, *20*, 55–60.

(459) Rahman, N.; Purpura, K. A.; Wylie, R. G.; Zandstra, P. W.; Shoichet, M. S. The Use of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Functionalized Agarose to Guide Pluripotent Stem Cell Aggregates toward Blood Progenitor Cells. *Biomaterials* **2010**, *31*, 8262–8270.

(460) Mahmoodi, M. M.; Fisher, S. A.; Tam, R. Y.; Goff, P. C.; Anderson, R. B.; Wissinger, J. E.; Blank, D. a.; Shoichet, M. S.; Distefano, M. D. 6-Bromo-7-Hydroxy-3-Methylcoumarin (MBhc) Is an Efficient Multi-Photon Labile Protecting Group for Thiol Caging and Three-Dimensional Chemical Patterning. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2016**, *14*, 8289–8300.

(461) Mosiewicz, K. A.; Kolb, L.; van der Vlies, A. J.; Martino, M. M.; Lienemann, P. S.; Hubbell, J. a.; Ehrbar, M.; Lutolf, M. P. In Situ Cell Manipulation through Enzymatic Hydrogel Photopatterning. *Nat. Mater.* **2013**, *12*, 1072–1078.

(462) Farahani, P. E.; Adelmund, S. M.; Shadish, J. A.; DeForest, C. A. Photomediated Oxime Ligation as a Bioorthogonal Tool for

Spatiotemporally-Controlled Hydrogel Formation and Modification. J. Mater. Chem. B 2017, 5, 4435–4442.

(463) Wylie, R. G.; Ahsan, S.; Aizawa, Y.; Maxwell, K. L.; Morshead, C. M.; Shoichet, M. S. Spatially Controlled Simultaneous Patterning of Multiple Growth Factors in Three-Dimensional Hydrogels. *Nat. Mater.* **2011**, *10*, 799–806.

(464) Smith, E.; Collins, I. Photoaffinity Labeling in Target- and Binding-Site Identification. *Future Med. Chem.* **2015**, *7*, 159–183.

(465) Clémence, J.-F.; Ranieri, J. P.; Aebischer, P.; Sigrist, H. Photoimmobilization of a Bioactive Laminin Fragment and Pattern-Guided Selective Neuronal Cell Attachment. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **1995**, *6*, 411–417.

(466) Li, J.; Ding, M.; Fu, Q.; Tan, H.; Xie, X.; Zhong, Y. A Novel Strategy to Graft RGD Peptide on Biomaterials Surfaces for Endothelization of Small-Diamater Vascular Grafts and Tissue Engineering Blood Vessel. *J. Mater. Sci.: Mater. Med.* **2008**, *19*, 2595–2603.

(467) Malcor, J.-D.; Bax, D.; Hamaia, S. W.; Davidenko, N.; Best, S. M.; Cameron, R. E.; Farndale, R. W.; Bihan, D. The Synthesis and Coupling of Photoreactive Collagen-Based Peptides to Restore Integrin Reactivity to an Inert Substrate, Chemically-Crosslinked Collagen. *Biomaterials* **2016**, *85*, 65–77.

(468) Poloukhtine, A. A.; Mbua, N. E.; Wolfert, M. A.; Boons, G.-J.; Popik, V. V. Selective Labeling of Living Cells by a Photo-Triggered Click Reaction. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2009**, 131, 15769–15776.

(469) Orski, S. V.; Poloukhtine, A. A.; Arumugam, S.; Mao, L.; Popik, V. V.; Locklin, J. High Density Orthogonal Surface Immobilization via Photoactivated Copper-Free Click Chemistry. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2010**, 132, 11024–11026.

(470) Bjerknes, M.; Cheng, H.; McNitt, C. D.; Popik, V. V. Facile Quenching and Spatial Patterning of Cylooctynes via Strain-Promoted Alkyne–azide Cycloaddition of Inorganic Azides. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2017**, *28*, 1560–1565.

(471) McNitt, C. D.; Cheng, H.; Ullrich, S.; Popik, V. V.; Bjerknes, M. Multiphoton Activation of Photo-Strain-Promoted Azide Alkyne Cycloaddition "Click" Reagents Enables in Situ Labeling with Submicrometer Resolution. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2017**, *139*, 14029–14032.

(472) Song, W.; Wang, Y.; Qu, J.; Madden, M. M.; Lin, Q. A Photoinducible 1,3-Dipolar Cycloaddition Reaction for Rapid, Selective Modification of Tetrazole-Containing Proteins. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2008**, 47, 2832–2835.

(473) Li, Z.; Qian, L.; Li, L.; Bernhammer, J. C.; Huynh, H. V.; Lee, J. S.; Yao, S. Q. Tetrazole Photoclick Chemistry: Reinvestigating Its Suitability as a Bioorthogonal Reaction and Potential Applications. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55*, 2002–2006.

(474) Feng, W.; Li, L.; Yang, C.; Welle, A.; Trapp, O.; Levkin, P. A. UV-Induced Tetrazole-Thiol Reaction for Polymer Conjugation and Surface Functionalization. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2015**, *54*, 8732–8735.

(475) Truong, V. X.; Tsang, K. M.; Ercole, F.; Forsythe, J. S. Red Light Activation of Tetrazine–Norbornene Conjugation for Bioorthogonal Polymer Cross-Linking across Tissue. *Chem. Mater.* **2017**, *29*, 3678–3685.

(476) Perkins, J. R.; Diboun, I.; Dessailly, B. H.; Lees, J. G.; Orengo, C. Transient Protein-Protein Interactions: Structural, Functional, and Network Properties. *Structure* **2010**, *18*, 1233–1243.

(477) Behnam, K.; Phillips, M. L.; Prado Silva, J. D.; Brochmann, E. J.; Leite Duarte, M. E.; Murray, S. S. BMP Binding Peptide: A BMP-2 Enhancing Factor Deduced from the Sequence of Native Bovine Bone Morphogenetic Protein/Non-Collagenous Protein. *J. Orthop. Res.* **2005**, 23, 175–180.

(478) Lee, S. S.; Hsu, E. L.; Mendoza, M.; Ghodasra, J.; Nickoli, M. S.; Ashtekar, A.; Polavarapu, M.; Babu, J.; Riaz, R. M.; Nicolas, J. D.; et al. Gel Scaffolds of BMP-2-Binding Peptide Amphiphile Nanofibers for Spinal Arthrodesis. *Adv. Healthcare Mater.* **2015**, *4*, 131–141.

(479) Potty, A. S. R.; Kourentzi, K.; Fang, H.; Jackson, G. W.; Zhang, X.; Legge, G. B.; Willson, R. C. Biophysical Characterization Factor. Biopolymers 2009, 91, 145–156. (480) Chang, C.-C.; Wei, S.-C.; Wu, T.-H.; Lee, C.-H.; Lin, C.-W. Aptamer-Based Colorimetric Detection of Platelet-Derived Growth Factor Using Unmodified Goldnanoparticles. Biosens. Bioelectron. 2013, 42, 119–123.

(481) Wang, D.-L.; Song, Y.-L.; Zhu, Z.; Li, X.-L.; Zou, Y.; Yang, H.-T.; Wang, J.-J.; Yao, P.-S.; Pan, R.-J.; Yang, C. J.; et al. Selection of DNA Aptamers against Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor with High Affinity and Specificity. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2014**, 453, 681–685.

(482) Battig, M. R.; Soontornworajit, B.; Wang, Y. Programmable Release of Multiple Protein Drugs from Aptamer-Functionalized Hydrogels via Nucleic Acid Hybridization. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2012**, *134*, 12410–12413.

(483) Ueki, R.; Atsuta, S.; Ueki, A.; Sando, S. Nongenetic Reprogramming of the Ligand Specificity of Growth Factor Receptors by Bispecific DNA Aptamers. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2017**, *139*, 6554–6557.

(484) Pan, G.; Guo, Q.; Ma, Y.; Yang, H.; Li, B. Thermo-Responsive Hydrogel Layers Imprinted with RGDS Peptide: A System for Harvesting Cell Sheets. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 6907–6911.

(485) Chen, L.; Wang, X.; Lu, W.; Wu, X.; Li, J. Molecular Imprinting: Perspectives and Applications. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2016**, *45*, 2137–2211.

(486) Pan, G.; Shinde, S.; Yeung, S. Y.; Jakštaitė, M.; Li, Q.; Wingren, A. G.; Sellergren, B. An Epitope-Imprinted Biointerface with Dynamic Bioactivity for Modulating Cell–Biomaterial Interactions. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2017**, *56*, 15959–15963.

(487) Sakiyama-Elbert, S. E. Incorporation of Heparin into Biomaterials. *Acta Biomater.* **2014**, *10*, 1581–1587.

(488) Liang, Y.; Kiick, K. L. Heparin-Functionalized Polymeric Biomaterials in Tissue Engineering and Drug Delivery Applications. *Acta Biomater.* **2014**, *10*, 1588–1600.

(489) Tang, W.; Policastro, G. M.; Hua, G.; Guo, K.; Zhou, J.; Wesdemiotis, C.; Doll, G. L.; Becker, M. L. Bioactive Surface Modification of Metal Oxides via Catechol-Bearing Modular Peptides: Multivalent-Binding, Surface Retention, and Peptide Bioactivity. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2014**, 136, 16357–16367.

(490) Xu, Y.; Luong, D.; Walker, J. M.; Dean, D.; Becker, M. L. Modification of Poly(Propylene Fumarate)-Bioglass Composites with Peptide Conjugates to Enhance Bioactivity. *Biomacromolecules* **2017**, *18*, 3168–3177.

(491) Pan, G.; Sun, S.; Zhang, W.; Zhao, R.; Cui, W.; He, F.; Huang, L.; Lee, S. H.; Shea, K. J.; Shi, Q.; Yang, H.; et al. Biomimetic Design of Mussel-Derived Bioactive Peptides for Dual-Functionalization of Titanium-Based Biomaterials. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 15078–15086.

(492) Stephanopoulos, N.; Ortony, J. H.; Stupp, S. I. Self-Assembly for the Synthesis of Functional Biomaterials. *Acta Mater.* **2013**, *61*, 912–930.

(493) Rad-Malekshahi, M.; Lempsink, L.; Amidi, M.; Hennink, W. E.; Mastrobattista, E. Biomedical Applications of Self-Assembling Peptides. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2016**, *27*, 3–18.

(494) Acar, H.; Srivastava, S.; Chung, E. J.; Schnorenberg, M. R.; Barrett, J. C.; LaBelle, J. L.; Tirrell, M. Self-Assembling Peptide-Based Building Blocks in Medical Applications. *Adv. Drug Delivery Rev.* **2017**, *110–111*, 65–79.

(495) Pugliese, R.; Gelain, F. Peptidic Biomaterials: From Self-Assembling to Regenerative Medicine. *Trends Biotechnol.* 2017, 35, 145–158.

(496) Silva, G. A.; Czeisler, C.; Niece, K. L.; Beniash, E.; Harrington, D. A.; Kessler, J. A.; Stupp, S. I. Selective Differentiation of Neural Progenitor Cells by High – Epitope Density Nanofibers. *Science* **2004**, 303, 1352–1355.

(497) Webber, M. J.; Tongers, J.; Newcomb, C. J.; Marquardt, K.-T.; Bauersachs, J.; Losordo, D. W.; Stupp, S. I. Correction for Webber et Al., Supramolecular Nanostructures That Mimic VEGF as a Strategy for Ischemic Tissue Repair. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 2011, 108, 13438–13443.

(498) Restuccia, A.; Tian, Y. F.; Collier, J. H.; Hudalla, G. A. Self-Assembled Glycopeptide Nanofibers as Modulators of Galectin-1 Bioactivity. *Cell. Mol. Bioeng.* **2015**, *8*, 471–487.

(499) Lee, S. S.; Fyrner, T.; Chen, F.; Álvarez, Z.; Sleep, E.; Chun, D. S.; Weiner, J. A.; Cook, R. W.; Freshman, R. D.; Schallmo, M. S.; et al. Sulfated Glycopeptide Nanostructures for Multipotent Protein Activation. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2017**, *12*, 821–829.

(500) Ustun Yaylaci, S.; Sardan Ekiz, M.; Arslan, E.; Can, N.; Kilic, E.; Ozkan, H.; Orujalipoor, I.; Ide, S.; Tekinay, A. B.; Guler, M. O. Supramolecular GAG-like Self-Assembled Glycopeptide Nanofibers Induce Chondrogenesis and Cartilage Regeneration. *Biomacromolecules* **2016**, *17*, 679–689.

(501) Yasa, O.; Uysal, O.; Ekiz, M. S.; Guler, M. O.; Tekinay, A. B. Presentation of Functional Groups on Self-Assembled Supramolecular Peptide Nanofibers Mimicking Glycosaminoglycans for Directed Mesenchymal Stem Cell Differentiation. *J. Mater. Chem. B* **2017**, *5*, 4890–4900.

(502) Hudalla, G. A.; Sun, T.; Gasiorowski, J. Z.; Han, H.; Tian, Y. F.; Chong, A. S.; Collier, J. H. Gradated Assembly of Multiple Proteins into Supramolecular Nanomaterials. *Nat. Mater.* **2014**, *13*, 829–836.

(503) Goktas, M.; Cinar, G.; Orujalipoor, I.; Ide, S.; Tekinay, A. B.; Guler, M. O. Self-Assembled Peptide Amphiphile Nanofibers and PEG Composite Hydrogels as Tunable ECM Mimetic Microenvironment. *Biomacromolecules* **2015**, *16*, 1247–1258.

(504) Borges, J.; Sousa, M. P.; Cinar, G.; Caridade, S. G.; Guler, M. O.; Mano, J. F. Nanoengineering Hybrid Supramolecular Multilayered Biomaterials Using Polysaccharides and Self-Assembling Peptide Amphiphiles. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2017**, *27*, 1605122.

(505) Mizuguchi, Y.; Mashimo, Y.; Mie, M.; Kobatake, E. Design of BFGF-Tethered Self-Assembling Extracellular Matrix Proteins via Coiled-Coil Triple- Helix Formation. *Biomed. Mater.* **2017**, *12*, 045021.

(506) Boekhoven, J.; Rubertpérez, C. M.; Sur, S.; Worthy, A.; Stupp, S. I. Dynamic Display of Bioactivity through Host-Guest Chemistry. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 12077–12080.

(507) Cabanas-Danés, J.; Rodrigues, E. D.; Landman, E.; van Weerd, J.; van Blitterswijk, C.; Verrips, T.; Huskens, J.; Karperien, M.; Jonkheijm, P. A Supramolecular Host-Guest Carrier System for Growth Factors Employing VHH Fragments. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2014, 136, 12675–12681.

(508) Hynd, M. R.; Frampton, J. P.; Dowell-Mesfin, N.; Turner, J. N.; Shain, W. Directed Cell Growth on Protein-Functionalized Hydrogel Surfaces. *J. Neurosci. Methods* **2007**, *162*, 255–263.

(509) Lambert, C. R.; Nijsure, D.; Huynh, V.; Wylie, R. G. Hydrogels with Reversible Chemical Environments for in Vitro Cell Culture. *Biomed. Mater.* **2018**, *13*, 045002.

(510) Beria, L.; Gevrek, T. N.; Erdog, A.; Sanyal, R.; Pasini, D.; Sanyal, A. Clickable" Hydrogels for All: Facile Fabrication and Functionalization. *Biomater. Sci.* **2014**, *2*, 67–75.

(511) Matsumoto, T.; Isogawa, Y.; Tanaka, T.; Kondo, A. Streptavidin-Hydrogel Prepared by Sortase A-Assisted Click Chemistry for Enzyme Immobilization on an Electrode. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* **2018**, *99*, 56–61.

(512) Thompson, M. S.; Tsurkan, M. V.; Chwalek, K.; Bornhauser, M.; Schlierf, M.; Werner, C.; Zhang, Y. Self-Assembling Hydrogels Crosslinked Solely by Receptor-Ligand Interactions: Tunability, Rationalization of Physical Properties, and 3D Cell Culture. *Chem.* - *Eur. J.* **2015**, *21*, 3178–3182.

(513) Igwe, J. C.; Mikael, P. E.; Nukavarapu, S. P. Design, Fabrication and in Vitro Evaluation of a Novel Polymer-Hydrogel Hybrid Scaffold for Bone Tissue Engineering. *J. Tissue Eng. Regener. Med.* **2014**, *8*, 131–142.

(514) Cronan, J. E., Jr. Biotination of Proteins in Vivo. J. Biol. Chem. 1990, 265, 10327–10333. (515) Beckett, D.; Kovaleva, E.; Schatz, P. J. A Minimal Peptide Substrate in Biotin Holoenzyme Synthetase-Catalyzed Biotinylation. *Protein Sci.* **1999**, *8*, 921–929.

(516) Tirat, A.; Freuler, F.; Stettler, T.; Mayr, L. M.; Leder, L. Evaluation of Two Novel Tag-Based Labelling Technologies for Site-Specific Modification of Proteins. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2006**, *39*, 66–76.

(517) Leipzig, N. D.; Wylie, R. G.; Kim, H.; Shoichet, M. S. Differentiation of Neural Stem Cells in Three-Dimensional Growth Factor-Immobilized Chitosan Hydrogel Scaffolds. *Biomaterials* **2011**, *32*, 57–64.

(518) Tam, R. Y.; Cooke, M. J.; Shoichet, M. S. A Covalently Modified Hydrogel Blend of Hyaluronan-Methyl Cellulose with Peptides and Growth Factors Influences Neural Stem/Progenitor Cell Fate. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2012**, *22*, 19402–19411.

(519) Li, H.; Koenig, A. M.; Sloan, P.; Leipzig, N. D. In Vivo Assessment of Guided Neural Stem Cell Differentiation in Growth Factor Immobilized Chitosan-Based Hydrogel Scaffolds. *Biomaterials* **2014**, *35*, 9049–9057.

(520) Hirsch, J. D.; Eslamizar, L.; Filanoski, B. J.; Malekzadeh, N.; Haugland, R. P.; Beechem, J. M.; Haugland, R. P. Easily Reversible Desthiobiotin Binding to Streptavidin, Avidin, and Other Biotin-Binding Proteins: Uses for Protein Labeling, Detection, and Isolation. *Anal. Biochem.* **2002**, *308*, 343–357.

(521) Wu, S.-C.; Wong, S.-L. Development of an Enzymatic Method for Site-Specific Incorporation of Desthiobiotin to Recombinant Proteins in Vitro. *Anal. Biochem.* **2004**, *331*, 340–348.

(522) Li, X.; Kuang, Y.; Lin, H. C.; Gao, Y.; Shi, J.; Xu, B. Supramolecular Nanofibers and Hydrogels of Nucleopeptides. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2011**, *50*, 9365–9369.

(523) Joshi, R.; Jha, D.; Su, W.; Engelmann, J. Facile Synthesis of Peptide Nucleic Acids and Peptide Nucleic Acid-Peptide Conjugates on an Automated Peptide Synthesizer. *J. Pept. Sci.* **2011**, *17*, 8–13.

(524) Guler, M. O.; Pokorski, J. K.; Appella, D. H.; Stupp, S. I. Enhanced Oligonucleotide Binding to Self-Assembled Nanofibers. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2005**, *16*, 501–503.

(525) Chu, T. W.; Feng, J.; Yang, J.; Kopeček, J. Hybrid Polymeric Hydrogels via Peptide Nucleic Acid (PNA)/DNA Complexation. J. Controlled Release 2015, 220, 608–616.

(526) Berger, O.; Adler-Abramovich, L.; Levy-Sakin, M.; Grunwald, A.; Liebes-Peer, Y.; Bachar, M.; Buzhansky, L.; Mossou, E.; Forsyth, V. T.; Schwartz, T.; et al. Light-Emitting Self-Assembled Peptide Nucleic Acids Exhibit Both Stacking Interactions and Watson-Crick Base Pairing. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2015**, *10*, 353–360.

(527) James, C. R.; Rush, A. M.; Insley, T.; Vuković, L.; Adamiak, L.; Král, P.; Gianneschi, N. C. Poly(Oligonucleotide). *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2014**, *136*, 11216–11219.

(528) Liu, L.-H.; Li, Z.-Y.; Rong, L.; Qin, S.-Y.; Lei, Q.; Cheng, H.; Zhou, X.; Zhuo, R.-X.; Zhang, X.-Z. Self-Assembly of Hybridized Peptide Nucleic Acid Amphiphiles. *ACS Macro Lett.* **2014**, *3*, 467– 471.

(529) Chalker, J. M.; Bernardes, J. L.; Davis, B. G. A "Tag-and-Modify" Approach to Site-Selective Protein Modification. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2011**, *44*, 730–741.

(530) Behrendt, R.; White, P.; Offer, J. Advances in Fmoc Solid-Phase Peptide Synthesis. J. Pept. Sci. 2016, 22, 4–27.

(531) Trads, J. B.; Tørring, T.; Gothelf, K. V. Site-Selective Conjugation of Native Proteins with DNA. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2017**, *50*, 1367–1374.

(532) Oyelaran, O.; Gildersleeve, J. C. Glycan Arrays: Recent Advances and Future Challenges. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 2009, 13, 406–413.

(533) Rosen, C. B.; Francis, M. B. Targeting the N Terminus for Site-Selective Protein Modification. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **2017**, *13*, 697–705.

(534) van Hest, J. C. M.; Tirrell, D. A. Efficient Introduction of Alkene Functionality into Proteins in Vivo. *FEBS Lett.* **1998**, 428, 68–70.

(535) Kiick, K. L.; Tirrell, D. A. Protein Engineering by In Vivo Incorporation of Non-Natural Amino Acids: Control of Incorporation of Methionine Analogues by Methionyl-TRNA Synthetase. *Tetrahedron* **2000**, *56*, 9487–9493.

(536) Kiick, K. L.; Weberskirch, R.; Tirrell, D. A. Identification of an Expanded Set of Translationally Active Methionine Analogues in Escherichia Coli. *FEBS Lett.* **2001**, *502*, 25–30.

(537) Kiick, K. L.; Saxon, E.; Tirrell, D. A.; Bertozzi, C. R. Incorporation of Azides into Recombinant Proteins for Chemoselective Modification by the Staudinger Ligation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2002**, *99*, 19–24.

(538) Prescher, J. A.; Dube, D. H.; Bertozzi, C. R. Chemical Remodelling of Cell Surfaces in Living Animals. *Nature* **2004**, *430*, 873–877.

(539) Laughlin, S. T.; Bertozzi, C. R. Metabolic Labeling of Glycans with Azido Sugars and Subsequent Glycan-Profiling and Visualization via Staudinger Ligation. *Nat. Protoc.* **2007**, *2*, 2930–2944.

(540) Iwasaki, Y.; Matsunaga, A.; Fujii, S. Preparation of Biointeractive Glycoprotein-Conjugated Hydrogels through Metabolic Oligosacchalide Engineering. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2014**, *25*, 1626– 1631.

(541) Wang, L.; Brock, A.; Herberich, B.; Schultz, P. G. Expanding the Genetic Code of Escherichia Coli. *Science* **2001**, *292*, 498–500.

(542) Chin, J. W. Expanding and Reprogramming the Genetic Code. *Nature* **2017**, *550*, 53–60.

(543) Lajoie, M. J.; Söll, D.; Church, G. M. Overcoming Challenges in Engineering the Genetic Code. J. Mol. Biol. **2016**, 428, 1004–1021.

(544) Mukai, T.; Lajoie, M. J.; Englert, M.; Söll, D. Rewriting the Genetic Code. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 2017, 71, 557–577.

(545) Lin, X.; Yu, A. C. S.; Chan, T. F. Efforts and Challenges in Engineering the Genetic Code. *Life* **2017**, *7*, 12.

(546) Beck, A.; Goetsch, L.; Dumontet, C.; Corvaïa, N. Strategies and Challenges for the next Generation of Antibody-drug Conjugates. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discovery* **2017**, *16*, 315–337.

(547) Hartgerink, J. D.; Beniash, E.; Stupp, S. I. Self-Assembly and Mineralization of Peptide-Amphiphile Nanofibers. *Science* 2001, 294, 1684–1688.